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PREFACE
THIS History—an abridgement of a larger work written for

official reference—is a record compiled from British archives.

In order to avoid the distortion of ‘after-knowledge’ I have
limited myself generally to these archives, that is to say, I have not
introduced information about Allied or enemy policy which is now
available but was unknown at the time to British ministers or
officials. On the other hand I have had the advantage of shewing
my manuscript to many of the writers of the documents which I
have used, and I am most grateful to them for their comments. I
cannot thank by name all who have assisted me in finding and
assembling material or in checking my text, but I should like to
mention, in particular, the late Mr. A. B. Acheson, of the Historical
Section of the Cabinet Office, and Mr. C. H. Fone, of the Foreign
Office Library, and also to say how great a debt I owe to Miss A. W.
Orde for most valuable help in the final stages of writing.

It would be absurd, and graceless, if I did not say how much I
have learned from Sir Winston Churchill’s own account of his
Administration. Sir Winston, on the principle quia nominor leo, has
rightly allowed himself a personal approach and a freedom of
comment from which an official historian is debarred. The six volumes
of The Second World War cover the main issues of diplomacy—and
especially of Anglo-American relations—as well as of battle. A student
following only one aspect of war activity through the maze of docu-
ments in the archives, finds himself again and again admiring the
political insight, fairmindedness, and not least the generosity which
Sir Winston Churchill has brought to the story as a whole.

I have kept as close as possible to the wording of the documents
in the archives, though inevitably I have had to do a great deal
of compression. From the point of view of historical composition
this kind of large-scale précis work has its difficulties. The use of
oratio obliqua soon becomes wearisome and the clichés of diplomacy
are as unattractive as any other form of circumlocution. Hence I
have gladly followed the informality of many documents in using
the words ‘we’ and ‘us’ rather than the official designation ‘His
Majesty’s Government in the United Kingdom’. I have also written
that ‘the Foreign Office’ ‘thought’, ‘proposed’, ‘disagreed’ and the
like. Such terms may not stand up to exact analysis, but everyone
knows what they mean.

LLEWELLYN WOODWARD
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INTRODUCTION

HE prime function of the Foreign Office and the British

Missions abroad—collectively, in their modern organisation,

the Foreign Service—is to advise the Secretary of State for
Foreign Affairs and to carry out his instructions on matters affecting
the relations between Great Britain and other countries, and to act
as a channel of communication and report between the Governments
of those countries and that of the United Kingdom. The Foreign
Secretary is not a senior official among other officials. As a Minister
of the Crown he ‘represents in his own person the powers of the
Parliamentary majority of the day in the domain of foreign affairs’.1
Within his Department he carries out his work by methods different
in many respects from those of his predecessors even sixty years ago.
During the nineteenth century the Department did not lack per-
manent officials of high ability who exercised a very considerable
influence on the determination of policy. The staff in general, how-
ever, had little more than routine duties.? To-day the permanent
officials are a large body of expert advisers, and the arrangement of
business ensures the presentation of their advice in a convenient and
expeditious form.

It would be a mistake to regard these changes as ‘depersonalising’
the Secretary of State or putting him, as it were, into committee.
The Secretary of State has lost none of his overriding responsibility.
He need not and often does not follow the advice of his experts. He
has the final word in every decision within the Department as well
as the task of convincing his colleagues in the Cabinet, and a
majority in Parliament, of the rightness of his policy. He must there-
fore be a master of the art of choosing priorities, and must trust his
advisers to deal with many subjects on lines to which he has given
broad approval. He is, incidentally, much handicapped if he is not
a rapid reader of papers, but a great deal of his work is done orally,
and the record of it may be found only in an outgoing despatch or

! Lord Strang, The Foreign Office (London, 1955), p. 152. This book gives an excellent
description of the working of the Foreign Office, and of the Foreign Service as a whole.

2 The staff was small by modern standards. As late as 1914 the Foreign Office employed
only 176 people, including doorkeepers, cleaners, etc. The membership of the Diplomatic
and Consular Services was just under 450, of whom about a third were “career” diplomats.
In 1953-4 there were over 2600 members of the Foreign Service above the “messengerial
grades”. Strang, id., pp. 30 and 56-7.
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telegram. A historian should thus be on guard against losing sight of
the central fact of ministerial responsibility in the mass of depart-
mental material which gathers round almost every question. It is,
for example, a good rule to remember that the most lavishly docu-
mented subjects are not always the most important, and that the few
verbal changes suggested by the Secretary of State in a draft
submitted to him may be the most important words in the
document.

With this caution one may notice also that the sphere of activities
of the Department has widened in the course of time. The services
of the experts may be sought outside their own technical field of
diplomacy. During the war the Foreign Office and the Missions
abroad were used not only to carry out negotiations with Allied
and neutral States (neutrality, once a plain term, like black or
white, had acquired all manner of subtle shades). They were con-
sulted about the probable political consequences of military action
or of moves in what was known as ‘economic warfare’. They were
also asked to consider, and in some cases, to correct the unfore-
seen results of decisions taken by other Departments. Thus in the
winter of 1939—40 one such decision cut off the import of American
apples in order to save dollars, and another decision announced a
large-scale purchase of tobacco from south-east Europe. American
fruit producers objected to the first of these measures, and American
tobacco producers to the second of them. The Department of State
in Washington pointed out to the British Ambassador the political
importance of the complaints, and the Foreign Office had to measure
against the risk of over-spending dollars on ‘non-essentials’ the risk
of alienating important sections of American opinion in the year of a
Presidential election. In 1944 Mr. Hull’s objection on political
grounds to the conclusion of a long-term meat contract between the
Ministry of Food and the semi-fascist Argentine Government became
a subject of serious controversy involving not only the Foreign Office
and the State Department but the Prime Minister, President
Roosevelt, and the War Cabinet.

The papers in the Foreign Office archives thus provide a mass of
material covering the history of particular questions for a limited
time, that is to say, for the period in which such questions were the
subject of negotiation between Government and Government, and
played a direct and immediate part in the formulation of high policy.
In order to give advice or warning, and in order to negotiate at the
highest level over matters such as meat or wolfram, the Foreign
Office and the Missions abroad had to know the intentions of other
Departments. This liaison work was carried out in London partly by
interdepartmental committees or by the inclusion of Foreign Office
representatives in the departments concerned. Furthermore, although




THE FOREIGN OFFICE IN WAR-TIME xxi
the Foreign Office might act as a clearing-house! for business of all
kinds, and an Ambassador or Minister abroad, in virtue of his
opportunities of access, might discuss any question with the Govern-
ment to which he was accredited, the ‘foreign’ activities of other
Departments during the war were so manifold and of such import-
ance that they created channels of intercourse of their own, not
merely for their day-to-day transactions, but for the discussion of
large issues of policy. The Ministry of Economic Warfare, with its
own political chief of Cabinet (not War Cabinet) rank, its own
Intelligence service and Foreign Relations division, was more of an
independent kingdom than an outlying satrapy of the Secretary of
State for Foreign Affairs. The Ministry corresponded directly
(through the Foreign Office) with the diplomatic Missions and some-
times had its own representatives attached to them. Nevertheless the
Ambassador himself would take charge of business of high diplomatic
importance, and the Ministry always consulted the Foreign Office
on the political aspects of trade negotiations.2

For a time indeed there was a danger of confusion owing to the
number of organisations in the United States reporting directly
to Departments other than the Foreign Office. In January, 1941,
the activities of these separate bodies (excluding the Ministry of
Economic Warfare) were brought under the immediate control, not
of the Ambassador, but of a British Supply Council in North
America. Mr. Arthur B. Purvis,8 the Chairman of this Council, and,
previously, head of the British Purchasing Commission in the United
States, was in constant personal contact with Mr. Morgenthau, Jr.,
United States Secretary of the Treasury. Sir Frederick Phillips, of
the British Treasury, came to the United States on two special
missions in 1940 to explain and discuss the problems caused by the
rapid exhaustion of British purchasing power in gold and dollars.
These discussions were the background of the Lend-Lease agree-
ments; four years later Lord Keynes, who undertook five different
missions to the United States during the war, went to Washington
to put before the United States Treasury the equally difficult
problems concerned with the ending of Lend-Lease and the first
stages of British economic recovery.

! There were times when—through the British Missions abroad— the Foreign Office in
its capacity as a ‘clearing-house’ was able to take a rapid initiative in matters normally
outside its province. Thus during the German attack on the Low Countries and France in
1940 the Foreign Office began enquiries about the preparation and co-ordination of
measures to secure, if possible, the withdrawal from enemy hands of valuable machinery
and industrial products.

* The actual working of the machinery of blockade (navicerts, etc.) in foreign ports
was in the hands of the Consular Service. For a full treatment of these war trade negotia-
tions see W. M. Medlicott, The Economic Blockade (History of the Second World War.
U.K. Civil Series), 2 vols. (hereinafter referred to as ‘Medlicott’).

# Mr. Purvis, a Scots-Canadian industralist, was killed in an air accident in July, 1941.
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Anglo-American economic negotations—for example, those con-
nected with shipping—were, indeed, never out of the range of the
Foreign Office.! Mr. Morgenthau asked through the British Ambass-
ador in Washington and the United States Ambassador in London
for the first of Sir Frederick Phillips’ two missions in 1940; early in
July, 1940, the Foreign Office transmitted to the State Department
a warning on the seriousness of the dollar position, and in October,
1940, the British Ambassador suggested the second series of talks.
When, in the summer of 1941, there was a strong current of criticism
in the United States that Lend-Lease materials were being used for
the benefit of British exports, the American complaints came to the
Foreign Office through the British Ambassador, and the under-
takings given by the British Government to meet the complaints
were transmitted through the same channel. Lord Halifax took part
in the critical financial discussions of 1944 just as Lord Lothian had
been concerned with those of 1940.

The history of the Anglo-American conversations in 19442 over
oil reserves is another example of the practical, if untidy way in
which large questions of policy fell partly within and partly outside
the sphere of the Foreign Office. On the technical side, the Foreign
Office could not do more than ‘observe’ negotiations about oil
reserves. On the political side, they intervened to advise the War
Cabinet upon the importance of meeting as fully and as quickly as
possible American demands which seemed at first untimely and un-
reasonable. They had also to put the political aspects of the British
case to the State Department. Thus, when in February, 1944, President
Roosevelt proposed abruptly thata joint committee of representatives
of Cabinet rank should meet in Washington to draw up an oil agree-
ment, Lord Halifax protested to the State Department that the British
Governmentshould not be asked to accept a unilateral decision of this
kind3, and that it was impossible, in view of the nearness of the cross-
Channel invasion, to send Cabinet Ministers to Washington.

Early in the summer of 1941 the War Cabinet introduced a new
form of devolution by appointing a Minister of State, of Cabinet
rank, to act as adviser on political questions to the Commander-in-
Chief in the Middle East.* The duties of this Resident Minister

1 There were also Allied Conferences on post-war economic questions, e.g., at Bretton
Woods on international financial arrangements and at Hot Springs on food supplies,
outside the technical competence of the Foreign Office. Here again, however, much

preliminary discussion took place through diplomatic channels, and the Foreign Office
was keptinformed of the proceedings and consulted about the political aspect of any decisions.

2 See below, Chapter XXI, section (iii).

3 i.e. about the ‘level’ at which the conversations were to be held.

4 The term ‘Middle East’ was used by the military authorities and the War Cabinet, and
therefore accepted by the Foreign Office, to cover an area extending from Malta to the Persian
Gulf. The area in question was larger than the whole of the two areas previously known as the
Near East and the Middle East. It can be argued that, especially before the summer of
1941, this ‘amalgamation’ of at least two distinct regions was not altogether fortunate.
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included the co-ordination of British diplomatic action throughout
the area. The experiment might have led to difficulties. The Minister
of State had powers to act on behalf of the War Cabinet in an
emergency, but he was without departmental duties, and therefore
did not take the place of the Foreign Secretary as the Minister
ultimately responsible to Parliament for the formulation and
execution of policy in the Middle East. The Minister of State in fact
carried out a number of important diplomatic negotiations; thus
Mr. O. Lyttelton, Minister of State in Cairo from July, 1941, to
May, 1942, negotiated an agreement over the Levant States with
General de Gaulle.

The arrangement worked reasonably well in practice.! The
Minister of State was concerned more with matters requiring admini-
strative co-ordination than with political decisions.2 He was therefore
of service to the Foreign Office and other Departments since he could
settle most interdepartmental questions without referring them to
London. His advice on political affairs was considered seriously—
though it was not always taken—because he was better situated than
any of the Heads of Missions to consider questions from the point
of view of the Middle East as a whole.3 The experiment was extended
to other areas. A Minister Resident was sent to the Far East, too
late, however, to be able to do much before the Japanese conquests.
A similar appointment was made for a short time in West Africa.
After the North African landings, Mr. H. Macmillan went as
Minister Resident to Algiers; his sphere of authority was extended
to Italy, and, later, to Greece.

The establishment of a separate and secret organisation dealing
with Resistance Movements was necessary in itself, but awkward at
times from the point of view of the co-ordination of policy. The
Foreign Office had to make representations in the course of 1943 that
the action taken, especially in Greece, in support of communist-
controlled Resistance groups prejudged and indeed was contrary to

1 There was indeed occasional friction because the Ministers reported directly to the
Prime Minister, but their reports generally went through the Foreign Office. They often
corresponded directly with the Foreign Secretary, who replied to them as he would reply
to Ambassadors. The appointment of Foreign Office advisers to the Ministers did much
to avoid confusion.

2 The political quiet of the Middle East (except for the revolt of Rashid Ali) was in
part a legacy of the prestige of British arms in the 1914-18 war, but its maintenance
depended upon a satisfactory solution of difficult economic problems of supply and dis-
tribution. The administrative structure required to meet these problems could not be
provided by the Middle Eastern countries, and was built up by the British authorities
during the year 1941. The developments were largely outside the sphere of the Foreign
Office, though here, as elsewhere, the Foreign Office were concerned with complaints at
a ‘high diplomatic level’ arising out of the functioning of the economic administration.

3 On the other hand certain Heads of Mission with a long experience of the Middle
East, for example, Sir K. Cornwallis at Baghdad, and Sir R. Bullard at Teheran, were,
as the Foreign Office realised, better able to judge the repercussions of policy on Arab
opinion.
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the policy accepted by the War Cabinet and likely to have the most
serious consequences after the war.

Finally, the highest matters of policy, involving the post-war
settlement as well as the immediate conduct of operations, were
discussed continuously by direct exchanges or at meetings between
the Prime Minister and the President of the United States. Mr.
Churchill, with the knowledge of his colleagues in the Cabinet, had
begun sending these messages when he was First Lord of the
Admiralty. Their purpose had been to give the President informa-
tion, and throughout the exchanges Mr. Churchill remained the
more active of the two correspondents. From May, 1940, he sent
over a thousand telegrams to Mr. Roosevelt, and received about
eight hundred, most of them in the form of replies.

At least on the British side, however, this correspondence did not
lead to any serious confusion of policy. After one or two mild
protests from the British Embassy in Washington that the Ambas-
sador, who might himself have to see the President on the questions
at issue, should be given full and early knowledge of these special
telegrams, Mr. Churchill saw to it that the Foreign Office and the
Ambassador were told what he was saying, or at least what he had
said. On important matters within his concern the Secretary of
State was consulted in advance about the text of the messages.! The
Foreign Office recognised the value of this personal approach, and
there were times when the Prime Minister himself thought it wiser
to refuse their suggestions that he should make use of it. Similarly
the Prime Minister consulted the Foreign Office and, obviously, the
War Cabinet over proposals put to him by the President at their
meetings without previous notice.2 On their side the Secretary of
State for Foreign Affairs and his advisers recognised that the Prime
Minister was concerned (as indeed they too were concerned) above
all else, and, if necessary, at all risks, with the defeat of the enemy.
The Foreign Office was often disquieted at the subordination of long-
term British political interests to immediate military considerations.
A subordination of an equally drastic and dangerous kind took place
in economic and financial matters, and had to be accepted as the
price of victory.

Thus, in spite of the development of new machinery and of
parallel agencies, the Foreign Office and the diplomatic Missions
abroad remained the principal instruments for the formulation and
execution of policy and the principal channels of communication
between Government and Government. From the nature of its work,
the first requirements of the Office were that it should be adequately
supplied with information, and able to assess this information in

1 See also below, pp. xxxv-vii.
2 For an exceptional case (the ‘Morgenthau plan’) see below, pp. I-li.
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depth.! An immense mass of material was received, and yet, in spite
of it, or perhaps because of it, the level of interpretation was not
always sufficiently high. Moreover, owing to the increasing amount
of business conducted at a ‘Government to Government’ level, and
to the confusion of world affairs after 1929, the senior members of
the service at home and in many posts abroad had been overworked
for a long time, and had little opportunity to look outside their day-
to-day business. The risk of a superficial approach (though it might
not affect the skill and acuteness with which particular questions
were handled) was greater because members of the service were
transferred at intervals of a few years from country to country or
department to department, and not only for the practical reason
that otherwise promotion would become a haphazard matter; the
foreign service of a country with world-wide interests required that
its members should have more than local knowledge and experience.?
Other defects of the ‘machine’ might have been corrected earlier;
for example, the lack of a special staff or adviser competent to deal
with technical economic questions of an international kind. The
Foreign Office had thus been at a disadvantage during the years
when the problems of German reparation and inter-Allied debts
overshadowed the whole field of international relations. Decisions
on these questions tended to be left to experts in other departments,
or outside them. In such case the political matters on which the
Foreign Office could speak with authority might well be given
insufficient attention.?

In spite of some shortcomings, however, the ‘machine’ worked well

1 The figures of incoming correspondence in 1913 were 68,119, in 1938 238,879 and
in 1944, 402,400. Many of these telegrams or despatches were of a routine character, but
the proportion of important material was greater in 1938 than in 1913. A considerable
amount of time and money was spent before 1914 in reporting the movements even of
minor members of European reigning families.

? It is often said that British diplomats moved among too narrow social circles in the
countries to which they were accredited. There is some truth in this view. It was more
true before 1914 than after 1919. It remained true in some countries for reasons outside
British control. The Soviet Government isolated the Diplomatic Corps from almost all
intercourse with Russians except for the conduct of official business. Even in a parlia-
mentary democracy, however, a diplomat has to remember that his first duty is to
maintain good relations with the Government rather than to cultivate members of the
Opposition. In particular, he must avoid giving cause for suspicion that he is using his
position for purposes of political intrigue. During (and before) the war the Germans did
themselves more harm than good in this matter, for example, throughout Latin America.
M. Maisky allowed himself a freedom of public criticism which would hardly have been
tolerated in the case of other Ambassadors, yet one may doubt whether the political value
to the Russians of their Mission in Great Britain was really enhanced.

3 These facts were neither the sole nor the most important reason for the decline in the
influence of the Foreign Office in the period immediately before 1939. A historian cannot
ignore such a decline, though he would not describe it in terms of an ‘eclipse’, or regard
it as a feature of the actual years of war.
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December 23, 1940, to the resignation of Mr. Churchill’s adminis-
tration in July, 1945, was more of a ‘professional’ Foreign Secretary
than his immediate predecessors in the sense that his parliamentary
and ministerial career had centred mainly round the business of the
Foreign Office. He had learned much—and discarded not a little—
while in office and in opposition to official policy before 1939. One
of his comments on a Foreign Office paper of 1943, ‘Let us be most
prudent never to promise in the future what we cannot perform’,
sums up the sharpest lesson of these earlier years. He was a realist,
and at the same time inclined by temperament to think in terms of
distant consequences and ultimate considerations. The relations,
personal and political, between Mr. Churchill and Mr. Eden were
exceptionally close. Mr. Eden was thus able to balance, and often to
correct Mr. Churchill’s rapid approach and equally rapid conclu-
sions. He was also most fortunate in having Sir Alexander Cadogan
as Permanent Under-Secretary at the Foreign Office. Sir A. Cadogan
had remarkable powers of judgment and lucid expression. His
minutes on paper after paper deal with almost every aspect of foreign
affairs. They stood out at the time, and are likely to stand out in
retrospect, as models of open-mindedness and sound conclusion.
They bear no signs of haste or half-finished reasoning even when the
writer gives a warning that he needs more time for reflection. They
often have a certain irony, never any rancour or prejudice. Only
their modesty is delusive ; the reader of these short notes written (they
are very rarely typed) in a firm, quiet hand may not realise at once
how great a mastery they show.

In general the technique of British policy remained—and was
bound to remain—as it had developed over a long period of time.l
British diplomatic methods were at once cautious and extremely
flexible, informal and highly professionalised ; these habits of caution
and understatement were a part of the tradition of a maritime and
trading community aware of its vulnerability. The wide spread of
British interests throughout the world made it necessary to con-
sider questions of policy from every angle, to show a long patience,
and to accept compromise. Furthermore a cautious policy was
necessary owing to parliamentary control at home and owing to
the ties linking the United Kingdom with the rest of the Common-
wealth. The great Dominions—the term was already outmoded as a
description of these independent, sovereign States—made their own
decisions, and their Governments were responsible solely to their
own electorates, but there was still something which could be
called a Commonwealth foreign policy based upon common or
mutual interests as well as upon sentiment and history. The war-

1 Sir Eyre Crowe’s memorandum of 1907 (British Documents on the Origins of the War,
1898-1914, vol. 111, Appendix A) remains the best short exposition of what might be
called the ‘traditional’ British foreign policy.
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time relations between Great Britain and other members of the
Commonwealth were not merely closer than their respective relations
with other Allies; they were different in kind. Ministers of the
Dominions attended meetings of the War Cabinet; Field-Marshal
Smuts was an Elder Statesman of the whole Commonwealth. The
initiative in the formulation of policy came largely—though not
altogether'—from London, since the King’s Government in the
United Kingdom tended to be more directly informed than the
King’s Governments overseas. For this very reason the Foreign
Office had to take account of the wishes of the Dominions and to
ensure that their Prime Ministers were consulted in matters of
concern to them.2

With the outbreak of war one of the first problems was that of the
co-ordination of policy with France. On the face of things this co-
ordination should have been easy. British and French Ministers were
able to meet within a matter of hours; even in the last confused days
of the battle of France two such meetings were held at the shortest
notice. In September, 1939, a Supreme War Council came into
existence smoothly and without elaborate preparation. In the spring
of 1940, Great Britain and France found little difficulty in signing
a declaration not to conclude a separate peace. Nevertheless the
‘co-ordination of will’ between the two Allies was never complete;
there was an awkward disagreement on September 2, 1939—the
second day of the German attack on Poland— over the co-ordination
of the time-limit of the Anglo-French ultimatum and on this same
day M. Bonnet was ready—while the British Government refused—to
listen to Mussolini’s proposal for a conference without any previous
withdrawal of the invading German troops.3

Until the Germans began their offensive in Norway, Anglo-French
differences were less apparent because the military situation did not
compel, or rather did not seem to require rapid and unified action.
The initiative was open, at least formally, to the Allies, although the
French, in particular, did not realise how dangerously limited was
their field of choice. There was, however, one limiting factor which
each of the two Allied Governments understood. They knew that
they could not open a decisive campaign against Germany in 1939

! The views of the Canadian Government were of special importance over the whole
field of Anglo-American relations.

* The Foreign Office also had to consider the views of the Government of India and to
defend the interests of the Moslem States in the Middle and Far East with the sovereigns
of which Great Britain was in special treaty relationship.

* It may well be argued that one of the mistakes of British propaganda in the early part
of the war was that it made somewhat futile efforts to discredit Hitler with the German
people, but neglected to counter the dangerous German propaganda intended to discredit
the British Government and the British war effort in the eyes of the French people.
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or 1940. In September, 1939, the British Cabinet decided to make
plans on the assumption that the war would go on at least for three
years. The first year could be only one of preparation. Thus it was
possible for the time to evade the question how the war would be
won. An evasion of this kind allowed a certain wishful thinking. On
the British side one may notice over-confidence in the ultimate
efficacy of the blockade as an instrument of victory. On the French
side the tendency to evasion took the form of favouring plans which
would remove the scene of fighting from the borders of France or
redress the balance of numbers to the French advantage. Hence the
French proposals for getting the support of the armies of the Balkan
States, or for cutting off German oil supplies from Roumania and
the U.S.S.R. Hence also the readiness of the French to accept a
plan which would deprive Germany of iron ore supplies not only
from the port of Narvik but from the northern Swedish ore fields
generally.

These plans came to nothing. Fortunately, as it turned out, British
military arguments against becoming involved in war with Russia
over Baku, or attempting a diversion at Salonika prevented steps
which might have made chances of victory almost impossible. The
Scandinavian plans were mishandled, or fumbled, at Cabinet level—
both on the political and the military side. On the political side
the vacillations and delays were due in part perhaps to a deep and
almost subconscious inhibition caused by the hatred of war as such.
In any case the British Government hesitated to regard hitherto
accepted rules of international law as inapplicable to neutral countries
which submitted to illegal pressure from Germany. It was im-
possible at this stage of the war—before the complete foulness of
German behaviour was known—to decide what should be done about
the smaller neutrals from whom Germany was extorting by threats
or open breach of international law military and economic advan-
tages which the Allies denied to themselves by their scruples. The
Allies were fighting for the rule of law and the independence of
small States against German aggression; they did not wish to lower
their own standards. On grounds of expediency they had also to
consider the effect upon neutral opinion generally, and especially
upon American opinion of action against neutral rights. In the last
resort indeed the British Government (and the American) failed to
see that the enemy would leave them no choice in the matter. If
the Germans decided to extend the area of the war, the Allies could
not prevent them from so doing.

After the collapse of France the war took a new form for Great
Britain. Hitherto the fact that the land war was being fought outside
Great Britain created a certain illusion (as in 1914-18) among the
British people of a Continental war to which they were lending their
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assistance. To some extent this illusion—which was not shared in
official circles—had an incidental and surprising result. British
opinion did not envisage the collapse of France as the defeat of
Great Britain. The escape of the British Expeditionary Force from
destruction at Dunkirk was seen, absurdly, but fortunately, almost
as a kind of victory—the extrication of a British army from a cam-
paign which was primarily a French affair. Events showed that this
reaction, less strange, perhaps, when considered in relation to
English history, was neither selfish nor foolishly self-confident. At a
time when the world in general took for granted an Allied and not
only a French defeat, the value of the ‘optical illusion’ cannot be
over-estimated. It provided the foundation for a new and splendid
leadership.

The personal influence of Mr. Churchill was so immense, four-
square and noble that it is unnecessary to try to heighten it by
disparaging his predecessor. Mr. Chamberlain’s words to his
colleagues in the Cabinet on September 1 summed up his own
personality.! His direction of the war and some of his public phrases
showed clumsiness and lack of imagination, but in matters of policy
and strategy he followed conscientiously the expert advice given to
him; his own opinions indeed were shared by most of his advisers.
On the other hand Mr. Churchill’s judgment throughout the
Scandinavian episode was by no means free from fault. Nevertheless
in the changed circumstances of the German victory in France and
the gravest threat to Great Britain, Mr. Churchill’s leadership had
about it something absolute and adamantine; something which had
not been known in English history since the years 1757-1759. Such
power and insight brought a new direction in every branch of the
State. This massive driving force manifested itself at once in the
attempt to save France, and then to deter the two leading French
soldiers as well as a majority of French politicians from the un-
necessary immolation of total surrender.

For the Foreign Office these days of military disaster were crowded
also with other negotiations; an attempt to discover how far the
Soviet Government might change their attitude in view of the dangers
which their policy of the previous twelve months had brought upon
them; last moment efforts to delay Mussolini’s entry into the war;
a sudden menace from Japan; acceptance of the attitude of Turkey
and of Egypt, and—most significant of all—exchanges with the
Government of the United States. Here also the Prime Minister,
stronger in temperament and better informed than the Ambassador
in Washington about the mood of the British nation, took principal
control by means of his direct correspondence with President
Roosevelt. The President indeed was more hopeful than his military

1 See below, p. 1, and note 1.
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advisers—including General Marshall-about the survival of Great
Britain.

A historian, reading the Foreign Office papers of this time, is
struck by the way in which, without minimising the extreme gravity
of the situation, the negotiations undertaken by the Foreign Office
or by the Ambassadors abroad express confidence in ultimate
victory.! In different circumstances Sir P. Loraine at Rome, Sir H.
Knatchbull-Hugessen at Ankara, Sir S. Cripps in Moscow, Sir R.
Craigie in Japan, and Sir S. Hoare in Madrid used similar language.
In Japan there was no practical alternative to a stubborn retreat,
together with a warning that an attack on Great Britain would mean
ultimate disaster to the attacking Power. In the United States the
first task was to recreate confidence that Great Britain was a ‘good
risk’, and therefore worth helping. Even after the first mood of
alarm had passed, American opinion, in the view of the Prime
Minister and the Foreign Office, was too ready to assume that a
German invasion would succeed. Against this background, and,
incidentally, in the ‘pre-election’ circumstances of American politics,
the Foreign Office also had to try to secure American diplomatic
support in restraining Japan and in influencing Marshal Pétain’s
Government against further surrender to German demands,
especially with regard to the French fleet.

The question of the French fleet was of the highest importance to
British survival, just as the question of the British fleet loomed large
in American calculations about their own chance of defeating Axis
attack. The British Government had not anticipated the terms which
the Germans laid down about the fleet in the armistice with France.
These terms (like those providing for an ‘unoccupied’ area in
France) were adroitly devised in order to allow the French Govern-
ment the illusion that they could ‘contract out’ of the war, while
escaping the consequences of military defeat, and, incidentally,
keeping their promise not to allow their fleet to fall into German
hands.2

This clever German move succeeded only too well. In fact the
Germans could put inescapable pressure on the French, and the
British Government could not avoid—without enormous risk—taking
action to keep as many warships as possible from reaching French

1 The calmness of tone and manner of the Foreign Office papers in the weeks of extreme
danger is almost ironical. Indeed the only external evidence of crisis is a certain confusion
in the filing system when, as a result of instructions (not in themselves unnecessary) for
the practice of greater economy in the use of paper, the Registry gave up its excellent but
lavish system of including only a few papers under a single jacket. The results of this
change of method soon became so chaotic that Sir A. Cadogan ordered a reversion—with
due care for economy—to the previous practice.

2 The Germans did not intend to limit themselves ultimately to the terms of the
armistice. They contravened these terms at once in the illegal charges levied as part of
the cost of their army of occupation.
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metropolitan ports. One of the results of British preventive action
was the tragic engagement at Oran. This event intensified French
anger at Great Britain, and the more so because the French Govern-
ment put out an untrue version of the facts. It is, however, doubtful
whether, if the engagement at Oran had been avoided, the policy
of Marshal Pétain’s Government towards Great Britain would have
been any less hostile.! Darlan’s anglophobia was increased by the
French losses at Oran, but Laval was not an admiral, and his policy
of Franco-German collaboration was not based on sentiment—least
of all, a sentiment of blind revenge. In 1940 Laval, Darlan, and
Marshal Pétain himself believed that Germany would certainly win
the war. For some time after their own surrender Marshal Pétain
and his Government expected a British defeat almost at once. They
remained convinced throughout 1941 of the unlikelihood of a
British victory, and would not have refused the price of any real
German concessions merely in order to prolong British resistance.
They even regarded the prolongation of this resistance as dangerous
to France, and as a threat to the stability of Europe.2 Marshal
Pétain’s confused and half-hearted efforts by secret negotiation to
arrange a kind of modus vivendi with the British were mainly an
attempt, once again, to ‘contract out’ of the blockade and to establish
with Great Britain the same relations of quasi-neutrality which he
hoped to secure from the Germans. At best they could be regarded
as a reinsurance when the British defeat was surprisingly delayed,
and the French Ministers began to be afraid that Great Britain and
Germany might come to terms at French expense; in other words,
that the British Government would treat France as Marshal Pétain’s
Government had been willing to treat Great Britain.3

One fact of this time is indeed often overlooked. The situation
throughout German-occupied Europe in the latter half of 1940 and
the first half of 1941 would have been more serious for Great Britain—
and the task of the Foreign Office more difficult—if the Germans
had behaved in accordance with the illusions of the Vichy Govern-

1 Marshal Pétain’s Government had already shewn, among other military measures
favourable to Germany, by a breach of the French promise to ensure that German air
pilots captured in France should be transferred to custody in Great Britain, that they
would do nothing to prevent the strengthening of the German forces of invasion.

? M. Paul Baudouin’s diary (Neuf mois au Gouvernement, p. 309) contains a revealing
comment on a speech by Mr. Churchill on August 20, 1940. Mr. Churchill had spoken
of fighting a long war until victory. M. Baudouin broadcast: ‘Les années défilent sous
ses yeux comme un programme de destructions: 1940 . . 1941 . . 1942. S'il devait en
étre ainsi, si la guerre devait continuer ses ravages sur I’Europe et sur le monde pendant
tant de mois, c’est la misére qui triompherait. Aucun homme d’Etat soucieux de ses devoirs
envers son peuple . . . ne peut, méme en esprit, adhérer a ce fatalisme de destruction.’

*The German attack on Russia made no difference to the attitude of the French
Government. They expected a Russian defeat. In any case, a German defeat at the hands
of the Russians would have been, from Marshal Pétain’s point of view, a disaster for
France, since it would certainly have resulted in the collapse of the conservative Vichy
régime.
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ment, that is to say, if they had acted in a manner likely to reconcile
the conquered nations to a Europe organised and dominated by the
German Reich. Great Britain might have been isolated in neutral—
including American—opinion as an intransigent and selfish Power
fighting only for her own imperial interests. Even the German explana-
tion of their attack on Russia might have carried some conviction.

The Germans put out propaganda in and after the autumn of
1940 about a New Order which they intended to establish in
Europe—a united Europe under German hegemony with immense
economic advantages to all concerned. This propaganda never made
much headway. It trailed a great deal of doctrinaire talk about
Lebensraum and Grossraum and other favourite terms of the Nazi
theorists. Hitler himself was not much interested in it; conquest and
the stark employment of power—the everlasting tramp of heavy-
booted police and soldiers—were more satisfying to him than' the
conciliation of conquered peoples. The Germans were not even on
good terms with their Italian allies; they distrusted and despised
them, and, in return, the Italians (including Mussolini) quickly
realised that their place in the New Europe was not likely to be
much better than that of France.

In any case the Germans soon dropped the pretence of a New
Order. The organisation of such an order depended on victory, and
from the early winter of 1941—2, the complete victory—which had
receded unexpectedly in the autumn of 1940—looked more distant.
The planning of a New Order had to give way to the immediate
requirements of war. The treatment of the occupied countries became
more severe. The Germans began to meet sabotage and organised
underground resistance. Their response was savage and brutal, and,
in a last analysis, ineffective. The ‘New Order’ took the political
form of mass executions of hostages, the imposition of torture, and,
economically, the exploitation of subject labour on a vast scale.
Meanwhile the answer to the Germans had been made, at the
suggestion of the United States, in the Atlantic Charter, and to this
affirmation of human rights the Germans could make no effective

reply.1

The Prime Minister has written that, on hearing of the Japanese
attack on Pearl Harbour, his first thought was that Great Britain

11t is an interesting example of the difference between British and American ways of
thinking that the Foreign Office had proposed a broadcast by Mr. Keynes explaining
that Great Britain had more to offer Europe in the form of an order based on sterling,
and linked with the free nations of the Commonwealth than Germany could offer in a
new order based on the mark and the subordination of the rest of Europe to German
economic domination. Some of Mr. Keynes’ economic arguments were used by Mr. Eden
in a speech of May 29, 1941; the main broadcast was never delivered because the
President—while not disagreeing with the British view—wanted a statement in broad
terms of human rights. See R. F. Harrod, Life of J. M. Keynes, pp. 503—4 and 509-10.
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could not now lose the war.! This was the view of most Englishmen,
and especially of those in a position to measure the dangers through
which the country had passed since the spring of 1940. Hitherto all
that could be done since the collapse of France had been to gain
time, win tactical successes, and wait for a great strategical opening,
after Hitler had made some large and irretrievable mistake. It was
not unreasonable to hope that such a man would make such a
mistake, though, when Hitler actually made it in his attack on
Russia,. the fact was realised more quickly in the Foreign Office
than by military opinion. Most—not all-military experts in Great
Britain thought that the Russian armies would be defeated within a
few months.2 The German position would then be much stronger,
and an Allied victory would require even greater sacrifice in the face
of a long war. On the other hand the British Government wisely
acted on the assumption that Russian resistance would be prolonged.
Within a few hours of the German attack the Prime Minister
promised the fullest assistance which Great Britain could provide,
although every item supplied could be spared only at a risk to the
rapid equipment of the British Forces.3

The entry of the United States into the war was—as seen from
Great Britain—a more certain guarantee of victory because at this
very time Hitler had failed to break Russian resistance, and was
unlikely to do so—if at all-until Germany had suffered more and
heavier losses, and the western Powers had gained invaluable time.
The Prime Minister, however, had always thought that the United
States would be compelled in American interests to enter the war
as a full belligerent. In the event American entry was delayed much
longer than Mr. Churchill had at one time expected, and the delay
was partly the result of the successful defence of Great Britain.
Nevertheless throughout the months of extreme crisis, even as a
myth, the idea that American belligerency might be close at hand
was of service in the formulation of policy and the fight for survival.

Mr. Churchill has also written—and the two statements are not
inconsistent—that he found the strain of war greater during the
period of defeat in 1942 than in 1940 and 1941.4 The length of time
for which this strain had already been endured was no doubt one
reason why it seemed heavier. There was also a sense of disappoint-
ment and humiliation over the losses of 1942. Above all the Prime

1 The Prime Minister’s words are more positive: ‘So we had won after all.” Winston S.
Churchill, The Second World War, (English edition) III, 539. (These volumes are referred
to hereinafter as ‘Churchill’.)

2 See below, p. 150, note 1.

3 The President seems to have decided independently to help the Russians if they were
attacked, but the effect on American opinion of the Prime Minister’s prompt action is a
fact to which the Russians at least have never given sufficient weight.

4 This was also the view of the Foreign Office.
C
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Minister’s responsibilities were extended in and after 1942 to cover
a new situation. Once again—and to their good fortune—Great
Britain and the Dominions were fighting with powerful Allies, but
the alliance brought with it, as always, serious problems of unity
among its members. The Prime Minister had the heavy burden of
persuading the Americans to give up an impracticable strategic
plan, and to accept something more within the compass of Allied
resources in 1942. He had to argue—with the prestige of resistance
in 1940 receding into the background and without the prestige of
victory—against proposals put forward by the President and his most
trusted military adviser, General Marshall, and obviously supported
by Stalin.

The discussions on high strategy have been fully described elsewhere,?
and in any case were mainly outside the sphere of the Foreign Office.
So also were the arrangements made for the establishment of a
Combined Chiefs of Staff Committee at Washington upon which the
British Chiefs of Staff would have permanent representation. There
was no counterpart, and, for obvious reasons, there could hardly be
a counterpart in the political sphere to this close and continuous
military collaboration, or to the Combined Boards dealing with pro-
duction and the allocation of resources. The British Embassy in
Washington and the United States Embassy in London already
provided machinery for political consultation.

These existing channels of communication, however, were different
in kind from those provided by the Combined Chiefs of Staff. The
business of the Foreign Office and of the Department of State
extended from the particular and temporary ends of military colla-
boration into wider questions of permanent national interest. The
function of the British diplomatic Mission in Washington was not to
work out with the Department of State a ‘combined’ policy, but to
transmit and explain the views of the British Government, and,
through the Foreign Office, to inform the British Government of
American views. There was a common political purpose—the defeat
of the enemy in war—but ‘victory’ was by no means a simple term;
it had one meaning for the United States, another for Great Britain,
and—disastrously, as it turned out—a third meaning for Russia. To
some extent, indeed, the close and friendly Anglo-American colla-
boration over immediate tasks—the ‘combination’ in military plans,
and in the production and supply of things necessary for the defeat
of the enemy—was delusive because it tended to conceal the differ-
ences in political interests and outlook. When, in the last stages of

1 See the volumes on Grand Strategy in the History of the Second World War, United
Kingdom Military Series, edited by Sir J. Butler. (These volumes are referred to herein-
after as Grand Strategy).
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the war, the immediate purposes of ‘combination’ were coming to
fulfilment, their temporary nature was shewn with disconcerting
suddenness, for example, by the abrupt termination of Lend-Lease.

Nonetheless the existence of a very close liaison on the military
side without any corresponding political instrument—a committee
working, day to day, as the Combined Chiefs of Staff worked, on an
agenda—was bound to have important consequences and the more so
because the business at the meetings hetween the Prime Minister
and the President was primarily military. The Chiefs of Staff there-
fore attended with a team of assistants; the Foreign Office and the
State Department were not always represented by their political
heads, and sometimes only by relatively subordinate officials. The
Prime Minister was more guarded, but the President was apt to take
decisions carrying with them important political implications with-
out consulting his expert advisers. Political questions could not in
fact be separated from military decisions. Even during the informal
and non-binding staff conversations held at Washington in the early
part of 1941 the American representatives were warned by their own
authorities that ‘it is to be expected that proposals of the British
representatives will have been drawn up with chief regard for the
support of the British Commonwealth. Never absent from British
minds are their post-war interests, commercial and military. We
should likewise safeguard our own eventual interests’.1

It is thus unlikely that the British Embassy in Washington could
have done more to clear away prejudices and misunderstandings
in the minds of the President and his advisers over the motives of
British policy. In any case the Prime Minister was to a large extent
his own interpreter. His personal messages to Mr. Roosevelt were of
the greatest political service, especially during the year and a half
between the collapse of France and the entry of the United States
into the war. On the political side, however, there was a certain
danger that the President would take the Prime Minister’s arguments
and predilections as formal statements of British policy, and also
that he might feel afraid of being over-persuaded to support pro-
posals which American public opinion would regard as more in
British than American interest.

As the war went on, and the development of American power
increased, Mr. Roosevelt shewed some restiveness, even perhaps a
little jealousy at the Prime Minister’s initiative.2 Mr. Winant, in a
conversation with Mr. Law8 on August 23, 1943, also made the
comment that the machinery of the Department of State was much

1 M. Matloff and E. M. Snell, Strategic Planning for Coalition Warfare. (United States
Army in World War II), pp. 2g-30.

? Mr. Stettinius, in May, 1944, spoke plainly on this matter. See below, p. 478.
3 Mr. R. Law, M.P., see p. 433, note 2.
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complicated by the direct line of communication between the Prime
Minister and the President. He suggested that the complication was
less in London because the Prime Minister and the Foreign Secretary
were always in the closest consultation, whereas in Washington there
were no daily talks between the President and the Secretary of State.
If they ‘saw each other once a month, their relations could be con-
sidered very close’.1 The situation, as far as British observers knew,
had not changed a year later. Mr. Stettinius, shortly after his appoint-
ment to the Secretaryship of State in December, 1944, told Admiral
Leahy that, with the President’s approval, he was appointing Mr.
C. E. Bohlen to act as a special liaison officer between the White
House and the State Department. Admiral Leahy thought the plan
‘an excellent idea’, and described it as an effort by Mr. Stettinius
‘to get in closer contact with the President who had been handling
much foreign affairs business without consulting the Department of
State’.2 The United States Chiefs of Staff were themselves often
unaware of what the President and the Prime Minister were dis-
cussing. General Deane, who was United States Secretary of the
Combined Chiefs of Staff until 1943, has written that he had a very
close working arrangement with his British colleague whereby he
obtained ‘much information from British sources concerning the
subjects of communications between President Roosevelt and Prime
Minister Churchill. For some reason our President often kept our
Chiefs of Staff in the dark on these matters until the die was cast,
and, at times, the advance information that I could obtain was
invaluable.’ Since the British Embassy in Washington communi-

1 From other American sources this statement would appear to have been an exaggera-
tion, but ‘once a week’ might not have been wide of the mark. Mr. Winant, in this
conversation, shewed that he did not feel that he was himself receiving the full confidence
of the President. (It is worth remembering that during the first World War Mr. Page,
United States Ambassador in London, suffered—though for different reasons— from a
similar lack of confidence on the part of Mr. Wilson.) From the British point of view, the
President’s liking for ‘one-man Missions’ did not provide an adequate substitute for a
continuous and fully informed political liaison on what might be called the ‘highest
official levels’. Mr. Hopkins, in particular, was generally of great service in smoothing
over differences of opinion and in interpreting British views to the President as well as
American views to the Prime Minister. Mr. Hopkins’ position, however, as a friend and
personal adviser to the President, and his bad health—he was always in danger of physical
collapse— made his intervention somewhat haphazard and uncertain. Moreover his own
relationship with the President was less close after his long illness in the first half of 1944.

2'W. D. Leahy, I Was There, 1950, p. 281. Admiral Leahy, while Ambassador at Vichy,
had written frequently to the President (at the latter’s request), and also to Mr. Welles.
He does not seem to have corresponded personally with Mr. Hull or with any one else
in the State Department, id., pp. 14-15.

3 J. R. Deane, The Strange Alliance, New York, 1947, p. 9. General Deane’s first intima-
tion that he was being sent to the Moscow Conference of 1943 as Mr. Hull’s military
adviser reached him from a telegram (sent by the Prime Minister in Washington) which
was shewn to him by his British colleague. For the lengths to which Mr. Roosevelt went
in withholding information from Mr. Hull, see Leahy, op. cit., p. 173. The Foreign Office
was aware of the differences between British and American procedures, and also of
personal differences within Mr. Roosevelt’s administration. These matters, however, were
not of British concern, and the Foreign Office, obviously, had to accept them.




MR. ROOSEVELT AND SOVIET POLICY  xxxvii

eated normally with the State Department, Mr. Churchill’s direct
access to the President had advantages in bringing before him
arguments which might otherwise not have reached him. Never-
theless one result seems to have been that the Secretary of State
and his officials—as well as the American Chiefs of Staff—tended to
take a kind of defensive attitude towards the Prime Minister, and
not less so because they knew his masterful powers of persuasion.
Admiral Leahy’s comment on Mr. Hopkins is typical of a general
American feeling: ‘Nobody could fool him [Mr. Hopkins], not even
Churchill.’1

The fear of being over-persuaded to support British interests may
be seen in the American attitude at the three meetings of heads of
Governments—Teheran, Yalta, and Potsdam. At Teheran, where
their views on strategic policy had brought the Americans closer to
the Russians than to the British on the main issues under discussion,
the records give the impression that the President and his military
advisers came away with a curiously favourable view of Stalin.2 At
and after Yalta the American suspicions of British policy were even
more serious. The President seemed to find in British doubts about
Russian policy little more than an outmoded anxiety over the balance
of power and to regard the more cautious British attitude towards
the demands of Italian politicians, and the action taken by the
British forces in Greece as due in no small part to Mr. Churchill’s
predilection for constitutional monarchy. Mr. Roosevelt believed
that, if handled tactfully, and brought within the legal arrangements
of the International Security Organisation, the Russians would be
no danger to European stability. Hence on almost every point in the
discussions at the Conference where the Prime Minister and Mr.
Eden were prepared to resist Russian claims or to insist upon con-

! Leahy, op. cit., p. 1'38 d hls defensive f((lmq came out in the American view thal the

3ritish had a better ‘military-political organisation’, and were more clear-headed in
working out a national policy. At the time of Mr. Eden’s visit to Washington in March,
1943, Admiral Leahy wrote: ‘Eden, like other British political officials (sic) of high
position that I came to know, seemed to have a better understanding of the general
policy of his country than was the case with many of our own leaders. Anthony Eden
knew what Britain wanted. There were times when I felt that if I could find anybody
except Roosevelt who knew what America wanted, it would be an astonishing discovery.’
Leahy, op. cit., p. 156. See also Gordon A. Harrison, The European Theatre of Operations,
Cross-Channel Attack (United States Army in World War II), pp. 3-6 for an interesting
summary of the difference between British and American procedures.

? Admiral Leahy gives an account of the first view of Stalin taken by the Americans.
After the opening session of the Conference Admiral Leahy wrote: ‘The talk among our-
selves . . . was about Stalin. Most of us, before we met him, thought he was a bandit
leader who had pushed himself up to the top of his government. That impression was
wrong. We knew ...that we were dealing with a highly intelligent man who spoke well,
and was determined to get what he wanted for Russia.” Leahy, o0p. cit., p. 205. General
Deane also noticed that the Americans were ‘all considerably and favourably impressed’
by Stalin, ‘probably because he advocated the American point of view in our differences
with the British. Regardl( ss of this, one could not help but recognise qualities of great-
ness in the man.’ Deane, op cit., p. 43. It is also, perhaps, significant that General Deane
noted that Mr. Churchill’s oratory lost effect when it was turned into Russian by an
interpreter. id. ib., p. 42.
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cession for concession the President gave only half-hearted support
or took the Russian side. Mr. Churchill was left alone to argue in
favour of allowing the French a place in the Allied Control Commis-
sion for Germany, though the President said that the United States
army of occupation would be removed after two years, and French
support of Great Britain was thus obviously necessary to maintain
the balance of military power in Europe against the Russians.1 The
President was much more willing than the Prime Minister to commit
himself to Russian proposals for the dismemberment of Germany,
and was readier to accept the extreme Russian demands for repara-
tion. Even on the Polish question, when the President had a domestic
political interest in getting a settlement satisfactory to the five or six
millions of people of Polish descent in the United States, the Prime
Minister was firmer in attempting to secure a Polish Government of
real independence. Towards the end of the Conference the President
embarrassed the British Ministers by insisting on closing the pro-
ceedings, not in order to return quickly. to the United States, but
in order to see King Ibn Saud, King Farouk of Egypt, and the
Emperor of Ethiopia on his way home.

On March 13, after his return to the United States, Mr. Stettinius—
according to Mr. Forrestal2—described the Yalta meeting as most
successful, especially as regards Russo-American relations. There was
‘every evidence of the Russian desire to co-operate along all lines
with the United States’. Three days later—again according to Mr.
Forrestal’s notes3—the President ‘indicated’ to his Cabinet ‘consider-
able difficulty with British relations. In a semi-jocular manner of
speaking, he stated that the British were perfectly willing for the
United States to have a war with Russia at any time, and that, in
his opinion, to follow the British program would be to proceed
toward that end.’

Such was one of the misunderstandings which had ‘arisen in the
course of settling the affairs of the Grand Alliance by the method of
personal discussion between the three Heads of Governments. It is
impossible to say whether, if President Roosevelt had lived longer,
there would have been any change, at the highest level, in this
American distrust of British aims or in the belief that the Russians

1 Mr. Roosevelt himself seems belatedly to have realised this fact. At a later stage in
the conference he withdrew his opposition to inviting the French to join the Control
Commission, and also qualified, somewhat vaguely, his statement about a two-year limit
of occupation by saying that, if a World Organisation were established on satisfactory
lines, the American public might be more willing to take a full share in the organisation
of peace through the world.

2 The Forrestal Diaries, ed. W. Millis and E. S. Duffield, 1951, p. 35.

3 Id., pp. 36-7. Mr. Forrestal was not present at the Cabinet meeting. The note
recorded in the Diaries was taken by Mr. Hensel, Assistant Secretary of the Navy.
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were more amenable to American than to British influence, and
that the first care of the United States should be, in President
Truman’s phrase, to avoid ‘ganging up’ with Great Britain in an
anti-Russian policy.

In the latter part of May, 1945, Mr. Truman and most of his
advisers still regarded British policy as an obstacle to satisfactory
Russo-American relations.! On May 23 the President sent Mr.
Hopkins on a visit to Moscow in order to learn more about the Russian
attitude. The primary reason for taking this step was the deadlock
over the Polish question, but Mr. Hopkins himself told Mr. Forrestal
on May 20—before leaving for Moscow—that he was ‘sceptical about
Churchill, at least in the particular of Anglo-American-Russian
relationship’, and that he thought it of vital importance that ‘the
United States should not be manoeuvred into a position where
Great Britain had us lined up with them as a bloc against Russia to
implement England’s European policy’. Mr. Truman, at the same
time, sent Mr. Joseph E. Davies on a special mission to London.
Mr. Davies, a former American Ambassador to Russia and a leading
supporter of Russo-American collaboration, was not very successful.
He brought with him a proposal, which the Prime Minister was
certain to reject, that before the proposed tripartite meeting of Heads
of Government, the President should see Stalin alone. The Prime
Minister tried to explain to Mr. Davies that the differences between
Great Britain and Russia were over matters of principle for which
the Western Powers had been fighting the war, and that the United
States Government was not just dealing with two ‘foreign Powers of
which it might be said that both were equally at fault’, but Mr.
Davies thought Mr. Churchill ‘basically more concerned over pre-
serving England’s position in Europe than in preserving peace’2.

Thus when Mr. Truman reached the tripartite Conference, after
refusing to visit Great Britain on his way to Berlin, he continued to
see himself as a mediator, from outside the troubled countries of
Europe, between the British and the Russians over ‘special interests’
which were of little direct concern to the United States. After his
first meeting with Stalin, Mr. Truman seemed to think that he and
Stalin could come to a satisfactory agreement. In his own account
of the Potsdam Conference he implies that this settlement would
have been made between the United States and Russia, with Great
Britain on the side-lines. ‘I did not underrate the difficulties before
us. I realised that, as Chairman, I would be faced with many
problems arising out of the conflict of interests. I knew that Stalin

1In spite of warning messages about Russian policy received from Mr. Harriman,
United States Ambassador at Moscow.

? Leahy, op. cit., p. 380. Admiral Leahy also thought that Mr. Churchill wanted to
keep the American army in Europe because he saw in its presence ‘a hope of sustaining
Britain’s vanishing position in Europe’.
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and Churchill! each would have special interests that might clash
and distract us’ ... ‘I was impressed by [Stalin] and talked to him
straight from the shoulder. He looked me in the eye when he spoke,
and I felt hopeful that we could reach an agreement that would be
satisfactory to the world and to ourselves’.8

The Prime Minister also carried on a correspondence with Stalin
during the period after the German attack on Russia.* This corres-
pondence was different in character from the exchanges with Mr.
Roosevelt. For one thing, there was no personal contact between the
two men until the Prime Minister’s visit to Moscow in August, 1942.
This visit, at a time of great difficulty and disappointment, was, on
balance, a success: it may indeed be described as one of the most
outstanding achievements of Mr. Churchill during the war. There
was also very little common ground with the Russians, and on the
Russian side, no store of good will. The Russians, while accepting
all the help which Great Britain and the United States could pro-
vide—and indeed making impossible demands—had not responded
with much eagerness to the Prime Minister’s offer of loyal collabora-
tion. From their own rigid standpoint they had no reason to do so.
They were fighting solely because the Germans had attacked them.
Before this attack they had been willing to assist Hitler. They had
no interest in the idealist motives which were as genuine a part of
the British will to victory as the motive of self-preservation. They
were perhaps more hostile to western capitalist democracy than to
national socialism. Their main wish—after the desire to expel a
savage and brutal invader—was that the Western Powers, fascist and
anti-fascist, should be not less exhausted than the Soviet Union after
the war. M. Maisky told a foreign diplomat in London in December,
1940, that he added up British and German losses not in two
columns, but in a single column. The confusion, and not the
recovery, of the West, seemed the safest guarantee of Soviet security.
If the military effort of repelling an invasion should inflict upon
Great Britain immense losses in manpower and resources, so much
the better, in the long run, for the Soviet Government.

There was thus an element of irony in the Russian appeals for a
‘second front’. The Russians were in fact bearing the weight of the
German attack on land. They had fallen into the danger which, at
some humiliation, they had tried to avoid. They were now asking

1 The order of mention is of some interest.
2 H. S. Truman, Memoirs (English edition) I, 275.
3 Id., p. 267.

¢ The Prime Minister sent a personal message, before the German attack, conveying to
Stalin information received by the British Government that this attack was likely to take
place. For an earlier letter, see below, pp. 141-2.
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from their Allies sacrifices which they had never themselves intended
to make. When their demands for a second front were not and could
not be met, the Russians began to taunt their Allies, particularly
Great Britain, with cowardice and even to hint at treachery. Mr.
Churchill’s difficulty in persuading the Russians that an invasion
resulting only in defeat could be of no help to them was not lessened
by the continued American misjudgment of the extent of the prepa-
rations necessary for success and the time which these preparations
would take.

Stalin’s protests against the postponement of the invasion were
most strident after the Anglo-American discussions in Washington
in May, 1943, when the project of a cross-Channel expedition in
the early autumn of that year faded out, and the main operation
was fixed for the spring of 1944. It is impossible—without greater
knowledge of what the Russians really thought—to say whether
Stalin’s charges of bad faith at this time were or were not genuinely
made, that is to say, whether he believed, in spite of the guarded
statements always made by the Prime Minister, that he had been
given an assurance of a second front in France in 1943, and that the
military situation in June, 1943, was more and not less favourable
to the opening of this front than had been expected when the assur-
ance was given. Sir A. Clark Kerr thought that, as seen from Moscow,
there was a certain weakness in the Allied case. This weakness lay
‘not in our inability to open this second front, but in our having led
[Stalin] to believe that we were going to’ open it.

The Prime Minister now told Sir A. Clark Kerr that he assumed
the ‘Churchill-Stalin correspondence’ to have come to an end. Stalin
himself, however, may have seen that he had gone too far in pro-
voking his Allies—whose assistance he still needed—or he may have
been impressed by the results of their Mediterranean strategy, and
have realised that, in view of his own successes, he could more easily
afford to wait until the spring of 1944 for a large-scale operation in
the west. Anyhow, the ‘Churchill-Stalin’ correspondence was
resumed, though, as earlier, the Russian responses had none of the
cordiality of Mr. Churchill’s approach.

In his correspondence with Mr. Roosevelt, the Prime Minister,
while consulting and informing the Secretary of State, was inclined to
set out his own views and ideas. The correspondence with Stalin was
much more of an exposition of British policy, almost in the form of
diplomatic notes addressed to the head of the Russian State. The
British Government had found that unless they could reach Stalin
directly through the Prime Minister, they could not be sure that
their requests and explanations ever got to him at all. Even so,
Stalin’s answers at times gave the impression that they were written
by another and more unfriendly hand. The Russians made very few
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concessions to British requests, and hardly any of them were secured
without this direct intervention. The official contacts between the
British Embassy in Moscow and the Soviet leaders were infrequent,
stiff, and formal. M. Maisky and his successor M. Gusev saw far
more of the British Ministers and high officials in the Foreign Office,
but there is little evidence that the reports of their representatives
in London carried much weight with the Soviet Government.

Mr. Eden, as well as the Foreign Office, inclined to regard Stalin,
at all events before 1944, as more reasonable than M. Molotov, and
even as ‘comparatively co-operative’.l There is no doubt about the
genuineness on the British side of the wish for co-operation. The War
Cabinet and the Foreign Office were generally agreed— and for the
most obvious reasons—that the future peace and prosperity of
Europe, the prevention of more German aggression, and the larger
plans for the organisation of world security, required the main-
tenance of good Anglo-Soviet relations on the lines of the treaty of
10942, and that every possible effort (which meant, in practice, every
possible concession) should be made to convince the Soviet Govern-
ment of the sincerity of the British desire for collaboration. In view
of the Russian attitude the Foreign Office could not be sure that
the Russians really wanted collaboration—which would imply con-
cessions on their side—but the British were prepared to act on the
view that nothing would be lost and a great deal might be gained
by assuming Russian sincerity.

In some respects the Foreign Office held longer than the Prime
Minister to this assumption. They were readier to acquiesce in the
Russian control of the states of south-east Europe—excluding
Greece—partly because it was physically impossible for Great Britain
to prevent this control, and therefore imprudent for her to become
engaged in an attempt to do so. The Foreign Office were also more
conscious than the Prime Minister of the dismal history of repre-
sentative institutions and the treatment of minorities in these States,
and less inclined to think that notwithstanding the poverty and
confusion of Europe matters would be much better after the defeat
of Germany if only the Russians did not interfere. Moreover, as
Sir A. Clark Kerr—a very shrewd observer—pointed out from Moscow
as late as March, 1945, however ‘disappointing and even disturbing’
the attitude of the Soviet Government might be, they did not seem
to have given up all idea of collaborating with the Western Powers

1The Prime Minister reported optimistically to the War Cabinet after the Yalta
Conference about the prospects of post-war collaboration with Russia; his optimism, how-
ever, was not unqualified, and rested, as before, largely on the belief (which was shared by
other members of the British Delegation) that Stalin himself shewed more personal good
will than his colleagues. The Prime Minister warned the War Cabinet that there might
be a change if for any reason Stalin were no longer in control of Russian policy. Mr.
Churchill had specially in mind that Stalin had kept to his undertaking to regard Greece
as within the British sphere of influence.
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after the war. Their policy of establishing Soviet influence in the
Balkans was one of limited objectives which did not endanger
British interests. They would not give way as far as these limited
objectives were concerned; on the other hand they wanted British
support against a possible revival of German aggression.

The fact that he was in close touch with two other Heads of
Governments in the Grand Alliance who had centralised in them-
selves the power of decision almost inevitably brought the Prime
Minister to treat the whole field of foreign affairs as within his
immediate province, although circumstances—the emergence of
liberated States—were at last allowing the Foreign Office to resume
its ordinary place in the conduct of policy. Mr. Churchill was still
concentrating on the decisions to be taken in the military field where
his grasp of detail was unrivalled. He was less concerned as yet with
the manifold and remoter—one might almost say quieter—calcula-
tions upon which long-range foreign policy must be based. Moreover
he was not easily open to persuasion. His closest personal friends
were men of forceful character, but without his unmatched political
insight. He was, as ever, most careful of his constitutional position
and of constitutional practice. No man since Mr. Gladstone has
dominated Parliament so magnificently. There was perhaps some
danger in this remarkable control, even though Mr. Churchill, again
like Mr. Gladstone, was most sensitive to the rights and opinions of
the House of Commons. It would, however, be wrong to say that the
Prime Minister disregarded expert advice from the Foreign Office
or that he encroached upon its functions; nevertheless a good deal
of the time and energy of the Foreign Secretary—and, still more, of
the Permanent Under-Secretary! and the staff of the Office—was
taken up in efforts to persuade him that not all his proposals were
suited to British interests, or adequate to meet the many important
factors in a situation.

The differences of outlook and emphasis between the Prime
Minister and the Foreign Office were concerned occasionally with the
actions of individuals—the most important case of this kind was the
prolonged refusal of Mr. Churchill to agree to a change of British
representation in the Levant States when the Foreign Office regarded

1 The fact—in itself salutary—that Mr. Churchill and Mr. Eden left London whenever
possible for week-ends at their respective country houses did not lessen the labours of the
Permanent Under-Secretary whose chances of rest were too often broken by telephone
calls giving the ‘sudden thoughts’ of one or both of these Ministers. The Foreign Office
staff also found some cause of strain in the Prime Minister’s urgent demands for drafts
of important telegrams. Thus one of the most hard-pressed senior members of the staff
commented in April, 1944: ‘We are nearly always working [on the question of joint
Anglo-American action with regard to Spanish exports of wolfram from Germany] with
a margin of minutes. For example, the reply to the last message to the President had to
be drafted between 11.15 a.m. and midday today when the Prime Minister left for
Chequers. Similarly a brief drawn up for the Cabinet was finished only five minutes
before the Cabinet meeting.’
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such a change as essential to the establishment of good relations with
the Free French. In a larger issue—the transfer of British support
from General Mihailovic to Marshal Tito—there is perhaps room for
doubt. It may well be that, owing to the deep-rooted bitterness of
internal political disputes in Yugoslavia, especially between Serbs
and Croats, and the general dislike of the pre-1941 régime, the
British Government could not have adopted at any time a policy
which would have avoided the alternatives either of civil war or of
the totalitarian—or at least dictatorial—rule of one party in the
country after the invaders had been turned out. It is also possible
to hold, as the Foreign Office was inclined to think, that, on balance,
neither General Mihailovic nor Marshal Tito was of very great
military value to the Allies since each—while wanting the defeat of
Germany and Italy—was concerned at least as much with internal
political feuds, and preoccupied with securing a dominant position
in the control of Yugoslavia after the war.

At all events the papers in the Foreign Office archives suggest
that the Prime Minister may have listened too readily to the opinions
of a few advisers of whose opportunities for obtaining full evidence
the Foreign Office was less sure. Resistance in Yugoslavia was a
military matter, and the decision about the military advantages or
disadvantages to be gained from the support of Marshal Tito rested
primarily upon the recommendations of the military authorities, but
Marshal Tito’s advocates with the Prime Minister seemed to the
Foreign Office inclined to disregard the extenuating circumstances
in the case of General Mihailovic’s failure to act against the enemy,
and the political risks of supporting a Communist dictatorship any-
where in south-east Europe. These matters were not easy to judge.!
After an interview with Marshal Tito the Prime Minister somewhat
changed his own view. He wrote to Mr. Eden about the responsibility
which would rest on Great Britain if Marshal Tito, having secured
control of Yugoslavia, used the arms which he had obtained from
British sources to suppress his non-Communist opponents. Mr.Eden’s
answer was that the Foreign Office was well aware of the danger,
and that not they, but the Prime Minister himself, had ‘pushed’
Marshal Tito.2

11t has been pointed out that the terms ‘resistance’ and ‘collaboration’ acquired a
moral significance during the second World War which they had not possessed in the
first war. One reason was the existence of a ‘collaborationist’ government in France, and
that of Quisling in Norway, for which there was no parallel in the first war. The change
was also due to the nature of ‘total war’, the illegal demands made by the Axis Powers
upon the countries in their occupation, the savagely oppressive character of this occupa-
tion, and the widespread organisation of underground activities.

2 It is typical of the Prime Minister’s quick and masterful judgment that in another
case of disagreement with the Foreign Office—the question of the regency of Archbishop
Damaskinos in Greece at the end of 1944—he changed his mind at once after a personal
meeting with the Archbishop in Athens. The Prime Minister took this journey to Athens—
in mid-winter— though he was overwhelmed with business at the time owing to the
German counter-offensive in the Ardennes.
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In his attitude towards General de Gaulle the Prime Minister seemed
at times to the Foreign Office to shew less than his usual generosity,
and also to come near to risking British long-term interests in order
to meet a certain prejudice on the part of President Roosevelt. Before
1943 Mr. Churchill had become impatient with General de Gaulle,
though he never ceased to respect him. General de Gaulle was
responsible for this exasperation. He spoke, wrote, and acted too
often with a disregard for political and military realities—British
and French—and with an abruptness of manner which could not
be excused by the fact that he was causing offence not to the weak
but to the strong. General de Gaulle had not even the justification
that within the narrow field open to him he was doing his utmost
for the Allied cause. He was not always a good judge of men, and not
able to prevent intrigue within his own Movement. For very different
—and prouder—reasons he was as obstinate as Marshal Pétain in
refusing to face the humiliating but inevitable consequences of French
surrender. Marshal Pétain assumed that, having accepted the
armistice, France would be left free to work out her own regeneration
through suffering. General de Gaulle assumed that, having rejected
the armistice, the Free French could maintain the honour and
integrity of France by a complete separation from the Vichy
defeatists. Marshal Pétain ignored the facts that the Germans could
not leave France alone, and had no interest in the moral regeneration
of Frenchmen. General de Gaulle, in expecting the Allies to sub-
ordinate all other considerations to the maintenance of French
honour in his Movement, forgot at times that, however lofty his
claims, he could not undo the facts of surrender, and that the
recovery of France would be achieved not by French but by British
and American arms.

The Prime Minister had shewn a noble sympathy with France in
the great distress of 1940. He has also described General de Gaulle
in discerning terms.! During the war he was for a long time very
tolerant of the General’s obstinacy and his exaggeration, or so it
seemed, of the immediate requirements of French sovereignty, but
he came understandably, though without full cause, to distrust and
suspect his political aims, and was not very willing to use his personal
influence with Mr. Roosevelt to try to change the latter’s attitude
towards the Free French. On the other hand, the President, and,
for a long time, Mr. Hull refused to see the Vichy politicians and
collaborationists among the haute bourgeoisie for what they were.
The United States Government were not well informed about
French opinion generally by Admiral Leahy during his time as
Ambassador at Vichy, and the President paid too much attention
to the Admiral’s reports. Nonetheless there is something remarkable
1 Churehill, TV, 611.
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in the American insensjjyeness to the fineness of General de Gaulle’s
conception of his Moement and to the shame which the Vichy
Government had brought upon France.

The American failuy to realise the point of honour—the honour
of France which Gener) de Gaulle claimed to have in his keeping—
had its worst consequeces in the clumsy deal made with Admiral
Darlan at the time of he North African invasion. Here again it is
possible to argue, though the point can be disputed on military
grounds, that the recogition of Darlan’s ‘legitimate’ authority saved
many British and Amgyjcan lives at a most critical moment in the
campaign. The damning fact, however, as General de Gaulle and
British opinion saw it, was that the American military chiefs and
their political advisery did not seem to realise that they were sur-
rendering on a mattey of principle, and that the surrender would
look like a betrayal of e cause for which the European Allies were
fighting.1 '

The Prime Ministe, in view of his wish to avoid, whenever
possible, differences \jth the President, and owing to his own
experience of General de Gaulle’s intransigence, inclined to under-
rate the effect of the J)zrlan episode upon the General’s behaviour,
if indeed this behavioy, was more ungracious after than it was before
the end of 1942. The jocuments shew that the Foreign Office had
more sympathy with General de Gaulle in spite of his relentless
suspicions of British pqlicy. The Foreign Office realised more quickly
the change which haq come over the Gaullist Movement after the
Free French began i, make closer contact with the Resistance
groups in France. Th, political situation was now more favourable
to the transformation of the Free French National Committee, under
General de Gaulle’s leadership, from a dissident group into some-
thing like a genuine provisional Government. With the German
move into the occupied zone, the Vichy Government lost even the
shadow of independeyce; Marshal Pétain’s programme of ‘regenera-
tion’ was already discredited. De Gaulle had been right, and Pétain
wrong in their respective forecasts. Neither the Allies nor the
majority of Frenchme, wanted a Communist government in France
after the war. Genery Giraud, whom the Americans had expected
to take a lead in Noyh Africa, was a failure and totally unsuited
either for military or political command. There was thus no alter-
native to General ¢, Gaulle if he secured the support of the
Resistance Movemenys,

One of the sharpe; differences between the Prime Minister and
Mr. Eden arose out of the recognition of this change, and of the

! A Foreign Office memgndum sent to Lord Halifax in Washington summed up the
matter in these words: ‘W, gre fighting for international decency, and Darlan is the
antithesis of this.’
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subsequent claim of the French Committee that before the cross-
Channel invasion the Allies should negotiate with them an agreement
which would recognise their control of civil affairs in liberated France.
The Foreign Office, and, for that matter, General Eisenhower, as
Commander-in-Chief of the cross-Channel expedition, regarded the
early conclusion of such an agreement as necessary for military as
well as political reasons. The State Department, including at long
last, Mr. Hull, came round to this view early in 1944, but the
President remained unwilling to face the facts, and, for some con-
siderable time, the Prime Minister refused to assert firmly the
British point of view and to reject the President’s instruction to
General Eisenhower to deal with any authority in France (other
than Vichy) whom he might think fit to employ. Mr. Duff Cooper—
to the Prime Minister’s annoyance—described the President’s action
as a deliberate insult to the French Committee. Mr. Eden was finally
able to persuade the Prime Minister to approve of a compromise
which saved the situation with the French and enabled the President
to climb down without loss of prestige.!

It is important, however, to remember that, apart from the imme-
diate strain of the pre-invasion period (the documents show the
deep anxiety of the Prime Minister during this time), the Foreign
Office was more free than the Prime Minister to put long-range
considerations affecting the post-war situation in Europe before
matters of immediate military relevance. The Prime Minister—and
not the Foreign Office—had been carrying the burden of persuading
the President and the American Chiefs of Staff to accept military
proposals which on the British side seemed essential to the success
of the expedition. Mr. Churchill knew that these arguments between
Allies would not end with the liberation of France; he was unwilling
to expend his capital of good will with the President on issues which
he did not consider of the first importance. The Foreign Office, on
the other hand, as soon as they were released from conducting what
might be called the diplomacy of survival, reasoned and planned by
habit in terms of the long-range political interests of Great Britain.
This difference of outlook is clear in another field of action, or at
all events discussion. In 1943, and through most of 1944, the Prime
Minister was unwilling and indeed unable to give much thought to
the post-war settlement of Europe and problems of the international
organisation of security. His general opinion was that these problems

1 The Prime Minister did not expect the Allies to hold at first more than a small area
of French territory. For this reason he considered that the question of civil administration
could be settled after the Allies had landed in France. During the final stages of this
controversy General de Gaulle himself behaved with a lack of tact and an odd mis-
understanding of the strength of his own position.
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could not be decided in any detail until after the Allied victory had
been assured. He was therefore willing to consider them only to the
extent to which pressure from the United States and, to a lesser
degree, the Dominions and the smaller European Allies compelled
him to do so. He held strong but vague opinions about the conditions
to be imposed upon Germany, and equally strong views about the
need for European unity. He was also determined not to surrender
any part of the British Empire to an international trusteeship; one
of his reasons for not wanting to oppose President Roosevelt on
matters which he (the Prime Minister) regarded as secondary was
that he expected to have to resist American proposals hostile to the
recovery of British territory.

The Foreign Office developed, in a somewhat haphazard way,
efficient machinery in 1943 and 1944 for considering the question of
a post-war security organisation to take the place of the League of
Nations. Their proposals were ably worked out with a view to
avoiding the faults of procedure which had contributed so much to
the weakness and collapse of the League. The major premise in all
these plans was that it was desirable to accept, in the more optimistic
formula that peace was indivisible, the grim conclusion that wars
could no longer be localised. In any case it was clear that the United
States would not come into an organisation unless it were world-wide.

The Prime Minister accepted this major premise. He was more
concerned, however, in practice, with re-establishing the importance
of Europe in the balance of world power, and, at the same time,
maintaining the closest Anglo-American co-operation. He was much
attracted by pre-war proposals for the establishment of a United
States of Europe, and believed that only through such means,
including the federation of the smaller States, Great Britain and
Western Europe generally would be able to deal on equal terms
with the immense ‘continental’ resources of the U.S.S.R. and the
United States.! His plan therefore was to set up a World Council
based on subordinate Councils of Europe, the Americas, and the
Pacific. He described the arrangement as a kind of ‘three-legged
stool’, and, in order to secure the essential co-operation of the United
States in European affairs, suggested American membership of the
Council of Europe.

The Prime Minister broadcast his ideas in March, 1943, and
argued in favour of them during his visit to Washington in May. The
President was at first attracted by the plan, but from the point of
view of American public opinion there was an important difference
between the participation of the United States in a World Security

1The Prime Minister was influenced by Count Coudenhove-Kalergi’s ideas on pan=
European union.
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Organisation, and membership of a European Council involving
direct and continuous interference in European affairs.1

The Foreign Office on the other hand thought that these proposals
for Europe were not in British interests; they would cause great
suspicion in the U.S.S.R., and would lead, sooner or later, to a
renewed German domination of the Continental States outside
Russia. This difference of view involved a good deal of argument
of which the Prime Minister was somewhat impatient. He was
willing to leave the question of a World Organisation to discussions
at an official level-which committed none of the governments
concerned—and to await a meeting with President Roosevelt and
Stalin at an easier time before taking any binding decisions.

For similar reasons Mr. Churchill was disinclined in 1943 and
1044 to give much consideration to the plans put forward for the
future of Germany. At the Casablanca meeting early in 1943 he had
acquiesced in the statement by the President that the Allies would
demand the unconditional surrender of Germany. It is now known—
though Mr. Churchill did not know it at the time—that this state-
ment was not an impromptu move by the President, and that he had
been considering it before he left Washington. The Prime Minister
onsulted the War Cabinet by telegram about the expediency of
ch a demand, and suggested that it might be applied to Germany
nd Japan, but not to Italy. Mr. Attlee replied on behalf of the War
LCabinet in favour both of the use of the term and the extension of
t to include Italy.

It has been argued that, whatever the advantages of this formula
leaving the Allies free to decide upon the conditions to be applied
the Germans after their surrender, the early announcement of the
emand was a tactical mistake and that it left the Allies no room for
anocuvre and the peoples of the enemy countries no motive for
tting rid of their governments. In fact the Italians did get rid of
eir fascist government when they realised that the invasion of the
ainland of Italy was certain, and, although unconditional surrender
s enforced on them, they knew that, by ‘working their passage’ on
¢ Allied side, they would obtain—considering their heavy responsi-
lities—not overharsh terms. The satellite States also surrendered on
ms which were not in practice unconditional, though, except in
¢ case of Finland, the terms of surrender were much less significant
n the military circumstances which allowed a Russian occupation
il control. In Japan there was no chance of a successful movement
the overthrow of the government, and when at last the un-
cted and terrible weapon of the atomic bomb brought a rapid

# Mr. Hull, whose main purpose, as far as concerned post-war organisation, was to
re the removal of trade barriers, was afraid that a large and powerful European

isation might develop an economic policy for Europe which would be damaging
American trade interests.
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Japanese surrender, the Allies agreed not to require the deposition
of the Emperor.

In Germany the failure of the military coup against Hitler in July,
1944, was not connected with the demand for unconditional sur-
render. A second coup was unlikely at least until Nazi control had
been broken by military defeat. The Nazi leaders knew that they
could expect no mercy for themselves—they deserved none— and no
future for their régime. In the final stages of the war the over-
whelming sentiment of the Germans was not so much anxiety about
the consequences of unconditional surrender to the Western Allies
as fear—amounting to panic— of the revenge which the Russians
would take on German territory for the crimes committed by the
Germans themselves in Russia.

Thus nothing in the course of events suggests that the Nazi control
of Germany lasted longer owing to the Allied demand for uncondi-
tional surrender. The Prime Minster indeed in 1943 and 1944
regarded this demand as likely to be less alarming to the Germans
than the publication of the actual terms already under discussion on
the Allied side. Finally the demand for unconditional surrender was
also a consequence of the endless German harping on the treaty of
Versailles. The Allies did not intend to repeat the error of 1918 when
they had accepted a German surrender on unnecessarily vague
political terms to which the Germans subsequently gave their own
interpretation.

In view of his care not to commit himself to any particular state-
ment about the terms to be imposed on Germany after surrender,
it is surprising that the Prime Minister should have given even a
tentative approval to a drastic American proposal not only that
Germany should be dismembered politically but that she should be
transformed into a country ‘primarily agricultural and pastoral in
its character’. This proposal was made to the President shortly before
the Quebec Conference of 1944 by Mr. Morgenthau. The plan pro-
vided that all the industrial equipment of the Ruhr not already
destroyed during the war should be dismantled or removed. The
mines would be completely wrecked, and the whole region ‘so
weakened and controlled’ that it could not ‘in the foreseeable future’
again become industrialised.

President Roosevelt and the Prime Minister gave a general assent
on September 15, 1944, to this plan for the ‘pastoralisation’ of
Germany. During the discussion Mr. Churchill was mainly con-
cerned with the future of Lend-Lease after the defeat of Germany,
and the grave economic situation in which Great Britain would
certainly be placed after the war. Mr. Morgenthau’s proposal was
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put to him as part of a general arrangement which would allow
British economic recovery. Mr. Eden, who was not present when the
President and the Prime Minister discussed the plan,! pointed out
to Mr. Churchill the calamitous effects which the proposal would
have not only in Germany but in the rest of Europe. Mr. Hull and
Mr. Stimson were equally critical on the American side. There was
no likelihood that the Allies would accept the plan; the tentative
endorsement of it by the Prime Minister and the President would
have mattered little if the main facts had not appeared almost at
once in the American press. Although the leakage gave Nazi propa-
ganda an opportunity to warn the German people what would
happen to them after unconditional surrender, it was already clear
that the Nazi leaders intended to fight to the last, and that until the
final hours of defeat no group—military or civil-in Germany would
be able to overthrow them. The Morgenthau plan thus had no
effect in prolonging German resistance.2

After the practical repudiation of the Morgenthau plan the
President gave instructions that for the time all detailed planning
in the Department of State on the future of Germany should cease.
The Prime Minister did not lay down any such rule for the Foreign
Office, but, in effect, until the Allies had decided at least in the most
general terms what they intended to do the Foreign Office could not
go beyond the preparation of memoranda. They assumed that there
would be a peace conference at which post-war questions hitherto
held in suspense would be discussed. The Foreign Office also agreed
with the Prime Minister on the expediency of postponing, as far as
possible, all disputable matters, and especially territorial claims,
until this discussion had taken place. Any other policy might have
meant either a serious crisis with the Soviet Government (involving—
as a consequence which the Allies could not exclude—the possibility
of a separate peace between the U.S.S.R. and Germany) or a
surrender to all the Russian demands.

On the other hand the weak point in the policy of delay, as the
Prime Minister came increasingly to realise, was that, combined
with the American failure to understand the significance of the
question of a post-war balance of power in Europe, it allowed the
Russians to obtain practical possession or control of such large areas
in Europe that no decisions other than those desired by the Soviet
Government were likely to be taken when a Peace Conference met.
In the circumstances, however, the dangers of a large-scale fait

1 The Prime Minister was influenced by Lord Cherwell’s support of the plan. The
Foreign Office was sharply critical of Lord Cherwell’s activities in connection with it.

? The President—with the American elections close at hand—could not risk any charge
that he was treating Germany too leniently. He did not repudiate the Morgenthau plan,
but said in a speech of October 21, 1944, that the Allies were not planning to enslave the
German people.
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accompli had to be accepted, though they might perhaps have been
lessened in the critical three months before the Potsdam Conference
if the Americans had approved of Mr. Churchill’s proposals for
standing on the farthest lines of military advance. As things were,
the main hope was that the Russians themselves would continue to
see advantages in co-operation and in common membership of a
World Security Organisation directed primarily against a recurrence
of German and Japanese aggression. The Allies also continued to
reckon on their bargaining power, especially in the form of economic
aid and the allocation of German reparation in kind from the
industrial zone in the west, which they could use in discussions with
the Soviet Government.

The Foreign Office, while regarding the Prime Minister’s far-
reaching schemes for the integration of Europe as impracticable, had
been concerned since the end of 1942 with the provision of machinery
for the immediate purpose of meeting the confusion—and the risks
of chaos and anarchy—certain to occur at the end of the war. In
order to secure a common policy, and, in particular, to prevent
unilateral action by the Russians, the Foreign Office had put forward
at the beginning of 1943 a proposal for a United Nations Commission
for Europe. At the Moscow Conference in 1943 Mr. Eden took the
lead in bringing these practical questions to an issue, and suggested
the establishment of a European Advisory Commission.

The Foreign Office appointed one of their ablest officials—Sir
William Strang—to represent Great Britain on this Commission.
The primary business of the Commission was to draw up the detailed
terms of surrender to be imposed upon Germany, and to settle the
arrangements for the Allied occupation and control of the country
(and, where relevant, Austria). The Commission carried out this
work, and attempted, less successfully, to deal with armistice terms
imposed on the satellite States. The Commission was not asked to
consider the general post-war problems of Germany or of the rest
of Europe, but throughout 1944, it might have been able to do some-
thing to clear and define Allied policy, and indeed to carry out its
more limited tasks less slowly if the Soviet Government had been
less obstructive and the United States Government had given more
positive backing. Mr. Winant, who represented the United States
on the Commission, nearly always supported Sir William Strang;
the President rarely allowed him to take the initiative in making
proposals.

The Prime Minister, although he could spare little of his time for
matters not directly concerned with defeating the enemy, had set
up a Cabinet Committee in August, 1943, for the consideration of
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armistice and immediate post-war problems.! The committee, under
the chairmanship of Mr. Attlee, Deputy Prime Minister, did much
wseful work in calling for memoranda and in co-ordinating the
activities of a number of departmental committees engaged in
studying particular aspects of the post-war situation. It provided
Instructions for the British representative on the European Advisory
LCommission. It was also of considerable negative value in giving an
pportunity for some of its own members to bring forward proposals
bout Germany which did not stand up to close analysis. Even so,
e most decisive document submitted to the War Cabinet on the
atment of Germany was a memorandum from the Treasury. In
is memorandum, which was drawn up after the Yalta Conference,
e Chancellor of the Exchequer, Sir John Anderson, pointed out the
Incompatibility between the proposals put forward for reparation
and those for the dismemberment of Germany, and the danger that,
M the Russians had their way, much of the burden of German
feparation would in fact fall upon the British people.

This history of war-time diplomacy ends with the Potsdam Con-
erence, and the surrender of Japan. The Allies had won the war,
but were in disagreement about the purposes to which they would
ut their victory. In anticipating what he had described to President
T'ruman as a ‘show-down’ at the tripartite Conference, Mr. Churchill
ad contemplated a good deal of plain speaking, and also a final
bargain, at which, after much manoeuvring, the British and
mericans would exact concession for concession to the full extent
f their power. The bargaining took place, as Mr. Churchill had
pected, but the critical point was not reached until after he and
r. Eden had left Potsdam. The final compromise was proposed by
r. Byrnes. Mr. Attlee and Mr. Bevin accepted it, though with
isgivings, especially in regard to Poland.2 Mr. Churchill—-writing
me eight years later3—has said that he would never have conceded
¢ western Neisse frontier to Poland, and that, if necessary, he
would have had a ‘public break’ over the matter.4 It is most probable
at, if he had remained at the Conference, he would have tried to

et more from Russia in return for the very large concessions made

! This committee, which continued the work of an ad hoc committee dealing with the
mediate terms of surrender for Italy, was given wider terms of reference in April, 1944,
il was known from that date as the Armistice and Post-War Committee.

* Mr. Bevin made a strong—and shrewd—attempt to do what he could to safeguard the
edom of elections in Poland.

% Churchill, VI, 581-2.

! Technically Mr. Byrnes’ proposal did not make this concession, since the final de-
itation of the frontier was left to the Peace Conference. In fact the concession was

e by allowing the Polish claims to extend their administration to the western Neisse
below, Chapter XXXI, section (vi).
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to her. How far would he have succeeded? He had been unable to
persuade the Americans to accept his view of the need to meet at
once the grave threat from the U.S.S.R. to the future of Europe and
the peace of the world. British views now counted for less than at any
time in American decisions. Anglo-American relations expressed in
terms of power had changed to the disadvantage of Great Britain.
In spite of her victories and her armies, which were beginning to
melt away, Great Britain was, temporarily at least, near to the end
of her resources and dependent economically upon American help
to tide over the period of recovery.!

The President and his advisers were conscious of the world pre-
dominance of the United States and.of their ability—and perhaps
their duty—to take decisions for themselves; they were also danger-
ously sure that they knew what was best for Great Britain and
Europe. At all events they took their decisions, and with a certain
impatience that, whatever they did for Europeans, must be done
once for all, and must not commit them to perpetual interference in
the domestic affairs of a Continent which, for historical reasons, they
distrusted.

The difficulty of speculating on what might have happened at the
Potsdam Conference if Mr. Churchill had been returned to office is
increased by the need to ask another question. What would have
happened at Potsdam if the Japanese surrender had taken place
three weeks earlier? In such case the Russians would have lost a
great deal of their bargaining power since their aid would no longer
have been needed in the war against Japan, and the Americans
would have had less reason to avoid committing themselves further
to action in Europe on behalf of their own principles and of the kind
of settlement which they regarded as likely to ensure peace. The news
of the successful explosion of an atomic bomb in the New Mexican
desert was reported to the Prime Minister at Potsdam on July 17,
the opening day of the Conference. The President and the Prime
Minister discussed together the most tactful way of letting Stalin
know something which they had previously concealed from him.
Mr. Truman told Stalin the news in the presence of Mr. Churchill.
Mr. Churchill does not think that Stalin realised the significance of
this new weapon. The weapon changed the balance of military
power, at least for a time, overwhelmingly in favour of the western
Allies. If Hitler had developed the atomic bomb, the Allies would
have lost the war. If the Russians had possessed it, they would

1 A paper submitted to the War Cabinet on August 14, 1945—the day before the
Japanese surrender, and three days before Mr. Truman gave instructions that Lend-Lease
should end in a fortnight—stated that, without substantial new aid from the United
States, Great Britain would be ‘virtually bankrupt, and the economic basis for the hopes
of the public non-existent’. Sir W. K. Hancock and M. M. Gowing. British War Economy.
1952 (History of the Second World War, United Kingdom Civil Series), pp. 546-9.
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probably have made it their final political argument. It is outside
the task of a historian of British diplomacy during the war to consider
whether use might have been made at the Potsdam Conference, or
after, of this wltima ratio of the western democracies in warning the
Soviet Government that the western Powers could compel them to
fulfil the agreements made at Yalta, and that the Russian glacis of
puppet States had lost much of its military value. A warning of such
gravity, with such a sanction attached to it, would have been out of
keeping with all the habits and hopes of the western democracies,
and the implementation of any threat—when the Allies had added
to their store of the weapons—would hardly have been practicable
politically in view of the attitude of public opinion in the United
States and Great Britain. As for the moral implications of any threat
of ultimate force, the historian can give no answer. He would be
prudent to limit himself to one of the very few generalisations which
apply inevitably, and, as it may seem, blindly to the fate of all
nations at all times: "Oye Oe@v dAéovor pvdor, aAéovar 8¢ Aemrrdl.

1 The mills of the gods grind late, but they grind small.



CHAPTER 1

The alignment of forces, September-December 1939

(1)
The German attack on Poland: British and French notes of September 1,
1939, to Germany: Italian proposal for a conference: British and French

differences about the time-limit to an ultimatum : British and French notes of
September 3 to Germany.

HEN the British Cabinet met shortly before noon on
\ ;s; September 1, 1939, the Prime Minister, Mr. Neville

Chamberlain, used the words: ‘Our consciences are clear,
and there should be no possible doubt where our duty lies.’t The
situation brought about by the German attack on Poland was indeed
different in one all-important respect from that of the previous
autumn. During the long-drawn crisis over the Sudetenland, the
British and French Governments had to decide whether they would
allow Hitler to enforce demands which they thought unjust in sub-
stance and outrageous in the manner of their presentation. In March
1939, the decision to resist further German demands of a similar
kind had been taken and announced. Thenceforward the choice
between peace and war rested with Hitler. Great Britain and France
were engaged to defend the independence of Poland against German
aggression. If the Germans attacked Poland, they would be at war
with the Western Powers.

The task of British diplomacy in the critical days and hours before
September 1 was to try to restrain Hitler from bringing upon the
world the calamity of such a war. The attempt to build up a
European coalition against German aggression had failed, but the
defection of Russia could not change the British decision. There was
no question of giving way to Hitler because the task of defeating
him was now more difficult.

The invasion of Poland began in the early hours of September 1.
Great Britain did not declare war on Germany until September 3.2
For the first twenty-four hours after the opening of the German

1 Mr. Chamberlain had begun by saying that the event against which we had fought
so long and so earnestly had come upon us. One might notice a personal significance in
the Prime Minister’s employment of the term ‘fought’ to describe an effort not to win a
war, but to avert it.

2 For a documentary record of the negotiations between September 1 and the British
declaration of war, see Documents on British Foreign Policy, 1919-39, Series I1I, vol. VII,
Chapter VII (H.M. Stationery Office, 1954).

I
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attack there seemed to the Foreign Office a faint chance that, when
he realised that the two Western Powers intended to fulfil their
guarantee to Poland, Hitler might agree to a resumption of negoti-
ations on terms which the British, French, and Polish Governments
could accept. After twenty-four hours this faint chance of a peaceful
settlement disappeared. A formal declaration of war followed, though
it was delayed owing to the insistence of the French Government.

At their meeting just before noon! on September 1 the Cabinet
agreed to send a communication to the German Government as
soon as they had concerted action with the French. The Cabinet
considered 5 p.m. as the best time for the communication. At 4.45
p-m. therefore Sir N. Henderson was instructed that he would
receive a communication which he and the French Ambassador were
to deliver at once. They were to ask for an immediate answer. In
reply to any questions Sir N. Henderson could say that the com-
munication was in the nature of a warning, and was not to be
considered as an ultimatum. For his own information he was told
that, if the German reply were unsatisfactory, the next stage would
be either an ultimatum with a time-limit or a declaration of war.

The communication stated that by their action in attacking
Poland, the German Government had ‘created conditions’ calling
for the implementation of the Anglo-French guarantee to Poland.
Then followed a warning that, unless the German Government gave
satisfactory assurances that they had ‘suspended all aggressive action
against Poland’ and were ‘prepared promptly to withdraw their
forces from Polish territory, His Majesty’s Government in the United
Kingdom’ would ‘without hesitation fulfil their obligations to
Poland.” The French communication was in identical terms, but
Ribbentrop refused to receive the Ambassadors together. He saw
Sir N. Henderson at 9.30 p.m. He said that he would submit the
communication to Hitler, and claimed that the Poles had invaded
German territory on August 3I.

Meanwhile the British Government also had to say something
more to Mussolini about a proposal which he had made on August 31
for a conference. Mussolini had suggested that, if the British and
French Governments would agree to the return of Danzig, he would
ask Hitler to accept a conference ‘for the revision of the clauses of
the treaty of Versailles which were the cause of the present great
troubles in the life of Europe’. Lord Halifax had replied by telephone
to Ciano on August 31—apparently about 7 p.m.—that he had dis-
cussed the proposal with the Prime Minister and that we could not
ask the Poles to give up Danzig in advance of negotiation. The Poles

1 The news of the German attack on Poland had reached London earlier, but Ministers
were engaged until noon in the departmental work necessary for putting war measures
into effect.
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had agreed to a general discussion with the German Government.
There was no reason why the Germans should not give their pro-
posals—if, indeed, they had any’—to the Polish Ambassador.

M. Daladier had told Sir E. Phipps, British Ambassador in Paris,
at 3.30 p.m. that he had instructed the French Ambassador to let
the Prime Minister know that he would rather resign than accept
this ‘invitation to a second ¢ Munich”’. On the evening of August 31,
however, M. Bonnet told Sir E. Phipps that the French Council of
Ministers felt that they could not decline ‘off-hand’ the Italian pro-
posal. They would probably reply with an acceptance of the proposal
on the conditions that Poland should take partin it and that it should
have a wider agenda. At g p.m. M. Bonnet telephoned to M. Corbin,
French Ambassador in London, that, if direct German-Polish nego-
tiations failed, the French would accept the proposal on these two
conditions.

On the morning of September 1 Sir P. Loraine, British Ambassador
in Rome, was instructed to say to Ciano that, in view of Hitler’s
attack on Poland, it seemed impossible to go further with Mussolini’s
proposal. Ciano answered that he would ask Mussolini whether in
the changed circumstances he could telephone the proposal to Hitler.
Ciano appeared to think that the French were more favourable to
the plan than the British. There was in fact a divergence (for which
the Foreign Office regarded M. Bonnet as responsible) between the
respective attitudes of the two governments. The French had sent
their reply to the Italian Government at 11.45 a.m. on September 1
without any reference to the German attack on Poland. Later in the
day M. Bonnet telephoned to London that the Italian Government
still thought it possible, if they had British and French consent, to
revive their proposal for a conference; they asked whether the French
had Polish approval for the plan. M. Bonnet—without consulting the
British Government—had enquired about the Polish attitude. M. Beck
had replied that since Poland was at war as the result of unprovoked
aggression, the need was not for a conference, but for common action
by the Allies against this aggression. The Polish reply did not reach
M. Bonnet until the afternoon of September 2, but the French Govern-
ment issued a statement during the night of September 1—2 that they
(the French) had given a ‘positive’ reply to the ‘Italian initiative’.

The Germans did not answer the warning note of September 1.
Hence the British Government had to concert with the French the
ultimatum which was the inevitable consequence of the German
refusal to suspend hostilities and withdraw their troops from Poland.
Here again there were divergences of view about a time-table. Sir
E. Phipps telephoned at 9.35 a.m. on September 2 that the French
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Parliament was meeting in the afternoon, and that proceedings might
take longer than had been expected. The Foreign Office replied at
11.55 a.m. to Sir E. Phipps that the delays in Paris and the attitude
of the French Government were causing some misgiving in London,
and that they hoped Sir E. Phipps could ‘infuse courage and deter-
mination into M. Bonnet’.

Sir E. Phipps reported at 12.45 p.m. that the French Government
agreed with the statement (telephoned to them) which the British
Government proposed to make in Parliament. At 1.30 p.m. he
reported that the French also agreed that in the afternoon of Septem-
ber 2, after the meeting of the Chamber, the British and French
Ambassadors should present identical notes containing an ultimatum
to the German Government. They strongly urged a period of 48 hours
before the expiry of the ultimatum in order to allow time for French
mobilisation and for the evacuation of large towns.

A quarter of an hour before the time (2.45 p.m.) at which the
British statement was to be made in Parliament, Ciano telephoned
to London that the Italian Government still thought that a conference
was possible. Sir P. Loraine then took Ciano’s place at the telephone.
He said that the Italian Ambassador in Berlin had told Ribbentrop
that Mussolini believed that, if Hitler would suspend hostilities and
agree to a conference, Great Britain and France would accept the
plan, and obtain Polish agreement to it. The Ambassador had now
reported that Hitler would not refuse to consider the plan if the
British and French notes were not to be regarded as an ultimatum.
Sir N. Henderson had authorised the Italian Ambassador to say
that the British noté did not have the character of an ultimatum.
Ribbentrop wanted Sir N. Henderson’s statement to be confirmed.
He also asked that Germany should have time, for example, up to
noon on September 3, to consider the proposal. Ciano had put these
points to M. Bonnet who had agreed to each of them (i.e. M. Bonnet had
notstipulated for the withdrawal of the German armies). Lord Halifax
replied to Sir P. Loraine that he felt sure that the British Govern-
ment would insist on the withdrawal of German troops from Polish
territory. Ciano did not think it possible to secure this withdrawal.

The statement in the House of Commons was now postponed in
order to allow time for discussions with the French over Ciano’s
proposals. Lord Halifax telephoned about 4 p.m. to M. Bonnet.
M. Bonnet thought that Hitler would not accept the withdrawal of
German troops and that the essential point was that Poland should
be represented at the conference. On this condition M. Bonnet
thought that a conference should be considered. We ought to do
everything to convince public opinion that we had tried our utmost
to avoid war. M. Bonnet then asked that our eventual ultimatum
should contain a time-limit of 48 hours.
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The Cabinet met again at 4.15 p.m. They agreed with Mr.
Chamberlain that we should insist upon the withdrawal of German
troops as a preliminary condition of a conference, and that we should
require a reply from the Germans at the latest by midnight on
September 2-3. Sir A. Cadogan telephoned these decisions to M.
Bonnet at 5 p.m. M. Bonnet said that the French Government were
about to consider (va délibérer) whether the retirement of the German
troops should be a necessary condition of the French acceptance of
the proposal for a conference. M. Bonnet argued very strongly that an
ultimatum should have a 48-hours time-limit. Sir A. Cadogan said
that the British Government intended to fulfil their obligations to
Poland if Hitler had not replied by midnight on September 2-3.
M. Bonnet answered that, if the British Government insisted on this
time, they would incur a heavy responsibility since French evacua-
tion! would not be completed for another two days. The French
Cabinet would come to a decision about a time-limit by g p.m. Sir
A. Cadogan asked whether 9 p.m. was the earliest hour at which
the British Government could be told of the decision. M. Bonnet
then said ‘perhaps 8 p.m.’.

At 6 p.m. Lord Halifax telephoned to Sir E. Phipps that the line
taken by the French Government was ‘very embarrassing’. Sir E.
Phipps was instructed to see M. Daladier, and to try to persuade
him that the ultimatum should expire at midnight on September 2-3.
Shortly after 6.30 p.m. Lord Halifax telephoned to Ciano. He put
the condition about the withdrawal of the German troops, and added
that Danzig must also revert to the status quo of two days earlier.
Ciano said that Hitler could not accept the condition about the
withdrawal of troops. At 9 p.m. M. Bonnet told Ciano that the
French would also insist on this condition. Later in the evening
Ciano informed the British and French Ambassadors that, in view
of the conditions attached by Great Britain and France to the
acceptance of his proposal, Mussolini had decided not to take any
further steps in the matter.

There remained, therefore, only the question of the time-limit.
The Prime Minister made a statement in the House of Commons
at 7.44 p.m. He reported Mussolini’s proposal, the conditions which
the Cabinet had laid down for acceptance, and the fact that we were
still in communication with the French about a time-limit. The
statement was badly received, and the delay in fixing a time-limit
largely misinterpreted as a sign of weakness and of hesitation to
fulfil the guarantee to Poland. The Prime Minister and Lord Halifax
met at once to consider the situation. The Foreign Office had also
heard at 8 p.m. from Sir H. Kennard, British Ambassador at
Warsaw, that he and the French Ambassador had been told by

1j.e. the evacuation of women and children from the towns.
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M. Beck that the Polish armies were suffering from German
superiority in the air. M. Beck hoped that we should soon enter
the war and find it possible to draw off a considerable proportion
of the German aircraft on the Polish front. At 9.50 p.m. the Prime
Minister telephoned to M. Daladier that it would be impossible to
obtain agreement in Parliament for a 48-hour time-limit from mid-
day on September 3. The Prime Minister proposed as a compromise
that we should announce that our Ambassadors had been instructed
to present an ultimatum at 8 a.m. on September 3, with a time-limit
of four hours. M. Daladier thought it better to fix a time-limit of
some hours after midday on September 3 in order to delay air
attacks on the French armies.

Lord Halifax telephoned to M. Bonnet at 10.30 p.m. that we
should have to make some announcement during the evening and
to state a definite hour at which our ultimatum would expire. If the
French could not accept our time-table, we suggested separate
British action on the understanding that the French would follow
within twenty-four hours. M. Bonnet ‘gravely deplored’ our proposal,
but agreed that we should act at 8 a.m. and the French at midday.
The Cabinet met at 11.30 p.m. and decided that our ultimatum
should be presented at 9 a.m. with a two-hour limit. The French
Government did not settle their time-table until September 3. At
8.45 a.m. on September 3 Sir E. Phipps reported that the time-limit
would be 5 a.m. on September 4. Shortly after noon Sir E. Phipps
sent a further message that the French Government had decided
upon 5 p.m. on September 3. Meanwhile Sir N. Henderson carried
out his instructions at g a.m. He found it difficult to make contact
with Ribbentrop. Finally he was told that Dr. Schmidt, the official
interpreter at the Ministry, was authorised to receive on Ribbentrop’s
behalf any communication which Sir N. Henderson might make.
At 11 a.m.—the hour at which the ultimatum expired—Ribbentrop
asked Sir N. Henderson to call on him. He gave Sir N. Henderson
a long memorandum which attempted to justify the German attack
on Poland.

(1)
The Russian invasion of Poland: British statement of September 19, 1939,

on the Russian action: Hitler’s peace offer of October 6: Mr. Chamberlain’s
speech of October 1 2.

The Germans who had chosen war in 1939 had the initiative, except
at sea, in waging it. The terrible consequences of the Allied loss of
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the initiative were seen in the rapid German invasion of Poland,
though it is fair to remember that the Allies themselves did not
expect to escape from the ordeal of battle. They had anticipated
heavy air attacks on their ill-defended centres of population, followed
probably by an assault in force on the western front. The fate of the
Poles was even more calamitous when on September 17 the Russians
invaded Eastern Poland. At the outbreak of the war the Foreign
Office inclined to think that, at all events for a time, the Russians
would remain in isolation,! but that they might be willing to sell
war material to Poland or allow the passage of British material to
Poland through Russian territory. Sir W. Seeds, British Ambassador
at Moscow, was asked to make indirect soundings in the matter; he
found that there was little chance of getting Soviet consent to either
suggestion.

A secret protocol attached to the Anglo-Polish treaty of alliance
limited the British guarantee of assistance to the case of German
aggression, but the British Government now had to consider whether
they would or would not declare war on the U.S.S.R. War with
the U.S.S.R. would not save Poland and might make the defeat of
Germany more difficult by forcing the Russians into close alliance
with Germany (and thus greatly weakening the effects of the Allied
blockade), and by the diversion of Anglo-French forces to meet
Russian attacks in the Near or Middle East. In these circumstances
a note of protest to the Soviet Government was useless. The British
Government confined itself to a statement, on September 19, that
the Russian attack was unjustified. “The full implication of these
events’ was ‘not yet apparent’, but we were determined to fulfil our
obligations to Poland and to prosecute the war with all energy until
our objects had been achieved.

These words were carefully chosen; they made it clear that the
British Government did not intend to accept a new partition of
Poland, and that they would not listen to any peace offers at Polish
expense. The need for this clear statement was shown almost at
once. On September 28 a Russo-German treaty established friendly
relations between the two States on the basis of protecting their
territorial gains against third parties. The Soviet Government
promised to give Germany economic support and to consult with
her regarding measures to be taken if Great Britain and France
refused to bring the war to an end. The reference to consultation
might imply that Russia intended to join Germany in the war. The
Foreign Office were inclined to regard it as no more than a verbal
support to Hitler’s attempt to get peace on German terms. On

! The Russians, on the other hand, appear to have been surprised at the determination
of the Allies. On September 2 M. Molotov had given the impression that he expected
Great Britain and France to accept Italian mediation, and in any case, not to go to war
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October 6 Hitler made an offer of negotiation in a speech which,
as usual, failed entirely to measure the depth of feeling in Great
Britain. His argument was that Great Britain and France had gone
to war to save Poland. They had not saved Poland. Hence they had
no reason to continue fighting.

The Foreign Office had evidence that Hitler and his entourage
really believed that Great Britain might accept his offer. The War
Cabinet did not even consider the possibility of accepting it. The
only question was whether to make any reply to it. They decided
to reply in order to reaffirm their position and to establish the
fact that responsibility for the slaughter now to be expected in
the west would rest with Germany. Mr. Chamberlain therefore
spoke in this sense on October 12. Once again he avoided language
which might have given the impression of assenting, even tenta-
tively, to the idea of negotiation. He said that it was no part
of British policy to exclude from her rightful place in Europe a
Germany which could live in amity and confidence with other
nations; he also stated plainly that we would not surrender to wrong-
doing or agree to an uneasy truce interrupted by further threats.1

1 I have not found it possible, within the scope of this short History, to record ‘unofficial’
German peace approaches which reached the British Government through various
channels during this period. In some of the earlier overtures Géring was alleged to be, if
not the prime mover, at least an interested party. Approaches were made by or on behalf
of highly placed officers or civilians—individuals or groups— said to fear the outcome
of the pact with the U.S.S.R. and to favour a compromise peace, the removal of
Hitler, and the establishment of a moderate government in Germany. The Foreign
Office could not decide easily how genuine or practical these approaches were. The
emissaries seemed to exaggerate the influence of their party, or group; their ‘terms’,
as far as they were ever defined, generally suggested that they wanted, or anyhow felt
it necessary, if they were to get popular support, to keep most of the advantages gained
by Hitler’s career of treaty-breaking and aggression. Such offers thus appeared to come
to little more than an invitation to Great Britain to buy peace at the sacrifice of the cause
for which she was fighting and the Allies whom she had promised to defend. British
policy towards these approaches was consistent. Approaches which seemed genuine were
answered in terms of Mr. Chamberlain’s statement of October 12, 1939; others were
ignored.

Between the collapse of France and the failure of the German air force to prepare the
way for the invasion of Great Britain, the suggestions continued at intervals. Hitler
himself recommended the British Government to accept the situation and come to terms
before it was too late. The speeches of Mr. Churchill and Lord Halifax, and, above all,
the intensity of British preparations to meet invasion were an adequate reply. In 1941,
when the offers were renewed, instructions were sent to the diplomatic posts where
overtures had been made in the previous months that henceforward all such enquiries
should receive no reply. The only exception was the Prime Minister’s formal answer to
the offer of mediation made, and withdrawn, by Mr. Matsuoka (see below, p. 171).

In the late autumn of 1941, when Hitler was still advertising his ‘New Order’, the
Foreign Office thought a public statement desirable to the effect that the British Govern-
ment were not interested in any peace offer from Hitler and did not think that the peoples
of Europe would accept the erermz.n programme. The Prime Minister, therefore, in a
speech at the Mansion House on November 10, 1941, repeated the refusal to negotiate
with Hitler on any terms. See also below, pp. 478-9.




BELGIAN OBJECTIONS TO STAFF CONTACTS ¢
(i)
Belgian refusal to agree to staff conversations: Italian non-belligerency: the

Anglo-Franco- Turkish treaty of October 19, 1939: French proposals for a
Balkan bloc.

After the rejection of Hitler’s peace offer the general impression in
Great Britain was that the Germans might use their initiative by
attacking at once in the west, and that for a second time they would
disregard the neutrality of Belgium. Hence on the British side the
most important diplomatic action directly connected with military
strategy was an attempt to persuade the Belgian King and Govern-
ment to consent to staff conversations on the question of meeting a
German attack. Great Britain and France had reaffirmed in April,
1937, their guarantee to Belgium, although Belgium was released
from any obligation to France. The Allies, however, assumed that
Belgium would resist a German invasion, and would call for Anglo-
French assistance under the guarantee. The Allies would then send
troops into the country, but the line which the troops would try to
hold could not be improvised. In any case the British and French
air forces would have to attack the German invaders. If they did
not know the Belgian plans of defence they could not avoid the risk
of bombing Belgian troops and civilian refugees on the roads.

Attempts to open staff conversations with the Belgians in February
and May, 1939, had failed. The Chief of the Belgian General Staff
and the Minister of Defence had been favourable to them; the King,
his personal advisers, and the majority of the Cabinet feared that
the Germans would hear of the conversations and treat them as a
breach of Belgian neutrality. In June, 1939, the Belgian Government
issued a statement that, in the event of a war, they intended to
follow a policy of neutrality and that there was no question of
establishing contacts with foreign General Staffs.

Early in September, 1939, the War Cabinet considered the
advisability of sending a special emissary to Belgium and also of
asking His Majesty the King to write a personal letter to King
Leopold. On the advice of the Foreign Office this plan was given
up, and the subject was raised, without success, through ordinary
diplomatic channels. The Belgian attitude did not change during
October. King Leopold even complained to the British Government,
and personally in a letter to His Majesty the King, that we were
inviting the Belgian Government to act dishonourably in holding
staff conversations with us, and thereby going ‘behind the back of
the Germans who had equally guaranteed Belgian neutrality’. On
November 7, however, the Belgian Prime Minister told Sir R. Clive,
British Ambassador at Brussels, that a German attack on Belgium

E
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and the Netherlands seemed imminent. The Dutch were even more
disturbed. At the invitation of the Queen of the Netherlands, King
Leopold and M. Spaak had gone to The Hague on the previous
day, and had agreed to send a joint offer of mediation to the three
belligerent Powers. M. Spaak said that this offer was an attempt to
gain time.

On the evening of November 8 Sir R. Clive asked what the
Belgian Government would do if the Dutch alone were attacked.
M. Spaak asked what the Allies would do. Sir R. Clive replied by
asking whether the Belgian Government would allow the passage
of Allied troops across Belgian territory. M. Spaak thought that the
Belgian Government would give their permission. Sir R. Clive asked
why the Belgians had not made a move during the day to establish
military contact with the Allies. M. Spaak said that he hoped
contact would shortly be established, but that ‘there was still
opposition from a certain quarter.” On November 10, Sir R. Clive,
in accordance with instructions from the Foreign Office, again raised
with M. Spaak the question of co-ordinating plans with the Belgian
military authorities in order that the Allies might be able to give
effective support to the Belgians and the Dutch. The Belgians, how-
ever, drew back when the attack did not take place, and the German
Government issued a communiqué that they would respect Belgian
and Dutch neutrality as long as the two countries showed themselves
capable of maintaining it. The War Cabinet then asked Admiral
Sir R. Keyes, who was a personal friend of the Belgian royal family,
to see the King in order to explain why we thought it important
that Belgium should regard a German attack on the Netherlands
as a casus belli. Neither the King nor M. Spaak would make a
definite statement on the matter. The King said that in his view
the decision would be affirmative, but that it could not be taken,
and therefore could not be announced, before the Germans attacked.
The King also hoped that he might go on trying to bring about an
acceptable peace; the opening of negotiations would be in the
interests of the Allies and of Belgium, since Hitler might be induced
to delay his offensive.1

The Allies—as they were to discover not less disastrously in their
dealings with the Scandinavian States—could do little or nothing
to overcome the terror of the small States as long as the Germans
held the initiative and were stronger in numbers and material than
the Allies. The small States were playing for time in the hope that

1 The question of the line to which the Allies would advance in the event of a German
attack on Belgium is outside the scope of this History. This question is fully discussed in
Grand Strategy, 11.
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the war might come to an end or that the Allies would become so
strong that the Germans would be forced to the defensive, and that
small nations could then ‘creep out into the sun again.’ In the case
of Belgium the Allies had at least the advantage that they were
dealing with a friendly State which was unlikely to join the enemy.
The position with regard to Italy and Japan was different.

During the first months of the war the danger of Japanese inter-
vention was not great. The Russo-German agreement had shocked
Japanese opinion. Japan was occupied in China, and even the
Japanese military extremists, although reckless in their largest
decisions, moved cautiously, and step by step, in actual tactics.! In
the case of Italy the danger also did not seem immediate. There
was no doubt about Mussolini’s inclinations or his vindictiveness
towards Great Britain as the country which had enforced sanctions
against Italy. Furthermore, while an Allied victory might well mean
the end of the fascist régime in Italy, a victory for the Axis Powers
would confirm Mussolini’s own position, show his good judgment
in making an alliance with Germany, and secure for him some at
least of his demands at the expense of Great Britain and France.

On the other hand, Mussolini had not encouraged Hitler to go
to war in September, 1939, and had made it clear that, at all events
for the time, he did not feel obliged to fight at the side of his ally.
He described this ‘stepping down’ in high-sounding terms, but the
facts were obvious. The Italian people did not want war; their
wishes mattered little to Mussolini, since he knew that they would
follow his lead, and that without political revolution—for which there
were no leaders—they could not do otherwise. Mussolini hesitated
because Italy was not ready for war and could not get help from the
Germans at sea or reckon on sufficient German supplies by land to
withstand an Allied blockade.

Above all, Mussolini could not be sure that Germany would win
the war. It is probable that at any time between the outbreak of
war and the German successes in Norway, he would have preferred
a negotiated peace without military victory for either side. At the
price of using his influence to secure such a peace, he might hope to
obtain concessions from Great Britain and France. Italy would thus
strengthen her position, and, in the uneasy balance which would
follow a compromise peace, Italian bargaining power would be an
important factor, while Germany would continue to exist as a
barrier against communism.

At all events, the British Government had reason to expect that
Mussolini would remain ‘malevolently’ neutral, or non-belligerent,
unless the Allies took some action directly contrary to Italian interests

1 See below, Chapter VIII, section (i), for British policy towards Japan in the first
year of the war.
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or unless the Germans appeared to be winning the war easily and
quickly. Italian bargaining power was a wasting asset, and Mussolini
could not wait too long, but in the first months of the war there were
no obvious signs of a rapid victory for either side. German military
inaction after the defeat of Poland surprised Italian opinion and
even suggested doubts whether after all the Germans would win the
war. The much-vaunted German air force did little. At sea the Allies
held their own against submarine attacks and countered within a
few weeks the new danger of the magnetic mine. The victory of the
British 8-inch and 6-inch gun cruisers against the 11-inch guns of the
‘pocket battleship’ Admiral Graf Spee was a warning to the Italians
of the risks of a battle with the British navy.

There were arguments in favour of compelling Mussolini to choose
at once between open war or full collaboration with the Allies. A
‘knock-out blow’ against one of the Axis Powers would affect the
morale of the other, and strengthen the position of the Allies in
south-east Europe. In any case, unless Mussolini were compelled to
submit to the full exercise of the Allied rights of belligerency at sea,
the blockade of Germany would remain imperfect.

Once again, however, the resources of the Allies did not allow
them to take the initiative or permit any large-scale diversion from
the main objective of building up an overwhelming concentration
against Germany. Hence the wiser policy was to avoid forcing
Mussolini to make his choice. The Italian acceptance of a British
offer to discuss questions of trade seemed to justify a policy of silence
on the main issue in spite of the despatch of Italian reinforcements
to Libya. Ciano said to Sir P. Loraine, British Ambassador at Rome,
on November 13 that the ‘present purpose’ of the Italian Govern-
ment was to ‘carry on the life of the country’ on a basis of ‘non-
belligerency’. If this decision were not maintained—in other words,
if Mussolini planned to enter the war on the German side—Ciano
would tell Sir P. Loraine in time to allow an ‘exchange of views’.
Ciano’s promise might be no more than an Italian method of re-
insurance, and the ‘exchange of views’ might well turn out to be
merely an attempt at blackmail, but the winter months went by
without any shift from ‘non-belligerency’.

The loss of initiative which compelled the Allies to deal cautiously
with Mussolini also affected their policy in south-east Europe. Here
there was a certain divergence between French and British views.
This divergence was due to the anxiety of the French to draw the
main centre of warfare away from the western front and also to use
the armies of the Balkan States as a means of redressing the numerical
balance of forces in favour of the Allies. As long, however, as the
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Germans did not attack in south-east Europe the two Governments
were agreed that their interests would best be served by the creation
of a Balkan bloc resolved to defend itself against German attack.
They were also agreed that any encouragement given to the for-
mation of such a bloc must not be such as to supply Italy with a
reason or even a pretext for abandoning her neutrality. The difference
between Britishand French policylay in the respective estimates of what
could be done to encourage the Balkan States without provoking Italy.

There were other obstacles in the way of a formation of a Balkan
bloc. The States of south-east Europe were, like Belgium, afraid of
Germany, and concerned primarily with avoiding German attack.
Roumania was equally nervous of Russia, and Yugoslavia and Greece
nervous of Italy. Hungary and Bulgaria had territorial claims
against their neighbours. Great Britain and France, at the outbreak
of the war, were on the point of concluding a treaty of mutual
assistance with Turkey, but the difficulties in the final stages of
negotiation justified the Foreign Office in refusing to be led into
wishful thinking about the possibilities of military cooperation in
south-east Europe.

Although Turkey would probably not have entered into any new
commitment in her foreign relations if Italy had not invaded Albania,
Mussolini’s speeches in favour of an Italian occupation of Anatolia
had not been forgotten, and the Italian position in the Dodecanese
was a threat as well as a source of discontent to Turkey. The seizure
of Albania was more serious since it affected the status quo in the
Balkans. Hence, on May 12, 1939, the Turkish Government joined
Great Britain in a declaration that the two countries would conclude
a long-term agreement, and meanwhile would cooperate on a basis
of mutual aid ‘in the event of an act of aggression leading to war
in the Mediterranean area.’

At the outbreak of war the political and military terms of an
Anglo-Franco-Turkish treaty were largely agreed, though the
financial and economic clauses were outstanding. The Turkish
demands were high, but the Foreign Office thought that they were
not too high a price to pay for the political and military agreement.
Hence a tripartite treaty was initialled on September 28, 1939.
According to this treaty, (i) Great Britain and France promised
help to Turkey in the event of aggression against her by a European
Power, (ii) Great Britain and France on the one part, and Turkey
on the other part promised mutual assistance in the event of ‘an act
of aggression by a European Power leading to war in the Mediter-
ranean area’ involving the signatories, (iii) Turkey promised aid to

1 The French Government would have joined in this declaration if difficulties had not
arisen with Turkey over the cession of the Hatay (the Sanjak of Alexandretta). On
June 23, 1939, after the cession had been satisfactorily arranged, a Franco-Turkish
declaration was announced in terms similar to those agreed with Great Britain.
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Great Britain and France in the fulfilment of their guarantees to
Greece and Roumania, (iv) if Great Britain and France were at
war with a European Power in consequence of an aggression by that
Power to which provisions (ii) and (iii) did not apply, the signatories
would consult together, and Turkey would observe at least a benevo-
lent neutrality towards Great Britain and France. A ‘suspense’ clause
postponed the application of these terms until Turkey had received
sufficient war material for the defence of her Thracian frontier; a
protocol was added to the treaty to the effect that the obligations
undertaken by Turkey were not to have the effect of compelling her
to go to war with the U.S.S.R. It was intended to keep this protocol
secret, but the Turkish Government announced its existence.

The Russian attitude to the treaty was indeed disquieting. At the
end of September the Soviet Government invited M. Sarajoglu,
Turkish Foreign Minister, to Moscow, in order to discuss ‘matters
of common interest’, including a Russo-Turkish pact. The Russians
asked that the Turkish undertaking to support Great Britain and
France in the execution of their guarantees to Roumania should be
narrowed down to provide only for consultation, and that the
protocol exempting Turkey from taking part in war against the
U.S.S.R. should be widened to secure the suspension of the treaty
as a whole if the U.S.S.R. were engaged in war with Great Britain
and France.

The Foreign Office thought that, in order to avoid putting a
strain on Russo-Turkish relations, we should acquiesce in these
demands on the condition that we were shown the text of the pro-
posed Russo-Turkish pact, and that this pact did not preclude
Turkey from coming into the war on the Allied side. The Russo-
Turkish negotiations broke down—mainly over Russian demands
(1) that the treaty should not involve the U.S.S.R. in taking part
in a war against Germany, and (ii) that Turkey should deny passage
through the Straits to warships and transports other than those of
Black Sea Powers. After the breakdown the Turkish Government
signed the Anglo-Franco-Turkish treaty in the form in which it had
been initialled, but the Foreign Office suspected that the Russians
would not have given up a pact with Turkey unless they had made
some arrangement with Germany for Russo-German action in the
Balkans. Hence it was even more desirable and more difficult to
secure a Balkan bloc.

At the second meeting of the Supreme War Council on September
22 the French representatives put forward proposals for establishing
an Allied force at Salonika or Istanbul. The British representatives
argued that apart from the very heavy strain on Allied resources the
presence of an Allied force in one of the Balkan States was in-
compatible with the plan of a neutral Balkan bloc. The War Cabinet
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continued to be a little nervous about these French suggestions; they
decided before the fourth meeting of the Supreme War Council on
December 19 that the British representatives should hold to the
agreed Anglo-French policy. At the meeting the French once more
proposed measures for helping the Balkan countries if they should
wish to resist aggression. They suggested a diplomatic approach,
with a promise of material help, to Turkey, Roumania, Greece and
Yugoslavia.

Mr. Chamberlain tried to make the discussion more precise. He
pointed out that each of the Balkan countries was differently situated,
and unlikely to agree to enter a bloc merely on a promise of mutual
support. We could do little, for example, to help Yugoslavia. The
French had in mind the ninety divisions which the Balkan countries
could put into the field, but the military value of these divisions was
unequal, and there seemed little prospect of a united Balkan force.
In any case, before we could give an undertaking to the Balkan
countries we should have to secure at least the benevolent neutrality
of Italy. The Foreign Office were doubtful about an approach to the
Italian Government. Although Mussolini hesitated to take the risk of
war, he was as closely bound as ever to Germany, and was continuing
to protest against British contraband control. He was therefore likely
to pass on to the Germans any hint given to him about the Allied
plans, and would also try to prevent the Allies from putting these
plans into effect. We were considering a Scandinavian expedition;
since we could not send expeditions to Scandinavia and the Balkans
at the same time, we should be wiser to say nothing to Italy.

On December 24 the French Ambassador in Rome discussed the
Balkan situation informally with Ciano. Ciano agreed about the
desirability of a Balkan bloc. Five days later Sir P. Loraine also
mentioned the matter to him. He told Ciano that he had been given
a hint from the Ministry of Foreign Affairs that the Allies were
suspected of ‘preparing something’ in the Balkans. Ciano answered
Sir P. Loraine on January g, 1940, that Mussolini was not yet willing
to discuss the Balkans. Sir P. Loraine thought that Mussolini wished
to keep his freedom of manoeuvre and that, although—as earlier—he
wanted a German, not an Allied victory, he would like best of all a
negotiated peace with the balance tipped on the German side.



CHAPTER 11

The development and collapse of the Allied plans with
regard to Scandinavia: the political consequences of the
allied defeat in Norway: Anglo-American relations
before the opening of the German offensive in the West

(1)

Proposal to cut off the supply of iron ore to Germany through Narvik : French
proposal for an expedition to aid Finland and to occupy the Swedish ore fields.

considering an expedition to Scandinavia illustrates the efforts
made by the Allies to find some way of gaining the initiative.
From the French point of view a diversion in Scandinavia, like the
proposed action in the Balkans, had the advantage of attacking the
Germans in an area distant from France. For the British a Scandi-
navian expedition offered a chance of using the greater mobility
given to them by sea-power. Unfortunately the project suffered from
many of the defects which had caused disaster to British overseas
expeditions in the early stages of previous wars. The circumstances in
which it had been first put forward quickly changed. It took too little
account of enemy counter-moves. It was neither pushed rapidly to
execution nor abandoned when the opportunity had passed. From
first to last it was an affair of improvisation with insufficient study
behind it.1
The occasion, or rather opportunity, out of which the Scandinavian
project arose was, broadly speaking, the Russian attack on Finland.
This attack opened on Novémber 30, 1939, two days after the
Russians had denounced their treaty of non-aggression with Finland
and nearly two months after they had summoned a Finnish repre-
sentative to Moscow to discuss ‘certain political questions.” While
the discussions were taking place the British Government continued
their cautious policy towards the U.S.S.R. They did not wish to
drive the Russians into closer collaboration with Germany. They
could not prevent a Russian advance in the Baltic; such an advance
indeed would matter little to the Allied prosecution of the war and
might cause trouble between Russia and Germany. The Foreign

THE fact that in December, 1939, the British Government were

1 The absence of any adequate ‘security’ arrangements about the plans is also a factor
which probably influenced the course of events.

16




THE RUSSIAN ATTACK ON FINLAND 17

Office assumed that, in spite of their denunciation of the ‘imperialist’
motives of the Allies in continuing the war, the Soviet Government
did not want a strong and victorious Germany, and that their aims
were to secure their own survival and to hold the balance in order
to ‘bolshevise’ an exhausted Europe.

The Foreign Office realised that the only way of regaining some
kind of political contact with the Russians lay through trade nego-
tiations. Lord Halifax therefore asked M. Maisky on September 23,
1939, whether the Soviet Government would be willing to discuss a
war trade agreement. M. Maisky replied four days later that the
Soviet Government would enter such discussions if we really desired
them. Later M. Maisky hinted at the possibility of a barter arrange-
ment; on October 16 he answered an enquiry about the risk that
the Russians might pass on to the Germans material received under
this agreement. He said that, if the Soviet Government made a trade
agreement, they would do so in their own interest. He also argued
that Russian action in the Baltic was defensive and necessary because
‘it was an uncertain world, and no friendship was secure in these
days.’

On October 24 the War Cabinet agreed that, unless the Russians
were making more and far-reaching economic concessions to
Germany, we should offer a trade agreement as a means towards
the improvement of Anglo-Russian political relations, but that we
should tell M. Maisky that the plan would be put into effect only if
political conditions allowed, and that the negotiations would lapse
in the event of a Russian attack on Finland. Lord Halifax spoke to
M. Maisky on October 25, but for over a month there was no
Russian answer. On November 27 Lord Halifax asked M. Maisky
to the Foreign Office for a general discussion. M. Maisky defended
the Russian demands on Finland, and complained that British
diplomacy was everywhere working against Russian interests. Lord
Halifax said that this was untrue, and that, in spite of all that had
happened since the signature of the Russo-German pact, we were
continuing to try for better relations; we had, in fact, made proposals
for a trade agreement, and had had no reply.

The Russian attack on Finland destroyed any immediate chance
of improving Anglo-Russian political relations. The Finnish Govern-
ment appealed on December 3 to the League of Nations. The Foreign
Office thought that the appeal would not bring any effective help
and that it would merely advertise ‘the failure, at the moment, of the
ideas of consultation and co-operation in the face of a number of
gangster Great Powers . . . Each meeting of this kind brings the
League into greater disrepute, and will make it harder to set up
anything in its place after the war.” The Foreign Office hoped that
every country would do what it could to help Finland, but that there
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would be no proposal to impose sanctions or to expel the U.S.S.R.
from the League. The imposition of sanctions would be ineffective,
and expulsion, as matters stood, slightly ridiculous. Nevertheless, if
expulsion were proposed, we should have to vote for it. When, on
the initiative of a number of Latin American States, a motion was
brought forward to the effect that the U.S.S.R. had placed itself
outside the Covenant, and was no longer a member of the League,
the British representative voted with the majority.

The British Government had already begun to send the Finns
such material as they could spare, but at this stage they considered
direct military support impracticable, especially in view of the
obvious unwillingness of Sweden and Norway to go to war on behalf
of Finland. The Foreign Office agreed that unless the Russian attack
on Finland were followed by aggression against the Scandinavian
States there were no valid grounds for changing our policy of
avoiding war with the U.S.S.R. Thus at first the War Cabinet did
not even discuss any possible strategic connexion between the control
of the Swedish iron ore fields! and intervention on behalf of the Finns.
All that they had in mind before mid-December was the use of sea
power to interfere with the ore traffic to Germany from Narvik. The
British Government had already stated on September 16 that they
would regard a German attack on Norway as equivalent to an
attack on Great Britain. This declaration, to which the Norwegians
did not reply, had been made at the suggestion of the Foreign Office
in order to secure Norwegian co-operation in blockade measures. It
had not envisaged interference in Norwegian territorial waters with-
out the consent of the Norwegian Government. The first proposal
for direct action against the Narvik traffic by laying a minefield in
Norwegian territorial waters? was made by Mr. Churchill on
September 19, 1939. This proposal was not fully discussed until the
middle of November. Mr. Churchill then submitted a plan for a
‘northern barrage’—a minefield from the Orkneys to the Norwegian
coast.3 The preparation of the barrage would take about six months.
Mr. Churchill therefore suggested to Lord Halifax that we might lay
mines at once to prevent the passage of ore ships from Narvik after
the freezing of the Gulf of Bothnia. The Foreign Office doubted the

1 The iron ore fields of Kiruna and Gillivare in northern Sweden were one of the
main German sources of supply. The ore was taken by rail either to the Norwegian port
of Narvik or to Lulea and the smaller Swedish ports on the Gulf of Bothnia. Narvik was
ice-free throughout the year. Lulea was closed during the winter months. An Allied
expedition which landed at Narvik and followed the railway to the Gulf of Bothnia and
thence into Finland would, literally, take the ore fields in its stride.

2 j.e. in order to drive shipping outside these waters.

3 This plan had been adopted in the latter part of the First World War. The Norwegian
Government had agreed at the end of September, 1918, to lay the mines in their waters,
but they explained that they were doing so in their own interests, and that they did not
recognise any right of the belligerents to require them to take such action.
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expediency as well as the legality of this plan. We could not describe
a minefield as a measure to prevent the operation of German
submarines in Norwegian territorial waters; we might involve our-
selves in ‘serious difficulties if the Norwegians began to clear the
mines and we took steps to prevent them. In any case a minefield could
be laid only at one point, and a continuous watch would be difficult.

On December 11 Mr. Churchill raised the general question of the
strategic results of an extension of the war in the event of a Russian
attack on Norway and Sweden. The War Cabinet asked the Foreign
Office to draw up a memorandum on the political aspects of the
question. The Foreign Office took the view that the Scandinavian
States would continue to try to avoid war with Russia, though they
would do everything short of war to help Finland. Norway indeed
could give little help to the Finns. Russia was unlikely, after the
defeat of Finland, to make demands on the Scandinavian States of a
kind which would bring about an appeal from Sweden for German
intervention. Allied assistance to Norway and Sweden would raise
very serious military problems. The Swedish Foreign Office had
already told Sir E. Monson, British Minister at Stockholm, that they
hoped we should remain at peace with the U.S.S.R. since a declara-
tion of war against Russia would force Germany to support her, and
bring Sweden into the field of operations. The Swedes did not think
that the Allies could help them.

Mr. Churchill, however, believed that, with our command of the
sea, we could meet a German invasion of Scandinavia. He proposed,
in a memorandum of December 16, that we should stop the ore
traffic to Germany both from Narvik and from the Gulf of Bothnia.l
Mr. Churchill’s political argument was that we could not continue
to respect all the rights of neutrals if Germany disregarded them. At
this stage Mr. Churchill did not suggest the seizure of the ore fields.
This proposal was put forward by the French, in an indirect form,
on December 19 at the fourth meeting of the Supreme War Council
in Paris. The French thought it possible that the Germans might
seize the ore fields either in agreement with the Russians (who would
take the Finnish nickel mines at Petsamo) or in order to prevent the
Russians from getting possession of them.2 M. Daladier quoted a
report of the German industrialist Thyssen to Hitler and Géring that
victory or defeat for Germany depended on the control of the
Swedish ore fields. M. Daladier thought that, if Germany seized the
ore fields, she might prolong the war by one or even two years.
The Allies should therefore inform the Scandinavian Governments

1 Mr. Churchill considered that a minefield could be laid by submarines in the Gulf
of Bothnia. '

? i.e. if the Russians entered Sweden to prevent help reaching the Finns across Swedish
territory.
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that they were hoping for Scandinavian co-operation in aid to
Finland; that they regarded the preservation and integrity of Norway
and Sweden as an important element in European security and that
they were ready to consider what help they could provide against
any possible consequences of Swedish or Norwegian help to Finland.

The Foreign Office view of the French proposal was that it
invited Sweden and Norway to go to war with the U.S.S.R. and
pledged Allied support to them if they did so. This policy might save
Finland. It would also solve the iron ore problem by allowing us to
establish ourselves at Narvik and Lulea, but it would be contrary
to the recommendations of the Chiefs of Staff that we should avoid
war with Russia. The Foreign Office agreed with Mr. Churchill that
we could not go on observing all the rules of international law while
Germany broke them. On the other hand the stoppage of the Narvik
traffic was not of great importance unless we could also stop the
traffic from the Baltic ports.

When the War Cabinet discussed the various proposals on
December 22, Mr. Churchill wanted to accept the French plan, and
also to take action at once against the ore traffic. He thought that
we could meet German attempts to seize the ore fields, and that there
would be advantages in conducting operations in Scandinavia,
where we could use our sea power, rather than on the western front.
Lord Halifax, however, pointed out that, if we had in mind to accept
the larger French proposal, we should have to land a force at Narvik
and sent it into Sweden by rail. We could hardly make the landing
without Norwegian consent. Hence we should avoid prejudicing this
larger plan by taking immediate action against the Narvik traffic
which might antagonise the Scandinavian Governments. We ought
to give all possible assistance to Finland, approach Norway and
Sweden on the lines suggested by the French, and await the results
of our approach.

The War Cabinet took a middle line between these views. They
decided to send the proposed communication to the Scandinavian
Governments, and also to tell them that we intended to stop the
supply of iron ore to Germany from Sweden. This decision did
not commit the War Cabinet to anything more, in form, than an
offer of assistance, on certain conditions, to Norway and Sweden.
Nonetheless, from this time, the smaller plan of action against the
Narvik traffic became entangled with the larger plan to forestall any
possible German occupation of the ore fields by occupying them
ourselves as an indirect consequence of assisting the Finns. The
Narvik plan might or might not have been a wise move; at all events
it was primarily an exercise of sea power, limited in scope, and
requiring no great diversion of forces. It did not directly concern
Sweden or require the active co-operation of Norway. The plan
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could be abandoned if political or military reasons made its execution
undesirable. It was of itself unlikely to bring about a German
invasion of Norway.

The larger plan was a far more difficult undertaking from which
it would be impossible to withdraw without an admission of major
defeat. The démarche to the Scandinavian Governments was not an
actual military commitment, but it implied a promise of military
aid and indeed, especially on the French side, the reason for the
approach was to secure the consent of Norway and Sweden to
measures which would certainly involve these countries in the war
against Germany. It is remarkable that the Allies did not take into
account the effect upon the Scandinavian peoples of the fate of
Poland. The attitude of the Belgian King and his Government had
shewn that the small nations would try to keep out of the war as
long as possible and that they were afraid even of precautionary
measures in their own defence. The Allies could bring large-scale
assistance to Belgium within a few hours; they could not reach
Scandinavia as quickly or in such force. Furthermore at this time
a German march through Belgium seemed much more likely than
an attack on Norway or Sweden if the Scandinavian Powers behaved
discreetly towards Hitler. Hence it was most improbable that the
Allied démarche would meet with anything more than an emphatic
and anxious refusal. Even before the approach was made, the
Foreign Office had further evidence of Swedish nervousness. Sir E.
Monson reported that the Swedish Government had asked for less
publicity about British assistance to the Finns. M. Boheman,
Secretary-General of the Swedish Foreign Office, said to a member
of the British Legation that more definite action by Sweden in
support of Finland would be ‘suicide’, and that Sweden did not want
Allied assurances. The King of Sweden in conversation with Sir E.
Monson ‘spoke wistfully of the possibility of peace with Germany’,
and suggested that a conference might be proposed; in such an
event Sweden might get help against Russia. The King agreed that
Hitler was not to be trusted, but said that Goéring was very different.

(ii)
Refusal of the Scandinavian Governments to allow the passage of an Allied
expedition: the end of Finnish resistance.

In view of their information about the attitude of Sweden the Foreign
Office recommended that we should say nothing to the two Scandi-
navian Governments about our intention to stop the ore traffic.



22 COLLAPSE OF ALLIED SCANDINAVIAN PLANS

Hence on December 27 the communication—in the form of an aide-
mémoire—to the Norwegian and Swedish Ministers in London did
not mention the proposals to stop the Narvik traffic, but was limited
to a statement that the Allies proposed to give Finland ‘unofficially

. . all the indirect assistance in their power.” They hoped that the
Scandinavian Governments would be ‘similarly disposed to help
Finland and ready to afford all necessary facilities for help from
other sources.” They wished to assure the two Governments that
they were prepared to consider how they could assist them ‘against
the possible consequences’ of their (Swedish or Norwegian) ‘direct
or indirect assistance . . . to Finland.’

The Swedish Government replied on January 4, 1940, that the
maintenance of their neutrality would best further Finnish as well
as common European interests. Lord Halifax pointed out to the
Swedish Minister in London that the reply did not make an explicit
reference to the Allied offer. The Minister said that neither Russia
nor Germany had put direct pressure on Sweden and that it seemed
too early to discuss an eventuality which had not yet arisen.l The
Norwegian reply was not received until January 15, 1940. The
Norwegian Government were grateful for the Anglo-French assur-
ance regarding the preservation of the integrity and independence
of Norway, but did not at present wish to have this assurance ‘more
precisely defined.’

Meanwhile the War Cabinet considered the matter again on
January 2 and 3. The Chiefs of Staff, whose advice had been asked,
recommended the larger plan if its success were thought to be
decisive for the war. They did not recommend the minor operation
against the Narvik traffic if we intended the larger plan, since we
might - antagonise Norway, and possibly Sweden, and give the
Germans a pretext for demands on either or both of those countries.
Since we could not send effective aid until March, the Scandinavian
countries might accept the German demands. Mr. Churchill, how-
ever, had not changed his views about immediate action against the
Narvik traffic. He suggested that the Chiefs of Staff should be asked
to reconsider the possible effect on us of a German occupation of
bases in southern Norway. The Prime Minister concluded from the
report of the Chiefs of Staff that the military consequences would be
less unfavourable if the Germans did not get beyond Christiansand
and Oslo, and that we could keep them out of the western ports of
Norway. Upon this assumption the War Cabinet agreed (i) to tell

1 The Minister added that some Swedish newspapers were suggesting that the Allies
thought that it would be an advantage to them to create a new Scandinavian front. Sir
C. Dormer, British Minister at Oslo, had reported on January 2 that German propaganda
was asserting that the Allies were using the desire to help Finland as a means of bringing
Norway and Sweden into the war. They could then cut off German ore supplies and
establish submarine bases on the Norwegian coast. Germany, however, would not be
caught unprepared.
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the Norwegians that we were proposing to stop the Narvik traffic,
and (ii) to await their reply before taking a final decision.

On January 6 Lord Halifax, with the approval of the French, gave
an aide-mémoire to the Norwegian Minister stating that the German
torpedoing—without warning—of two British ships and one Greek ship
in Norwegian territorial waters had deprived these waters of their
neutral character. We therefore felt obliged to extend our own naval
operations to prevent the use of Norwegian territorial waters by
German ships and trade. Lord Halifax gave an aide-mémoire in similar
terms to the Swedish Minister ‘as a matter of courtesy’, since Swedish
goods were shipped to Germany from Norwegian ports.

The Norwegian Government replied on January 8.! They con-
tested the facts about the sinking of ships and said that in any case
infractions of their neutrality by one belligerent did not authorise
another belligerent to take similar action. They also could not believe
that Great Britain would ‘drive a small neutral country into a war,’
though this would be the result if the action mentioned in the aide-
mémoire were taken. The Swedish Government also protested strongly
against our proposal. M. Boheman told the British Chargé d’affaires
that the result would be a German occupation of Denmark, and
possibly the end of the independent existence of all the Scandinavian
States.” He added: ‘I should have thought that the British Govern-
ment had the fate of a sufficient number of smaller States on their
consciences as it is.’

The War Cabinet discussed the situation on January 8, 9, 10, 11
and 12. The Foreign Office continued to recommend that, if we
intended to carry out our larger plan, we should give up the smaller
plan of interference with the Narvik traffic, since our action might
involve the Scandinavian countries in war with Germany, and thus
cause the greatest resentment against us. The War Cabinet decided
once again to postpone a decision, and meanwhile to put to the
Norwegian and Swedish Governments alternative plans by which
they would themselves cut off German ore supplies. Mr. Churchill,
however, remained in favour of immediate action. He doubted
whether the Germans would retaliate by an invasion of southern
Norway. We could not go on allowing neutrals to tie our hands
while we were fighting for their liberties.2

On January 17 the War Cabinet had still not come to a final
conclusion. They agreed with a suggestion from Lord Halifax that
he should see the Scandinavian Ministers again and explain our
case firmly to them. The interviews took place on January 18. Lord

E The King of Norway also wrote a personal letter to H.M. the King.

2 Mr. Churchill warned the War Cabinet on January 12 that we might be mistaken in
thinking that time was on our side. The central position of Germany allowed her to
deliver thrusts in several directions, and we might well have a much graver situation
ahead of us.
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Halifax argued that we had a right to demand that the Germans
should not be permitted to break all the rules and commit acts of
inhumanity everywhere on the high seas while we were expected
to refrain even from the smallest technical violations of international
law. It was time that the neutral governments applied their minds
to considering the best means of helping rather than hindering a
cause which they could not wish to see defeated.

The Scandinavian Governments would not be moved. On January
19 the Norwegian Minister left another memorandum at the Foreign
Office protesting against our proposed action, and concluding with
the words ‘The circumstances that Great Britain is fighting for its
life cannot give it a right to jeopardise the existence of Norway.’1 On
January 26, when Mr. Mallet, who had succeeded Sir E. Monson
as Minister to Sweden, presented his credentials, the King of Sweden
repeated the view that Sweden could not go to war openly in
support of Finland, and that our proposed action against the Narvik
traffic would lead to immediate German reprisals against Sweden.

On January 29 the War Cabinet considered another report from
the Chiefs of Staff. The latter were now in favour of the ‘larger
operation’ since it would give us our ‘first and best chance of wresting
the initiative’ from the Germans and of ‘shortening the war.” Their
report stated the naval, military, and air forces required for the
occupation of Narvik, Trondhjem, Bergen and Stavanger, an
advance to Lulea before the breaking of the ice, and the provision
of aid to the Swedes in southern Sweden. The War Cabinet post-
poned a decision until after military discussions with the French.
The French had suggested a landing at Petsamo which would
certainly mean war with Russia, and which seemed to the Chiefs
of Staff in other respects impracticable.2 Although these discussions
did not take matters much further, the War Cabinet decided on
February 2 to reject the Petsamo proposal and to go on with the
‘larger plan’ which combined aid to Finland with the occupation
of the ore fields.

The Prime Minister, Lord Halifax, and Mr. Churchill went to

1 On the same day M. Koht, the Norwegian Foreign Minister, said in the Storting
that ‘when a ship is blown up and the crew are killed, we have no proof left of who is
responsible, and we cannot address our complaints to any one government; we can only
blame the war itself.” The Foreign Office instructed Sir C. Dormer on January 24 to
point out the bad impression made in Great Britain by this speech, and to say that ‘is
the Norwegian Government’s conception of neutrality is that both belligerents earn
equal blame for action known to be taken by one of them, the other will have less
inducement to respect Norwegian interests.’

2 On January 18 the French Ambassador gave the Foreign Office a memorandum
from the French Government urging the importance of immediate action at Narvik (with
the possibility that this action might lead to the control of the ore-fields) and of using
Polish ships serving with the British navy to operate against the Russians in the Arctic.
The British Government had already refused this latter proposal. The memorandum
pointed out that the defeat of Finland would have serious consequences for the Allies
since they had publicly assured the Finns of support.
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Paris on February 5 for a meeting of the Supreme War Council.
Mr. Chamberlain explained our plan. He said that the expedition
would require Scandinavian consent; the force must be substantial,
and must consist of regular divisions. They would, however, go as
‘volunteers,” and Russia need not declare war against the Allies
unless she wished to do so. The German reaction would be one of
‘consternation’. We should have to leave a force near to the ore
deposits; the Germans would find it hard to turn out this force,
though they might occupy points in southern Norway, and we might
have to assist the Swedes.

So far the Prime Minister was repeating the advice given by the
Chiefs of Staff. He now turned to the diplomatic side. He thought
that the Finns, if they were told of our plan, would appeal to Sweden
and Norway to allow passage across their territory; that the Scandi-
navian countries would not refuse this sole means of saving Finland,
and that we could meet the argument of danger from Germany by
offering help against a German attack. If Norway and Sweden
become involved in war with Germany, the Allies would gain by the
diversion of German forces and the stoppage of supplies vital to
German industry. M. Daladier agreed with these proposals. He
asked what we should do if the Scandinavian countries refused
passage. Mr. Chamberlain said that we must take this risk, but that
refusal was unlikely, though we might get formal protests.

The military assumptions behind this policy were remarkable. The
belief that the Scandinavian Governments could be persuaded to
enter the war on behalf of Finland was hardly less astonishing in
view of the assertions which they had already made, and which, in
fact, they continued to repeat. Two days after the meeting of the
Supreme War Council the Swedish Foreign Minister told Mr. Mallet
that Great Britain would be unable to help Sweden in the event of
a sudden attack by Germany. The Germans could destroy every city
in Sweden by bombing, while it would take the Allies five months
to bring 100,000 men into the country. On February 10 the Swedish
Minister in London, on his return from Stockholm, repeated that
the Swedes were determined to maintain their neutrality. They did
not feel responsible for the conditions which had led to the war in
Europe. They also could not discuss with the Allies the possibility
of military assistance in a situation arising out of aid given by the
Scandinavian countries to Finland. The Minister admitted that
Swedish policy might not seem to the Allies ‘very heroic, nor perhaps
wholly in accordance with purely Allied interests.” The Norwegian
Government were equally clear. They had sent another note on
February 2 declaring that Norwegian neutrality was ‘the unanimous

F
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will of the Norwegian people.” On February 19 the King of Sweden
issued a public statement—after a press report that the Swedish
Government had refused a Finnish request for military aid—that he
regarded it as his ‘imperative duty to make the utmost endeavour’
to keep Sweden out of the war between the Great Powers, and that
he had warned the Finnish Government ‘from the very first’ not to
count on Swedish military intervention.

Meanwhile the first requirement of the Allied plans—an appeal
from Finland—seemed less likely to be fulfilled. The Finns were
coming to the end of their resources in men and material and the
Allied offers appeared insufficient. Even if the Allies could send
larger numbers more quickly, there seemed no chance that the
Swedish Government would allow their passage. An appeal to the
Allies might thus make matters worse for the Finns in the negotiations
which they would soon have to open with Russia.l

The collapse of the Allied plan came quickly. On March 1 the
Finnish Minister in London told Lord Halifax that the military
situation was very difficult, and that in view of the attitude of
Sweden, there was little chance of getting Allied help to Finland.
In any case Allied assistance could not arrive in time, and appeared
to be limited to 12,000 men. Later on the same day the Minister said
that he had been instructed to ask (i) whether the Allies could send,
at once, 100 bombers with their crews, and 50,000 men, with rein-
forcements later, in time to reach Finland during March, (ii) whether
the Allied forces could fight anywhere in the country, (iii) whether
we could persuade Norway and Sweden to allow passage to the
Allied Forces, and what we should do in the event of their refusal.2
The French Government were asked the same questions. M.
Daladier replied that they would accept all the Finnish requests and

1 Another incident at this time shewed the anxiety of the Norwegian Government to
avoid giving provocation to Germany. A German ship, the Altmark, was intercepted by
H.M.S. Cossack in Norwegian waters, while returning to Germany with about 300
British prisoners from merchant ships sunk by the Graf Spee. The commander of the
Cossack proposed that the Altmark should go to Bergen under Anglo-Norwegian guard in
order that the circumstances of her passage might be investigated. After this proposal
had been refused, a party from H.M.S. Cossack boarded the Altmark and released the
prisoners. This action brought the strongest protest from the Norwegian Government,
although the latter had failed to compel the Altmark to observe the conditions under
which belligerent warships could enter and pass through neutral waters.

It is significant of the odd currents of opinion at this time that Lord Lothian warned
the Foreign Office that, although our explanation of the Altmark incident had been well
received in the United States, further action such as the laying of a minefield in Nor-
wegian waters might meet with a less good reception, and strengthen the growing demand
for maintaining neutral rights against high-handed British interference. On February 29
the War Cabinet again postponed a decision about the minefield.

2 The Finnish Government informed the British Minister on February 28 that, in
answer to their enquiry, the Swedish Government had said that they would allow passage
only to small groups of unarmed volunteers, and not to a force of Allied troops.
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were prepared to override Norwegian and Swedish objections. The
War Cabinet were disquieted at the French answer. The promises
seemed to be bluff, and made in the knowledge that the French
could blame us for their failure to redeem them. We could neither
spare 100 bombers, nor transport 50,000 men to Finland in March.
If our forces fought in the south of Finland, they could be cut off
by the Germans after the melting of the ice in the Gulf of Bothnia;
we should therefore need more than 20,000 men on our lines of
communication. The War Cabinet decided to tell the Finns that
transport facilities in Scandinavia were the limiting factor in our
offer, but that the despatch of Allied forces would mean that the
British Empire and France were wholeheartedly behind the Finns,
and would do everything in their power to support them, and that
we had approached Norway and Sweden with a request for passage.

The formal approach to the two latter Governments was made
forthwith. Both Governments sent a refusal. The Swedish Foreign
Minister implied ‘very politely’ in his conversation with Mr. Mallet
that we were more interested in using Scandinavia as a battleground
for ‘our war’ with Germany than in saving Finland. Mr. Mallet
replied that ‘our war’ was of vital interest to Sweden. The Foreign
Minister’s answer was that he did not think it in Swedish interests
that the Germans should be utterly defeated, since the result would
be a communist Germany too weak to act in eastern Europe as a
counterpoise to Russia. The danger to Sweden from Russia would
then be worse than the danger from Germany in the event of a
German victory.

The French still wished to tell the Scandinavian Governments
that we intended to carry out our plans whatever their attitude
might be. They thought that the two Governments could not commit
themselves openly but that they would allow our passage if their
responsibility were not openly involved. The Foreign Office was less
hopeful. We could make another approach to the Scandinavian
Governments, if the Finns asked us to do so, but we could not act
even against Norwegian and Swedish passive resistance, since we
depended upon the use of their railways.1 The Foreign Office thought
that, unless we could meet the demand of the Finns for bombers—a
demand repeated on March 6—we should not ask them to appeal
to us. In any case, since we had no hope of getting Scandinavian
consent to our passage, did we really want an appeal? On March 11
the Finnish Government asked the Allied Governments to make

! Mr. Mallet reported to the Foreign Office on March 12 that a War Office trans-
portation expert who had visited Stockholm had given the impression that he foresaw
difficulties in maintaining a force in Finland. The railways from Norway to Sweden
could be sabotaged, and resolute enemy air action could reduce the traffic on the ‘bottle-
neck’ east of Boden to a mere trickle. There is no evidence in the Foreign Office papers
to shew why these conclusions had not been reached earlier.
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another attempt to obtain Scandinavian consent to the passage of
an expeditionary force. The result was again negative. Two days
later the Finnish Government informed the British Minister that
they had signed the terms of an armistice with Russia. They
explained that they had not the resources to hold out during the
four or five weeks while Allied help was on its way, and that in any
,case the attitude of Norway and Sweden would have prevented the
Allied forces from reaching Finland.

(i)
French insistence upon carrying out the Narvik project: British unwillingness
to accept a French proposal for bombing the Caucasian oil-fields: Anglo-
Russian relations at the close of the Russo-Finnish war: the Allied notes of
April 5, 1940, to Norway and Sweden : the German invasion of Norway and
Denmark.

The suggestion that an Allied force sent through Scandinavia to
Finland might cut off German iron ore supplies from Sweden had
been made in the first instance by the French. The collapse of
Finland was likely to have a specially depressing effect upon French
morale. There was in fact no reason why the Allies should have been
expected to save Finland from Russian aggression. They were
fighting with as yet insufficient resources against Germany. They
had the most obvious reasons for not driving Russia into a military
alliance with the Germans. Neither the United States nor the Latin
American countries (which had taken the initiative in expelling
Russia from the League) were willing to undertake the slightest risk
on behalf of the Finns. The Scandinavian States, in spite of their
direct interest in the survival of Finnish independence, had refused
to allow an Allied force passage through their countries. If the Allies
had not said that they were trying to save Finland, and if their
failure to bring any effective help had not followed closely upon
their inability to save Poland, the effect upon public opinion need
not have been so serious. Furthermore, the Allies had made it clear
to the world that they intended to seize the military initiative and to
shorten the war by cutting off from Germany an essential supply.
They had now failed to do so.

The Foreign Office realised that the general effect in France might
be a strengthening of the movement in favour of a compromise
peace. The French attitude might seem unreasonable, but French
public opinion had been more uneasy than public opinion in Great
Britain over the inaction on land during the first six months of the
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war. We had been building up an army; the French already had
a large army in the field, and yet had no results to show except
continuing economic dislocation. The Foreign Office also under-
stood the tendency of the French Government to suggest operations
in areas away from the western front. They expected proposals for a
change in our Balkan policy; here also it was impossible to take the
initiative in the existing state of Allied resources.

The British Government now proposed to disperse the force
assembled for the Scandinavian expedition, since an attempt to seize
the ore fields would be likely to drive Norway and Sweden to the
German side. The French, however, wanted to carry out the mine-
laying in Norwegian waters and to use the probable German reaction
for putting the ‘larger project’ into effect. The Foreign Office
regarded this plan as impracticable, but thought that we might warn
the Scandinavian States that further subservience to Germany or
Russia, instead of enabling them to keep out of the war, might bring
them into direct conflict with the Allies.

On March 20 M. Daladier’s Government fell. M. Reynaud
formed a new administration in which he took over the Ministry
of Foreign Affairs and M. Daladier became Minister of War and
Defence. The British Government had already suggested a meeting
of the Supreme War Council. Before this meeting took place
M. Reynaud sent a memorandum to the British Embassy in Paris
on the future conduct of the war. He proposed once again immediate
action in Norwegian territorial waters and expected that German
retaliation would give the Allies an opportunity to take control of
the ore fields. He also suggested that we should cut off Russian oil
supplies to Germany by bombing the Caucasian oil centres.

The War Cabinet had already considered this last possibility.
Anglo-Russian relations had been severely strained by the Finnish
war. Sir W. Seeds had left Moscow at the end of 1939 and a successor
had not been appointed. M. Maisky remained in London, but no
general discussion with him took place between November 27, 19309,
and the end of January, 1940. On January 30, when he came to the
Foreign Office to see Mr. R. A. Butler! on the matter of a Russian
ship detained in Far Eastern waters, M. Maisky suggested that we
and the Russians should ‘isolate sources of difference.” He said that
at the beginning of the Spanish Civil War he had agreed with Mr.
Eden ‘to put the war in a compartment by itself, but otherwise to
try to maintain the necessary contacts between Great Britain and
the U.S.S.R.” He hoped that we might treat the Finnish war in the
same way. He explained that there was ‘nothing sentimental’ about
the Russo-German rapprochement. The Soviet Government intended
to follow only their own interests. ‘We lived in a period of change,

_TParliamcntary Under-Secretary for Foreign Affairs.
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anything might happen, and in the jungle the strangest of animals
got together if they felt that their joint interests made this advisable.’

The Russo-German economic agreement of February 11 seemed
an unsatisfactory sequel to M. Maisky’s assurances; the War Cabinet
were bound to consider how much further the Russians intended to
take their assistance to Germany, and whether we should gain or
lose by cutting off Russian oil supplies at the price of war with the
U.S.S.R. Neither the Foreign Office nor the Chiefs of Staff regarded
action of this kind as desirable. The Foreign Office thought, as
before, that Russia did not want to get involved in the war and did
not intend to attack us. The Chiefs of Staff thought that bombing
the Caucasian oil fields might cause a Russian economic and military
collapse, but would not bring about an early defeat of Germany.
Meanwhile our military strength in 1940 might not be sufficient to
deal with Germany alone. We had also to consider Italy and could
not provide until late in 1940 forces adequate to meet Russian
threats to the Middle East.

In February Sir S. Cripps, while on a tour in the Far East, had
seen the Soviet Ambassador at Chungking, and had come to the
conclusion that the Soviet Government wanted a rapprochement with
Great Britain. At his own suggestion Sir S. Cripps flew to Moscow
where on February 16 he saw M. Molotov. He came back saying
that M. Molotov had told him that the Soviet Government wished
to make a trade or political agreement with Great Britain, if the
latter would act in a friendly way to Russia. The Foreign Office
thought Sir S. Cripps too optimistic, and waited for an approach
from M. Maisky. On March 18, during another interview at the
Foreign Office about Russian shipping, M. Maisky repeated that
Russian policy was one of independence. Nine days later M. Maisky
told Lord Halifax that the Soviet Government would be prepared
to enter into a trade agreement if we would settle ‘certain problems’
which had arisen in the course of Anglo-Russian trade. Lord Halifax
said that an agreement was difficult because the Russians appeared
to be working against our efforts to cut off German trade. M. Maisky
answered that the Russians would guarantee that goods sent by
the Allies to Russia were only for Russian use. He stated once more
that Russian policy was independent, and that there was no founda-
tion for the talk of a Russo-German military alliance.

The Foreign Office did not expect much to come from M. Maisky’s
proposal. On the other hand it would be to our advantage to increase
our trade with Russia and to secure an agreement rationing the
import of valuable materials into Russia and restricting the deliveries
of oil to Germany. The War Cabinet therefore agreed that the Foreign
Office should discuss with M. Maisky the possibilities of an agreement.

In these circumstances the British Ministers at the meeting of the
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Supreme War Council on March 28 were unwilling to go beyond a
‘study’ of the Caucasian project.! The Prime Minister mentioned
M. Maisky’s approach about a trade agreement as a sign that
Russia might be wishing to improve her relations with the Allies.
We were ready to meet the urgent French wishes for action of some
kind by putting into effect the ‘smaller’ Scandinavian project, i.e.
laying a minefield in Norwegian waters, after we had sent to the
Norwegian and Swedish Governments the notes of warning suggested
by the Foreign Office.

The War Cabinet accepted on March 29 the recommendations of
the Supreme War Council on these lines. Once again French
insistence had led the British Ministers to a decision which they
probably would not otherwise have taken. They thought it unlikely
that the Germans would reply to the laying of a minefield by an
invasion of Norway, since the Baltic ports would soon be open and
the stoppage of the Narvik traffic would not have a serious effect
until the winter of 1940-1. If, however, a German invasion took
place, we should occupy Narvik, Bergen, and Trondhjem and try
by means of a raid to destroy the aerodrome at Stavanger. The land-
ings would not be attempted against serious Norwegian opposition.2

The notes were sent to the Scandinavian Governments on April 5.
They stated that events had shewn that the Germans did not allow
Sweden and Norway ‘that liberty of action in foreign affairs to which
they were entitled.” The Scandinavian Governments were therefore
not, ‘in present circumstances, entirely free agents.” The Allies could
not accept this situation, and notified the Scandinavian Governments
‘frankly of certain vital interests and requirements which the Allied
Governments intend to assert and defend.” The Allies ‘seeing that
they are waging war for aims which are as much in the interests of
smaller States as in their own, cannot allow the course of the war
to be influenced against them by advantages derived by Germany
from Sweden or from Norway.” They therefore reserved their right

1 This ‘study’ was not undertaken. Within a short time the German successes in Norway
ruled out of practical consideration any project for an attack on the Caucasian oil fields.
The proposal was mentioned in general terms at a meeting of British representatives in
Turkey, Hungary, the Balkan States and Italy which was held at the Foreign Office on
April 8 and 11. The view taken by all present was that it would be better to drop the
project for the time and to reconsider it in the autumn when the German oil position
would be more critical and the Allies—and Turkey— would be stronger. M. Reynaud
raised the matter again at the Supreme War Council on April 22, but there was obviously
no possibility of putting the plan into effect even if the British Government had not
been opposed to it.

2 The British Ministers had been more willing to fall in with the French wish to take
immediate action against the Narvik traffic because they wanted French approval of a
plan suggested by Mr. Churchill, for dropping mines in German inland waters. It is
difficult to understand why this latter plan—which could not have produced more than
minor interference with German inland traffic—was given such importance. In fact, after
M. Reynaud had accepted it at the Supreme War Council, M. Daladier continued to
oppose it on the ground that it would provoke German air retaliation on French factories.
M. Daladier refused to give way, and the operation was postponed.



32 COLLAPSE OF ALLIED SCANDINAVIAN PLANS

to hinder or prevent Germany from obtaining those advantages. The
notes, as was expected, were badly received at Stockholm and Oslo.

On April 8 the Admiralty announced the laying of a minefield in
Norwegian territorial waters. On the following day the Germans
occupied Oslo, Christiansand, Stavanger, Bergen, Trondhjem and
Narvik.! They also invaded and occupied Denmark.

(iv)
Allied failure to expel the Germans from Norway: refusal of Belgium and

the Netherlands to co-ordinate plans of resistance with the Allies : Mussolini’s
increasing hostility to the Allies.

During the period between the German invasion of Norway and the
withdrawal of the Allied forces intended for the recapture of
Trondhjem there was little opportunity for diplomatic action. On
the morning of April g Sir C. Dormer was instructed to assure the
Norwegian Government that we should extend our full aid to
Norway and would fight the war in full association with her, and
that we were taking immediate steps to deal with the German
occupation of Bergen and Trondhjem. Mr. Mallet was instructed
at the same time to ask what the Swedish Government intended to
do about the German invasion of Norway. The Swedish answer—
given after a secret session of the Riksdag—was that Sweden did not
intend to enter the war on behalf of Norway, and would fight only if
attacked. On themorningof April 10 the French Minister at Stockholm
gave the Swedish Foreign Minister a note promising help inthe eventof
aGermaninvasion. The Foreign Minister asked Mr. Mallet whetherhe
hadsimilarinstructions. Mr. Malletsaid thathe had no instructions but
that he could associate himself with the French Minister’s assurances.
The Foreign Office asked him on April 11 to confirm this statement.
On the night of April 10-11 the French Government informed
Sir R. Campbell, British Ambassador in Paris, that they were
sending a mission to Sweden to encourage the Swedish Government
not to give way to German demands. Sir R. Campbell said that the
Mission should include British representatives. The French repre-
sentatives therefore came to London on April 11 for a discussion on
policy. They proposed to tell the Swedes that in the event of a
German attack the Allies could provide assistance within a definite
period. The Prime Minister, however, was more cautious. He warned
the French representatives that it would be dangerous to underrate
the strength of the position which the Germans had already built

1 The first German ships started on April 3—that is to say, two days before the Allied
notes to the Scandinavian Governments and five days before the British announcement
of minelaying in Norwegian territorial waters.
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up in Norway; they could quickly reinforce Stavanger, Bergen and
Trondhjem, and we should not find it easy to dislodge them. We
might have at any moment a great offensive in the west. We ought
not therefore to disperse our forces. If we urged Sweden to declare
war on Germany on the assumption that the Allies would come to
her aid, we might be committed to operations on a considerable
scale. Hence we should advise the Swedes to maintain their neutrality
unless the Germans tried to reach the ore fields. The French repre-
sentatives accepted this view, and on the night of April 11-12 Mr.
Mallet was instructed that the Mission should not try to persuade
the Swedes into a policy of provoking Germany to action, but should
say to them that, if they decided to go to war with Germany, they
could count on Allied assistance.l

The Foreign Office throughout these critical days considered that
the French were still too much inclined to think in terms of a
diversion of the war from the western front and of reaching the ore
fields, whereas the essential and immediate requirement was the
recapture of Trondhjem. As late as April 22-3—when the Supreme
War Council met in Paris—M. Reynaud considered that the Allies
should aim at cutting off the ore supplies or destroying the installa-
tions at the mines. Mr. Chamberlain again took a more realist view.
He pointed out that, although we had destroyed all the German
warships at Narvik, the forces on land were in a strong position, and
we could not yet attack them. We should need specially trained
troops for an advance from Narvik through the snow to the Swedish
frontier. The Germans might send an ultimatum to Sweden; we
should be unable to reach the mines in sufficient strength before the
German arrival. Four days later—when the military situation had
become worse, and the British Government had decided to give up
the attack on Trondhjem—the French were still opposed to the
evacuation of central Norway, and again the Prime Minister had to
point out that Italy might soon enter the war, and that we were
not strong enough at sea or in the air to fight at the same time in
central Scandinavia and in the Mediterranean.2

1 On May 6, in reply to a report from Mr. Mallet quoting Swedish criticism on the
Allied withdrawal from central Norway, Lord Halifax instructed him that, if he wished
to add anything to his own answers to these criticisms, he could say that we knew
very well the reasons for Swedish policy since the outbreak of war. This policy had not
enabled Sweden to avoid grave danger to herself and did not allow her to criticise us.
On May 7 Mr. Mallet telegraphed that the Swedish Ministry of Foreign Affairs confirmed
a report that the King of Sweden had exchanged letters with Hitler in the latter half of
April emphasising the intention of Sweden to maintain her neutrality. According to a
statement by General Bodenschatz which was reported to the Foreign Office, the King of
Sweden told Hitler that Sweden would resist a British advance into the country.

2 After the British recapture of Narvik, a proposal from a Scandinavian source was put
to the British Government for the neutralisation of northern Norway during the period
of the war. All foreign troops would withdraw south of a line in the neighbourhood of
Mosjoen. Narvik would be occupied by the Norwegians, or temporarily by the Swedes,
and no ore would be shipped from it. For obvious reasons nothing came of this suggestion.



34 COLLAPSE OF ALLIED SCANDINAVIAN PLANS

The Allied failure in Norway—as the Foreign Office were well
aware—was certain to have an effect upon the Belgians and Dutch
who were likely to be the next victims of German aggression. Since
the Germans had now shewn—though there need have been no
previous doubts about the matter—that they would break their
engagements to respect the neutrality of their neighbours, the Belgians
and Dutch might have been expected at least to co-ordinate with
the Allies plans for resistance while there was yet time. This con-
sideration applied especially to Belgium, where the public deter-
mination to resist was strong, and the chances of Allied help greatest.
The official policy of avoiding provocation was in fact futile, since
the Germans would neither trouble to look for an excuse to make
an attack on Belgium nor decide upon one merely because the
Belgians were known to be discussing precautionary measures with
the Allies. Fear of German ruthlessness, however, outweighed with
the Belgian King and Government—and especially the former—all
considerations of logic. After their alarm in November, 1939,! the
Belgians did not approach the Allies until mid-January, 1940, when
they again thought the Germans likely to attack them at once or
within a very short time.

On the night of January 13-14 M. Spaak told Sir L. Oliphant,
British Ambassador at Brussels, that, if the expected attack took
place, Belgium would look to Great Britain and France for help.
Sir L. Oliphant was instructed to tell the Belgian Government that
we should fulfil our obligations, and that it was necessary to hold
staff’ conversations at once. Sir L. Oliphant gave this message to
M. Spaak on January 14, but the Belgians no longer thought that
an attack was imminent (neither the British nor the French military
authorities had considered it likely) and M. Spaak was evasive about
holding staff conversations. The matter also became confused because
on January 13 the King of the Belgians asked Sir R. Keyes to come
to Belgium. The King does not seem to have made himself clear in
his conversation with Sir R. Keyes, and the latter had the wrong
impression that, on receiving certain assurances about the future,
the King would invite the Allies into Belgium at once even if the
Germans did not attack. After this somewhat absurd misunder-
standing had been cleared up, the Foreign Office thought it desirable
to let the King have a plain statement that the value of Allied
assistance to Belgium would be seriously lessened if an invitation to
enter the country were not given ‘in sufficient time to enable the
British and French troops to secure all the strategic advantages of
position before any German attack opens.” Sir L. Oliphant made a
communication in these terms to the King on March 22. No answer
was received.

1 See above, pp. g-10.
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In the middle of March, however, there had been signs that the
Belgians were again becoming nervous of German attack, and, for
that matter, of the intentions of the Allies. M. Spaak asked Sir L.
Oliphant on March 16 what Great Britain and France would do if
the Germans attacked the Netherlands but not Belgium. M. Spaak
was told that we could not give a full answer until we had consulted
the French Government, but that we could say at once that if the
Belgians went to the assistance of the Dutch, we should come
immediately to the help of Belgium, and that if, contrary to our
expectation, the Belgians did not assist the Dutch, we might send
air forces across Belgium and troops into Belgian territory both to
help the Dutch and to protect ourselves. In either case our action
would depend upon Dutch military dispositions of which as yet we
knew nothing. The French agreed with this provisional answer, but
no progress was made in co-ordinating Allied plans with the Dutch
or with the Belgians. Sir N. Bland, British Minister to the Nether-
lands, was instructed to discuss with the Netherlands Government
the question of Allied assistance; the Dutch answered that they must
maintain their traditional policy of independence and that they
could not engage themselves with Belgium.

At the Supreme War Council on April g M. Reynaud wanted an
immediate request to be made to the Belgian Government for an
invitation into the country. With British agreement, the request was
put to M. Spaak during the night of April g-10, but was refused.
On the following day the Belgian Government announced that they
intended to keep to a policy of absolute neutrality. The British and
French Governments considered a further statement to the Belgian
Government; the Foreign Office thought that it might be desirable
to make clear to the Belgians that, in the event of a German invasion
of the Netherlands, we should certainly have to send forces through
Belgian territory, but the French were afraid that if the Germans
heard of a statement to this effect they might put pressure upon the
Belgians to say that they would resist any violation of their neutrality.
We might therefore find ourselves hindered at the moment of action
by Belgian opposition.

Thus, after months of intermittent negotiation, the relations
between Belgium and the Allies were still unsatisfactory, and the
Belgian King and Government, in a desperate hope of avoid-
ing attack, had lost the most favourable chance of protecting
themselves.

The German successes in Scandinavia excited Mussolini as much
as they alarmed King Leopold. Mussolini had begun earlier
to emphasise the ‘malevolent’ character of his neutrality, or
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non-belligerency. On February 19, in view of the Italian attitude over
trade negotiations, the War Cabinet decided to stop German sea-
borne coal exports to Italy.! This decision brought a strong Italian
protest, but after the meeting between Hitler and Mussolini at the
Brenner Pass on March 18 Ciano told Sir P. Loraine that Italian
policy had not changed.? There would be no ‘surprises’ or coups de
théatre. For the time at least Ciano’s assurances were borne out by
the facts, and, at all events before the German successes in Norway,
there was nothing to shew that Mussolini had decided to bring Italy
into the war. Even in the first days of the German attack on Norway
the evidence of Mussolini’s intentions was still conflicting.

The Foreign Office considered at this time that Italy was unlikely
to attack the Allies directly, or indirectly by an attack on Corfu
which would bring into operation the Allied guarantee to Greece.
It was less certain that the Italians would not attack Yugoslavia.
With this possibility in mind—and with their usual attempt to find
military diversions—the French suggested enquiries about the
attitude not only of Yugoslavia but of Turkey, Roumania and Greece.
The Foreign Office thought that these enquiries would be unwise,
since the attitude of the four States would depend on Allied action,
and if we tried to compel them to commit themselves in advance,
they would suspect us of wanting to get them involved in the war.
The French also raised once again the question of an Allied expedi-
tion to Salonika. The British Chiefs of Staff pointed out that—apart
from other difficulties— our experience of air attack in Norway had
shewn that we could not establish or maintain a force at Salonika if
we were at war with Italy. Towards the end of April there were
reports that Mussolini intended to enter the war on May 1 or May 2.
These reports turned out to be wrong.3 The general view of the
Foreign Office, however, was that Mussolini had three objectives:
(i) he was trying to bluff us into concessions over contraband control
and into an offer to discuss ‘Italian claims’; (ii) he was collaborating
with Hitler to attract our attention and our forces from the North Sea
to the Mediterranean; (iii) he was preparing the unwilling Italian
people to come into the war. The Foreign Office thought it unlikely
that Mussolini would go to war over contraband control. If it were
essential for military reasons to avoid war with Italy, we might have

1 At the beginning of February a trade agreement with Italy had almost been com-
pleted. On February 8 Ciano told Sir P. Loraine that Mussolini had refused to continue
(during the ensuing six months) the negotiations for the sale of war material to Great
Britain.

? Evidence received by the Foreign Office suggested that at the Brenner meeting
Mussolini had been much impressed by the brilliance of Hitler’s plans and had promised
to enter the war.

3 There were, as usual, many conflicting reports. According to one of them Mussolini
was reported to have said: “The Germans are trying to drag me into the war by the hair.
Luckily, I am bald’.
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to try to buy her off by satisfying some of her ‘claims’. Meanwhile
we should pay no attention to them. Our policy for the time should
be to offer a trade agreement, but otherwise to maintain both our
contraband control and our precautionary measures.

The reports of Mussolini’s intentions were conflicting down to the
opening of the German western offensive. On May 8 Sir P. Loraine,
who had been home on leave prolonged by illness, had a long con-
versation with Ciano. Sir P. Loraine said that during the last months
the possibility of an Anglo-Italian war had reappeared. Ciano’s
answer was that Mussolini stood by his pact with Germany and
would fulfil all his obligations to her. He had taken complete and
sole control of Italian policy and would come to his decision ‘at his
own time and in his own way.’ For the moment Italian policy was
unchanged. Ciano could not say how long it would remain un-
changed—‘perhaps two months, perhaps four, perhaps six, maybe
even two years.” Neither Ciano nor Mussolini thought that the real
war had yet begun. Ciano hinted that Mussolini’s attitude would
depend on what happened when the ‘real war’ began. Mean-
while Mussolini would discuss trade matters, but would ‘reject
and resent’ an attempt to bribe him away from his obligations to
Germany.

(v)

British relations with the United States from the outbreak of war to the
opening of the German offensive in the west: Mr. Welles’ visit to Europe.

At the outbreak of the war the British Government knew that the
great majority of Americans hoped for the defeat of Hitler. Their
sympathy with the Allies, however, was based more on American
ideas of right and justice than on a calculation of interest. Indeed
one of the problems in dealing with Anglo-American relations in the
first stages of the war was that public opinion in the United States
did not realise the extent to which American strategic and economic
interests were bound up with an Allied victory.

To British observers the consequences to the United States of an
Allied defeat seemed obvious. The smaller European countries would
fall directly under German or Italian domination. Two of these
smaller countries had large colonial possessions which—together with
the colonies of Great Britain and France— would be at the disposal
of Germany and Italy. No help could be expected from Russia; if
the Russians had made an agreement with Hitler when they could
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have had British and French support in resisting him, they were
unlikely to risk opposing him after he had become master of the rest
of Europe. Any concessions offered to Japan, in order to obtain free-
dom of action for the United States armed forces in the Atlantic area,
would be bought at the risk of American security in the Pacific; the
Japanese might well refuse American offers, and seize the occasion
to fight their own war in conjunction with the Axis Powers.

Egypt, Iraq, Iran and the whole of Arabia would be subservient
to the victors and the United States would no longer be assured of
supplies of rubber, tin, copper, and other raw materials, or of access
to the resources of the Middle East or the Dutch East Indies.
German influence would be strong in Latin America where the
Germans could exert political and economic concessions by threats
or even in some cases by direct attack.

The possession of vast resources would influence Hitler’s dreams of
world mastery. Since the Germans were likely to impose some kind
of totalitarian régime upon a defeated Great Britain or France, the
countries of North America would alone remain free to continue their
criticism of Nazi rule and to threaten the permanence of German
hegemony. Hitler would therefore do all he could to interfere with
American freedom of action and to undermine the structure of free
government in the United States.

President Roosevelt and his Administration might be aware of
these considerations. American opinion generally still did not face
the possibility that the United States might be drawn into the war
to defend American interests. There was a widespread belief—
fostered by German propaganda ever since the treaty of Versailles—
that American participation in the first World War had been un-
necessary and that Great Britain and France had misused a victory
won by American help. To most Americans the risk of being involved
in war a second time by mistakes in their own policy appeared more
real and more serious than the risks which the United States would
run in the event of an Allied defeat. Few people outside a small circle
of business men and technicians impressed by the German Air Force
envisaged such a defeat, at all events on the scale of the French
collapse in May and June, 1940. It was assumed that at the worst the
United States would have a long time for preparation and that even
if the Allies failed to destroy the Nazi régime or to stop German
aggression in Europe, there was no immediate risk of the whole
eastern Atlantic seaboard falling under German control.

In September, 1939, the Neutrality Act of 1937—an extreme mani-
festation of ‘isolationist’ opinion—was still in force. The principal
provisions of the Act were that, on the outbreak of a war, the President
was bound to issue a declaration naming the belligerents. Thereafter
the supply of arms, ammunition and implements of war to the parties
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thus named was illegal. The President and the Administration had
made it clear before the war that they wanted the removal of this
embargo which, obviously, would prejudice Great Britain and
France. On the outbreak of war Mr. Roosevelt issued the prescribed
proclamation, and called a special session of Congress for September
21. In this session a new Act repealed the embargo, reimposed the
‘cash and carry’ principle,! but exempted certain ‘safe areas’ from
its operation. The Act continued the prohibition of loans to belli-
gerent governments.

The counterpart to the view that America could keep out of the
war was that the war could be kept out of America. To this end an
attempt was made to establish a ‘security zone’ within which the
peace of the western hemisphere would be undisturbed. The President
had consulted the British Government about a plan of this kind early
in June, 1939. He had proposed American air and naval patrols over
the Western Atlantic in order to deny these waters to the operations
of belligerents. In order to enable the patrols to be carried out he had
asked for the use of bases at Trinidad, Santa Lucia, Bermuda and
Halifax, and on the island of Fernando Noronha off the coast of
Brazil. The British and Canadian Governments agreed to provide
the required facilities, though they made certain reservations
regarding their own belligerent rights.

A conference of the American Republics at Panama resolved on
October 2, 1939, to establish a ‘security zone’ extending to 300 miles
from the eastern and western coasts of the American continent. The
idea did not, however, carry much conviction either in the United
States or in Latin America. Mr. Hull told Lord Lothian that he did
not object to the British view that, unless the patrol were effective,
we should retain the full right of pursuit of enemy vessels within the
zone. The British Government therefore acquiesced in the plan.

One of the problems, especially in this stage of the war, was that
of explaining British policy to the American public. The Foreign
Office realised—and warned the French—that direct propaganda was
useless and even dangerous. On the other hand in a country of vivid
publicity methods the Allied case might be given insufficient atten-
tion if it were set out in colourless information bulletins. In any case
the Foreign Office had to watch American opinion carefully, if only
to be able to form some idea of the possible reaction of the United
States Government to important Allied decisions of policy. The
Administration, especially in the twelve months before a Presidential
election, would not go far beyond the limits set by public opinion in
helping the Allies; it would also refuse to acquiesce for long in Allied

1i.e. materials supplied to belligerents could be carried only in non-American ships
and after American title to them had been transferred. This provision had been included
in the original Act, but its application had expired on May 1, 1939.
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action which might be legitimate in itself but caused a public outcry
in the United States.

Lord Lothian sent home frequent and very good analyses of the
general movement of opinion. Early in 1940 he reported a mood of
annoyance over the dislocation of American trade by the war, and
particularly by the British interpretation of belligerent rights at sea.
Lord Lothian thought that some strong press comment had been
prompted by the State Department in a desire to show they were
standing up for American rights and to warn us that we were
inclined to count too much upon the known sympathies of the
United States, and to pay less attention to American grievances than
to those of other neutrals—e.g. Italy—possessing a greater nuisance
value.

The mood of irritation over alleged British high-handedness soon
spent its force. In March, 1940, a Anglo-French mission went to
Washington to discuss the machinery of the blockade as it affected
American interests. This mission stayed for seven weeks and secured
agreement on most points in dispute. Meanwhile the Foreign Office
had been considerably disturbed by a proposal of President Roosevelt
to send Mr. Sumner Welles, Under-Secretary of State, to visit Rome,
Paris, Berlin and London. The President thought that the Germans
intended to open an offensive directed mainly against Great Britain.
This offensive, and the retaliating action by the Allies, would make
peace more difficult. The President therefore wanted to satisfy him-
self that everything possible had been done to end the war. Mr.
Roosevelt said that his ideas of a peace settlement were practically
the same as those of the British Government; a restoration of free-
dom to the Czechs and Poles; guarantees against the renewal of
aggression, and the establishment of the ‘four freedoms.’1

The Prime Minister replied to the President on February 4 that
the main difficulty lay in the question of guarantees. A demand for
the removal of the Nazi government might encourage the Germans
to overthrow the régime; it was more likely, owing to Hitler’s propa-
ganda, to unite them in a common fear of Great Britain and the
United States. The Prime Minister thought that Mr. Welles’ mission
would cause a sensation, and that the probable effect would be to
embarrass the democracies and assist German propaganda. At the
same time the Foreign Office informed Lord Lothian that Hitler
was using the threat of an irresistible offensive as part of the ‘war of
nerves’, and in order to impress the neutrals who wanted an early
peace even if it were inconclusive. Hitler would try to secure a peace
which would leave the German armed forces intact, and establish

1 Freedom from fear; freedom of religion; freedom of information (press and public
meetings) ; freedom from want. President Roosevelt had laid down these conditions in an
address to Congress on January 3, 1940.
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himself in a position from which he could renew the war. We had
thus been expecting a peace move from the Italian Government or
the Pope or the President, but we had not anticipated anything so
spectacular as a public mission fully advertised in advance.! The
President seemed to be doing just what Hitler wished him to do.

Mr. Welles’ mission was announced on February g. He arrived in
Rome on February 25 with Mr. Myron Taylor whom the President
was sending on a special mission to the Pope. He went from Rome to
Berlin (where he saw Hitler) and thence to Paris. He reached London
on March 10. He went back to Rome through Paris and sailed to
the United States on March 20. Mr. Welles gave the Prime Minister
and Lord Halifax on March 11 details of a plan for ending the war:
(i) The Germans should withdraw their troops from Poland and
Bohemia? within an area to be agreed. (ii) There should be a rapid
and progressive disarmament of the belligerents, linked with a plan
of economic reconstruction. The British Ministers said very strongly
that we could not trust Hitler; that even with a considerable measure
of disarmament Germany could easily overrun a weak country, e.g.
Roumania, and that nothing would restore confidence—the essential
condition of disarmament—as much as a change of government in
Germany. In a later conversation Mr. Chamberlain said that dis-
armament must begin with Germany. The Germans might ask about
their security, and might not be satisfied by a direct Anglo-French
undertaking not to attack them. We might give a formal under-
taking to the United States not to attack Germany, but the terms
would have to be defined with care in order to leave us free to fulfil
obligations of assistance to a third party which might be a victim of
German aggression.

The Foreign Office summed up the impressions left by Mr. Welles
in a telegram to Lord Lothian on March 27. They (and the French)
thought that Mr. Welles had been influenced by the arguments put
forward by Mussolini, and by the arguments used to him in Berlin
about the pretended invincibility of Germany. Mr. Kennedy, United
States Ambassador in London, had also talked to him a good deal
about the chances of general ruin if the war continued. It seemed
likely that Mr. Welles would suggest to the President that he should
outline peace terms which did not require the elimination of Hitler’s
régime, but would give security to the Allies.

On April 3 Mr. Roosevelt, in the presence of Mr. Hull and Mr.
Welles, told Lord Lothian that he had been much impressed by the
Prime Minister’s proposal. He—and Mr. Welles—thought it im-
portant to convince the Germans that the Allies did not intend to
break up Germany. A dramatic declaration on the subject would

1 For other peace approaches, see p. 8, note 1.
2 The Foreign Office noted Mr. Welles’ use of this term.
G
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have a good effect. Mr. Roosevelt therefore suggested that the Prime
Minister should address a letter to all Heads of neutral States
explaining that the objective of the Allies was security in the widest
sense for all nations. Lord Lothian pointed out the difficulty of
drafting a declaration which would not give the impression that it
was a proposal for peace. The Foreign Office considered that the
President had misunderstood the Prime Minister’s proposal. This
proposal had nothing to do with German fears of dismemberment;
it was brought forward with a view to the post-war security of
Germany on the assumption that Germany must disarm before the
Allies. We had already made public statements on the general line of
Mr. Roosevelt’s suggested declaration of war aims.

After the German invasion of Norway and Denmark the Foreign
Office instructed Lord Lothian to say to the President that in the
altered circumstances he would probably think a declaration in-
opportune. Another German act of aggression had taken place, and
further attacks upon neutrals were very likely. Hence a statement
primarily intended to reassure the German people would be open to
misconstruction. Mr. Roosevelt did not continue with his proposal.

At the end of April Lord Lothian, in a long despatch on American
opinion, wrote that there was no change in the American determina-
tion to keep out of the war. The invasion of the Scandinavian
countries had deeply affected American opinion, but the European
war was still regarded as the concern of Great Britain and France.
For the time, public discussion was concentrated on the Presidential
election. Lord Lothian summed up his views as follows: “The United
States is still dominated by fear of involvement and incapable of
positive action. On the other hand the war is steadily drifting nearer
to them, and they know it. They are not pacifists; on the contrary,
they are highly belligerent by temperament. The point at which they
will be driven to say, as we did after Prague, “Thus far and no
further”” depends mainly on the dictators and the events they precipi-
tate. The President would like to take action vigorously on the lines
of his own principle “Everything short of war.” This is also true of
Mr. Hull. All the other candidates, and especially the Republicans,
. . . are paralysed by fear of being charged with a desire to get the
United States into war. That does not mean that if they were elected
they would not deal with the situation in a practical and realist
manner.’




CHAPTER 111

The German offensive in the West: the Franco-German

armistice and the question of the French fleet: British

recognition of General De Gaulle as Leader of a Free
French Movement

(1)
The first fortnight of the offensive: move of the Netherlands and Belgian

Governments to Great Britain: the Belgian military surrender and the refusal
of Ring Leopold to leave Belgian territory: Mr. Churchill’s visits to France.

rOM the opening of the German offensive in the west on May 10
to the acceptance of an armistice by Marshal Pétain’s Govern-
ment on June 22 British diplomacy could do little except try to
limit on the political side the consequences of military disaster.! The
British diplomatic missions in the Low Countries and France trans-
mitted and received messages on military matters, reported dis-
cussions on military measures with members of the Governments to
which they were accredited, and sent home appreciations of the
rapidly changing military situation and its political consequences.
They carried out these activities during a time when governments
and departments and embassy staffs were moving from place to
place; communications were subject to long and frequent interrup-
tion, telegrams were held up, telephone connexions were broken,
wireless messages subject to jamming, and work such as cyphering
and decyphering had to be done in conditions which inevitably
caused delay. The material for this period in the Foreign Office
archives is like the débris left after a sudden flood. Nevertheless
the two factors which stand out in a story full of loose ends, and at
times hardly more than a series of episodes, are the absence of panic
or despair, and the assumption that Great Britain would not
surrender.
Owing to the violence and speed of the German attack on the
Netherlands and the inability of the Allies to provide effective help,
the Dutch could not hold out for long. On the morning of May 15

1 Mr. Chamberlain resigned on May 10 after his failure to secure support for a coalition
government under his leadership. Mr. Churchill succeeded him as Prime Minister on this
same day, and during the next few days completed the formation of the National Coalition
Government which remained in office until May 23, 1945. Mr. Churchill then formed
another government, without Labour participation, which held office until July 26, 1945,
i.e. until after the declaration of the results of the general election of July 5.

43
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M. van Kleffens, the Netherlands Foreign Minister, brought to Lord
Halifax a communiqué issued during the previous night that the
Commander-in-Chief had ordered the Netherlands forces to cease
military resistance. The royal family and the Netherlands Govern-
ment had already left the country, and M. van Kleffens had asked
on May 13 whether they could establish themselves in London. Lord
Halifax told M. van Kleffens that no one in Great Britain would
wish to criticise the Commander-in-Chief or the Dutch people for
their decision. It was, however, essential that a state of war should
continue; the Commander-in-Chief must not negotiate or co-operate
with the Germans, but merely accept their terms under protest.
M. van Kleffens said that he and other members of the Netherlands
Government agreed with this view.1

Events in Belgium moved hardly less rapidly towards catastrophe.
On May 16 the Belgian Government left Brussels for Ostend. They
appear to have made no arrangements in advance for the transfer
of the government or administrative services from Brussels in the
event of an invasion, and the confusion was increased by differences
of view between the King of the Belgians and his Ministers. On
May 19 Sir L. Oliphant telephoned that, according to the French
Ambassador, M. Pierlot, M. Spaak and the Minister of National
Defence had gone to Belgian Headquarters at Bruges, while the other
Ministers had left for Havre. On May 22 the Belgian Ambassador
and M. Gutt, the Belgian Finance Minister, raised with the Foreign
Office the question of the evacuation of the King and of those
members of the Government who were still in Belgium. A message
from Admiral Sir R. Keyes,2 however, reported that the King was

! Mr. Churchill asked Lord Halifax on May 10 whether the ex-Emperor William 11
should be told that if he wished to leave the Netherlands he would be received with con-
sideration and dignity in Great Britain. The possibility of offering the ex-Emperor an
asylum had been considered in November, 1939, when a German attack on the Low
Countries seemed likely. Sir N. Bland was then instructed that he should try to get the
ex-Emperor moved to Sweden or Denmark, and only in the last resort to Great Britain.
The Foreign Office now thought that, if the ex-Emperor asked to be allowed to come to
England, we should receive him suitably, but that we should not go out of our way to
invite him. Mr. Churchill, with the agreement of Lord Halifax, proposed that a more
direct hint should be given. Sir A. Hardinge was asked to enquire the views of His Majesty
the King. Sir A. Hardinge replied that His Majesty agreed with the suggestion, but that
he did not know where the ex-Emperor would live in England; he ‘presumed, however,
that some one would be glad to offer him shelter.” Sir N. Bland was therefore instructed
on May 11 to arrange for a message to be sent privately to the ex-Emperor. The latter
declined the offer.

2 Admiral Sir R. Keyes had been appointed on May 10 special liaison officer with the
King of the Belgians, with diplomatic status as an additional naval attaché at the British
Embassy. He was independent of the Ambassador, but under the general orders of the
Foreign Office. The difficulties of communication with the King and the members of his
Government in Belgium were increased on May 20 when Sir L. Oliphant, on his own
initiative, left by road for Havre. He was unable to reach Havre and on June 2 gave
himself up to the Germans. The French Ambassador stayed at Bruges until May 23 and
then left for England from Dunkirk.
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determined to stay with the army and hoped that it might be re-
formed in France. It also became clear that the Ministers in Belgium
had made the proposal for evacuation without consulting the King.
Two days later Lord Halifax sent a message to the King through
the Belgian Ambassador that the British Government were ‘deeply
impressed with the necessity’ of maintaining the King and his
Government ‘in a place of safety.” They did not suggest that the King
should leave at once, but said that, if the time came, they would
‘make a representation’ to the King ‘which might make it easier for
him to take a distasteful decision.” A similar message was sent to the
King through Sir R. Keyes.

The Belgian Ministers left Bruges on the night of May 2425, after
failing to persuade the King to come with them. The Foreign Office
now sent another message to the King through Sir R. Keyes (who
in fact was supporting the King’s decision to remain in Belgium).
Meanwhile King Leopold on May 25 had written a personal letter
to His Majesty the King maintaining that it was his duty to stay
in Belgium. On May 26 MM. Spaak and Pierlot, who had reached
England from Dunkirk, asked Lord Halifax whether His Majesty the
King would make an appeal to King Leopold. The Foreign Office
drafted a letter which, with His Majesty’s approval, was sent to Sir
R. Keyes for King Leopold. The letter explained the importance of
preserving a united Belgian Government with full authority outside
Belgian territory. If the King were able to remain at liberty in
Belgium, and to act and speak for his people, he might be of great
value in the establishment of such a rallying point for the Belgian
nation. He would not be free, and might be taken as a prisoner to
Germany. Sir R. Keyes gave this message to King Leopold early on
May 27, but the King, after discussing it with the Queen Mother,
decided that he would stay in Belgium.

Early on the morning of May 28 the Belgian army, at the King’s
orders, ceased firing. The Belgian Government on this day informed
the Foreign Office! that they would fight the war to the end with
Great Britain and France. The King was a prisoner, and any govern-
ment inside Belgium could act only under duress. The existing Belgian
Government was therefore the legal government of the country.

Some weeks before the opening of the German offensive Sir R.
Campbell had sent to the Foreign Office disquieting reports on the
political situation in France. He wrote that Laval and other opponents
of M. Daladier were using the opportunity given by the failure of the

! The political acts of the King in relation to his own Government, and the question
whether he was justified on military grounds in ordering his army to cease fighting, are
outside the scope of this History.
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Allies to save Finland and by their apparent inaction. Laval would
certainly try for an early accommodation with Germany; an attack
which he had recently made on M. Daladier in the Senate was prob-
ably intended to mark his first important re-entry into politics. Sir
R. Campbell also regarded the disloyalty of some of M. Daladier’s
colleagues as among the causes of his fall. The reasons for this dis-
loyalty had to be looked for ‘in the mire into which parliamentary
government in France has fallen.” Sir R. Campbell expected M.
Reynaud to be given a fair trial ; he could not have formed a Ministry
unless M. Daladier, out of a sense of public duty, had agreed to
support him. M. Reynaud had courage, resolution, adaptability, and
imagination, and would press hard for more energy in the prosecution
of the war. On balance, however, neither Sir R. Campbell nor the
Foreign Office welcomed the change of government. In mid-April
they had further confirmation of Laval’s intentions, his bitterness
against Great Britain and his wish to make concessions to Italy.

On the night of May g-10—that is to say a few hours before the
opening of the German offensive—Sir R. Campbell telegraphed that
M. Reynaud had resigned—though the fact had not yet been made
public—owing to his failure to get approval for his proposal to replace
General Gamelin by General Weygand. Sir R. Campbell thought
that M. Reynaud could not succeed in forming a Cabinet without
M. Daladier’s support, and that the choice of a new President of the
Council lay between M. Herriot and M. Daladier ‘with odds .
slightly in favour of the former.” M. Reynaud, however, was able to
reconstruct his Cabinet.

After the German break through at Sedan on May 14, Sir R.
Campbell transmitted messages from M. Reynaud asking for more
air assistance, and especially for more fighter aircraft, from Great
Britain. The Foreign Office could not judge the strategic and
technical considerations involved in a decision on the French appeal,
but from this time until the end of French military resistance appeals
for aircraft were of the gravest political as well as military importance
and the French themselves used diplomatic as well as military
channels in putting their case. Thus on the evening of May 15
M. Corbin went to see Sir A. Cadogan. He said that the German
army and air force were using practically all their specialised material
in a battle which might decide the war. If the French army were out
of the war, the result would be fatal to Great Britain as well as to
France. M. Corbin wondered whether we could ever win the war
unless a man were found to direct the whole war effort as a single
entity. Sir A. Cadogan took M. Corbin to mean that some one
should have authority to order our fighters to join in the battle. He
said that he would tell the Prime Minister and Lord Halifax at once
of M. Corbin’s view of the situation.
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During his visit to Paris on May 16 the Prime Minister telegraphed
a recommendation to the War Cabinet that, in spite of the risk to
our own defences, we should send the additional air squadrons for
which the French asked. The War Cabinet met at 11 p.m. on May 16
and accepted the recommendation. About mid-day on May 17 Sir
R. Campbell telephoned that MM. Reynaud and Daladier had been
much heartened by the Prime Minister and that there was an im-
provement in the morale of the French troops. Later on May 17,
M. Reynaud seemed depressed at the news of the military situation.
In the afternoon of May 18 Sir R. Campbell again reported an
improvement in morale. Shortly afterwards he telephoned that
Marshal Pétain had accepted the Vice-Presidency of the Council,
and that the prestige of his name would reassure public opinion.
M. Mandel had been appointed Minister of the Interior in order to
secure a strong hand in dealing with fifth column or latent communist
activity. General Weygand was coming back from Syria and would
either succeed General Gamelin or become some kind of ‘super-
adviser’ and thereby, in fact, take his place.

The Prime Minister sent a message to M. Reynaud just after mid-
day on May 19 congratulating him on the ‘strong, compact govern-
ment’ which he had formed, and also trying to encourage him on the
military situation. M. Reynaud replied in the afternoon—again
through Sir R. Campbell—-assuring the Prime Minister of his in-
flexible determination that France should ‘fight on, come what may.’
Sir R. Campbell thought that M. Reynaud was in better heart than
he had been in the morning. M. Reynaud hadsaid that Marshal Pétain
was very lucid, and thathis advice would be of very great helpand com-
fort. General Weygand had now returned, and would co-ordinate the
Frenchmilitary effort. General Gamelin was being relieved of his post.

Two hours later Sir R. Campbell reported that he had seen M.
Daladier and found him calm but dejected. Sir R. Campbell was
taking the line in his conversations with the French Ministers that, if
the Allies could check the present advance, they would be on the
road to winning the war, but he found the Ministers ‘suffering under
the unexpectedness of the blow in the same way as the French troops
went down under the first shock of the German onslaught. Alas,
there is no Clemenceau.’

Sir R. Campbell reported in the evening of May 19, after seeing
M. Mandel and (for a few moments) M. Reynaud, that M. Mandel
was carrying out drastic measures against cowardice and defeatism,
and was a first-class influence on the Government. The military
position, however, continued to get worse. On the night of May 2021
the Germans entered Abbeville. The communications of the Allied
northern armies were now cut. Sir R. Campbell reported in the after-
noon that the general situation in Paris was ‘calm and depressing.’
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The calmness was due less to fortitude than to ‘stupification
in view of the discovery that the French fortifications were not, as
had been supposed, impregnable.” Nine months of easy warfare,
German threats, and subterranean communism had told on French
morale, and this morale was being lowered by the flood of refugees.
The air was full of rumours, and there seemed to be some fifth
column activity. MM. Reynaud and Mandel were doing everything
possible to restore the situation, and had some success. The return
of Marshal Pétain and of General Weygand was creating a certain
amount of confidence, but it was ‘late in the day.” Sir R. Campbell
concluded with the words: ‘People are not getting angry as I should
like to see.’

The Prime Minister sent another message of general encourage-
ment to M. Reynaud on May 21. Sir R. Campbell, who delivered
the message, reported that M. Reynaud was pleased with it, and
that he also found great comfort and support in Marshal Pétain,
‘whose spirit was unshakeable, and brain still very lucid.” The Prime
Minister went to Paris again on May 22 to hear General Weygand’s
plan for restoring the military situation. The plan did not succeed, and
by the evening of May 25 it was clear to the British military authorities
thatifthe northern armies—including the British Expeditionary Force
—were not to be lost, the only course was to try to evacuate them by sea.
The chances of carrying out this operation were very uncertain.

M. Reynaud came to London at his own suggestion on May 26.
The Prime Minister told the War Cabinet on the morning of May 26
that he expected M. Reynaud would say to him that France could
not continue the fight. He—the Prime Minister—would do his utmost
to persuade M. Reynaud to carry on. M. Reynaud in fact told the
Prime Minister and other members of the War Cabinet that, if
France were ‘entirely invaded,” they must reckon on the possibility
of a move by Marshal Pétain in favour of an armistice. M. Reynaud
had therefore come primarily to obtain British support for conces-
sions to Mussolini in the hope of keeping Italy out of the war, and
also to explore the larger possibility of securing some form of Italian
mediation.

(i)
M. Reynaud’s visit to London on May 26 with proposals for an approach to

Mussolini : British attitude towards M. Reynaud’s proposals: the situation
after the Dunkirk evacuation: the entry of Italy into the war.

The idea of offering concessions to Mussolini as a means of keeping
him out of the war was not new. On the morning of the first day of
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the German offensive Ciano had told Sir P. Loraine that there
would be no immediate change in Italian policy; he could not say
anything about the future.l It seemed probable, however, to the
Foreign Office that Mussolini was being held back by the King of
Italy, Marshals Badoglio and Graziani, Ciano and others, but that
he had already taken his decision. On May 10-11 anti-British posters
appeared in Rome, and there was evidence of other anti-British pro-
paganda. Sir P. Loraine considered that Hitler wanted the Allies to
be provoked into a declaration of war on Italy, and that Mussolini
had been told to ‘trail his coat.” The Foreign Office assumed that we
were not strong enough to take what might otherwise have been the
best course of forcing Mussolini to declare himself. We had also to
show that Italy was the aggressor if we were to bring Turkey into
the war in accordance with our agreement. In order to gain time,
therefore, we might propose to discuss Italian ‘claims’, and try to
buy off Mussolini, e.g. by the offer of a share in the control of the
Suez canal and a more privileged position for the Italian population
in Tunisia, or we might offer concessions on contraband control, but
Mussolini would infer from these approaches that we were even
weaker than he had supposed.

The Italians themselves, however, seemed to give a certain opening
to an approach on the question of contraband control. On May 12
they published a long official report on the ‘very grave damage’ done
to Italian interests by the Allied blockade. Sir P. Loraine was there-
fore instructed on the night of May 14-15 to tell the Italian Govern-
ment that we were willing to discuss this memorandum with them.
The Prime Minister also decided to send a personal message? to
Mussolini. Mussolini’s reply—received on May 18—was to refer to
the British attempt to organise sanctions against Italy in 1935 and
to the ‘state of servitude’ in which Italy found herself in the Mediter-
ranean. He then said that he must keep his engagements. In reply
to a message of May 14 from President Roosevelt Mussolini said that
Italy intended to maintain her alliance with Germany, and could
not remain absent at the moment when the fate of Europe was at
stake. On the other hand the Italian Government agreed on May 18
to discuss contraband control.3

In view of Mussolini’s answer to his message the Prime Minister
did not think it desirable to issue the text of a statement proposed

1 Sir P. Loraine had the impression that Ciano wanted the German offensive to fail,
but thought that it would succeed. He said to Sir P. Loraine at the end of his interview:
‘One day, though I hope not, I may have to tell you disagreeable things, but of one thing
you can be absolutely certain—I shall never cheat you about anything I say.’ The Foreign
Office comment on this telegram was that Ciano had frequently lied to us, and might
well do so again.

2 For the text of this message, and the reply, see Churchill, II, 107-8.
 These negotiations were broken off by Mussolini on May 28. See Medlicott, I. 311.
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by the Foreign Office in order to reduce the propaganda value of
Mussolini’s exploitation of Italian ‘grievances’. The statement as
drafted included a promise to Italy of equal status with the belli-
gerents at the Peace Conference; Italian claims might then be dealt
with ‘as part of the general settlement of Europe.” The French
Ministers, however—and especially M. Daladier—were most anxious
to open ‘political’ negotiations with a view to immediate concessions
to Italy. On May 23 M. Daladier told Sir R. Campbell that he and
M. Reynaud agreed that a last effort must be made with Mussolini,
and that we should ask President Roosevelt to enquire from him why
Italy was at the brink of war with the Allies. If Mussolini stated his
grievances, the United States Ambassador in Rome might say that
President Roosevelt was prepared to report them to the Allied
Governments.

With the approval of the War Cabinet the Secretary of State replied
to the French Government on May 24 that we agreed with this
proposal, and thought that the President might say that—on condi-
tion that Italy did not enter the war against the Allies— we were
prepared to take ‘reasonable’ Italian claims into account at the end
of the war, and would welcome Italian participation in the Peace
Conference on a status equal to that of the belligerents. Since this
offer would be more attractive if it were guaranteed by the United
States, we might suggest to the President that he should offer such
a guarantee and thus ensure that Italian claims would be dealt with
as part of the general settlement of Europe. At the request of the
French Government the terms of the proposed communication were
changed to an offer to consider the claims immediately. The French
thought it useless to suggest waiting until the end of the war; they
had also been told by Mr. Bullitt that the President had no con-
stitutional powers to offer a guarantee. We should therefore ask him
merely to record the undertaking of the Allies to put into operation
any agreement which might be reached. President Roosevelt accepted
the Allied proposal, and sent a message accordingly to Mussolini on
May 26. Meanwhile Lord Halifax had spoken in similar terms on
the previous day to Signor Bastianini, Italian Ambassador in London.!

During this latter conversation Signor Bastianini asked Lord
Halifax, without entering into detail, whether he could tell Mussolini
that we would be willing to consider, in addition to questions
involving Great Britain and Italy, ‘general questions involving other
countries.” Lord Halifax answered, also in general terms, that it was
difficult to ‘visualise such discussions while the war was being fought.’
Signor Bastianini said that, once a discussion had begun, the war
would be pointless, and that Mussolini wanted a lasting settlement

1 The Foreign Office had received a hint from a member of the Italian Embassy that
some private discussion of this kind might be of use.
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in Europe and not merely an armistice. Lord Halifax replied that
the British Government (and the French Government) would ‘never
be unwilling to consider any proposal made with authority that gave
promise of the establishment of a secure and peaceful Europe’. The
Ambassador then asked whether he could say to Mussolini that the
British Government ‘did not exclude the possibility of some discussion
of the wider problems of Europe in the event of the opportunity
arising.” Lord Halifax said that he could certainly speak in this way,
since the ‘secure peace in Europe’ which we—and Mussolini—wanted
could come ‘only by the finding, through frank discussion, of solutions
generally acceptable, and by the joint determination of the Great
Powers to maintain them.’

M. Reynaud’s second objective in his visit to London went
beyond Lord Halifax’s guarded statement to Signor Bastianini.
M. Reynaud wanted not merely to keep Italy out of the war, but to
try to use Italian mediation to obtain acceptable terms from
Germany. The War Cabinet were bound to examine a proposal of
this kind from the French, and to consider, firstly, whether there was
any chance that Mussolini himself might be alarmed at the prospect
of the domination of Europe by Hitler, and willing to try to persuade
Hitler to offer acceptable terms and, secondly, whether on this
hypothesis, and in view of the military situation, it might be desirable
to settle on these terms.

After reaching London, M. Reynaud first saw the Prime Minister.
He made it clear that the French Cabinet accepted General
Weygand’s view that French resistance could not last much longer.
He mentioned the possibility of an approach to Italy, and hinted
that, although he would not sign peace terms imposed upon France,
he might be forced to resign or feel that he ought to resign. The
Prime Minister answered that we did not intend to surrender, and
that, if we and the French could hold out for another three months,
the position would be very different. The Prime Minister reported
the conversation to the War Cabinet in the afternoon of May 26.
The War Cabinet discussed shortly whether we should make an
approach to Italy. Lord Halifax thought that Mussolini might not
want to see Hitler dominating Europe, and that he might wish to
try to persuade Hitler to take a more reasonable attitude. The Prime
Minister doubted whether anything could come of an approach, but
said that the War Cabinet would have to consider the proposal.

Lord Halifax then saw M. Reynaud, and wrote down his (M.
Reynaud’s) proposal for an offer to Mussolini on condition that he
would co-operate in obtaining a settlement of all European questions
safeguarding the independence and security of the Allies, and
sufficient as a basis of a just and durable peace. The Prime Minister,
Mr. Attlee, and Mr. Chamberlain joined later in the discussion.
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They did not commit themselves, but M. Reynaud had the im-
pression that they were unfavourable to the proposal. After M.
Reynaud had left an informal meeting of War Cabinet Ministers was
held. The Prime Minister’s view was that if France could not defend
herself, it would be better that she should get out of the war rather
than drag us into a settlement which involved intolerable conditions.
We should take care not to be forced into a weak position in which
we invited Mussolini to go to Hitler and ask him to ‘treat us nicely.’
Hitler would certainly not offer terms which we could accept; for
example, we should not be allowed to complete our rearmament.
Lord Halifax agreed with the Prime Minister’s argument, but thought
that it might be worth while to find out how Mussolini regarded the
position in terms of the balance of power.

The Prime Minister considered that anyhow we should not come
to a decision until we knew how much of our army we were able to
bring home from France. The Ministers finally agreed that Lord
Halifax should circulate his draft of M. Reynaud’s proposal, and an
account of his conversation with Signor Bastianini for consideration
by the War Cabinet on May 27. Mr. Churchill therefore telegraphed
to M. Reynaud that he could not send him an answer before May 27.

On the morning of May 27—the first day of the Dunkirk evacua-
tion—M. Reynaud sent a message to Lord Halifax through M. Corbin
that he regarded it as a matter of great urgency that we should give
what he called ‘geographical precision’ to the terms of our approach
to Mussolini. Lord Halifax told M. Corbin that we should certainly be
opposed to this suggestion; the difference between a general approach
and the approach now proposed by M. Reynaud could not possibly
turn the scale as far as Mussolini was concerned, while an offer not
of general discussion but of definite concessions might have a lowering
effect on Allied morale.

The War Cabinet met in the afternoon of May 27. The Prime
Minister repeated his views on the futility of an approach which
Mussolini would regard with contempt and which would ruin the
integrity of our fighting position in Europe. Even if we mentioned
no details, everyone would know what we had in mind. In any case
Hitler was most unlikely to offer the kind of terms which we could
consider. Our best help to M. Reynaud was to let him feel that, what-
ever happened to France, we were going to fight to the end. The
War Cabinet again supported the Prime Minister’s firm attitude.
They considered, however, that although the proposed approach to
Mussolini would secure no useful purpose, we should avoid—from
the point of viéw of our relations with the French—a direct refusal.
We had a good argument for delay since President Roosevelt had
approached Mussolini and a simultaneous approach by Great Britain
and France would only confuse the issue and create an impression of
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weakness. On the late evening of May 27 Sir R. Campbell was
instructed to give an answer on these lines to M. Reynaud, and to
say that we did not preclude further consideration of the matter
when we knew the result of Mr. Roosevelt’s action. During the night
of May 27-8 Lord Lothian reported that Mussolini’s answer to
President Roosevelt was ‘entirely negative’. Sir A. Cadogan’s robust
comment on this telegram was ‘of course Mussolini is not going to,
and, in fact, dare not make any separate agreement with the Allies,
even if he wanted to. He is simply wondering how much of the
general ‘“share-out” he will be allowed by his “Ally”’ to take, and
whether he will ultimately get more, or less, by spilling Italian blood
for it. We can’t tell which way he will jump, but I hope we shan’t
delude ourselves into thinking that we shall do ourselves any good
by making any more “offers” or “approaches”.” On the evening of
May 28 Sir P. Loraine reported that (with Lord Halifax’s approval)
he had asked Ciano whether there was any answer to the suggestion
made by Lord Halifax to the Italian Ambassador on May 25. Ciano
said that the subject fell under the general ban placed by Mussolini
on any discussions with the Allies.

The French Government, however, persisted in their proposal to
make an offer to Italy. The War Cabinet therefore discussed the
matter once again on May 28. The discussion differed little from
that of the two previous days. The general view, as before, was that
an approach to Mussolini was most unlikely to produce termswhich we
could accept. The War Cabinet thus continued to regard the French
proposal as most dangerous. We should find that the terms offered
to us were unacceptable; there would then be a risk that the very
fact of entering into discussions would have weakened Allied resolu-
tion to go on fighting. The War Cabinet agreed that we should tell
M. Reynaud that we thought it useless to approach Mussolini; at the
same time we should take care that our answer did not give the
French a pretext for ending the struggle at once.

A message explaining the view of the War Cabinet was therefore
sent by the Prime Minister to M. Reynaud—through Sir R. Campbell—
on the night of May 28-9.! During the afternoon of May 29 Sir R.
Campbell reported that he had discussed the Prime Minister’s
message briefly with M. Reynaud, and later with M. Daladier.
M. Reynaud inclined to the Prime Minister’s view, but admitted
that he was in a difficult position with his colleagues. Sir R. Campbell
had pointed out to M. Daladier the catastrophic effect of isolated
action by France. M. Daladier said that there could be no question
of such action. On May 30, however, he raised the matter again and,
in spite of Sir R. Campbell’s arguments, insisted on a direct appeal
to Mussolini. He persuaded his colleagues to make this approach.

! For the text of this message, see Churchill, II, 109-11.
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The answer was a refusal; Ciano, in giving this reply to the French
Ambassador in Rome, said that the Italian decision to enter the war
had been taken, and that only the date remained to be settled.

Meanwhile on May 28 M. Reynaud had proposed an appeal to
the United States. He realised that for the present the United States
could give no effective help,! but he had in mind the moral result of
a favourable answer. Sir R. Campbell suggested that M. Reynaud
should consult Mr. Bullitt, United States Ambassador in Paris.
M. Reynaud telephoned later that Mr. Bullitt approved of the plan.
The Foreign Office thought that the proposal was most inexpedient
and that it would give an impression of weakness or even of panic.
If we made a statement, we ought to follow a suggestion from Field-
Marshal Smuts that we should say only that we were continuing the
war in any circumstances.2 We wanted nothing for ourselves, but
were concerned only with the defence of liberty for the world against
Nazi domination. Would the United States help us or did they intend
to stand aside and do nothing?

On the night of May 28-9 the Secretary of State instructed Lord
Lothian that we were opposed to M. Reynaud’s plan, but that Field-
Marshal Smuts’ suggestion might help the President in accelerating
the evolution of opinion in the United States. The President himself,
however, must be the judge of the matter. Lord Lothian replied on
the evening of May 29. He was not in favour of an Allied appeal.
He also telephoned later in reply to a telegram from the Foreign
Office reporting a French suggestion that President Roosevelt should
be asked to send the United States fleet to the Mediterranean. Lord
Lothian said that the President had told him that the United States
fleet must stay in the Pacific until any threat to the British fleet
compelled a transfer of ships to the Atlantic. On the night of May 31—
June 1 Lord Lothian reported that the President had telegraphed to
Mr. Bullitt his strong disapproval of the French proposal for an
appeal, since it would be taken as an attempt to influence the policy
of the United States. M. Reynaud therefore dropped the plan for a
time.

The unexpected success in saving the personnel of the British expedi-
tionary force had far-reaching effects on British morale. Resistance
to a-German attempt at invasion, which seemed likely, was not a

1 M. Léger told Mr. Bullitt on May 18 that M. Reynaud was considering a personal

appeal to President Roosevelt to obtain a declaration of war from Congress. Mr. Bullitt
said that Congress would certainly not agree to a declaration of war.

? Field-Marshal Smuts made this suggestion on May 27 to the British High Commis-
sioner in South Africa.
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‘forlorn hope’. The British people now had an immediate objective
to work for in re-equipping the army which had come back from
France. Moreover there were elements of real victory in the actual
evacuation. This passage of so many thousands of men! across the
Channel shewed the significance of sea power, and the strength of
the Royal Air Force. The land forces were carrying out a retreat,
but the Air Force was attacking. The Germans were not masters of
the sea and air; unless they obtained this mastery, they could not
invade Great Britain.

These considerations had an opposite effect on the French. The
British were alone, but they had withdrawn behind the ‘moat
defensive’ of their house. The French were alone with the victorious
German forces already in occupation of a large part of France and
continuing their advance by tactics which the French army had been
unable to withstand. To the French there seemed to be no motive
left for resistance. French armies indeed had fought and won cam-
paigns against worse odds. They had done so under resolute leader-
ship which was now wanting.

The drift towards surrender was harder to resist because the
counsels of despair came from a quarter where they might have been
least expected. M. Reynaud had brought Marshal Pétain into his
Government and had given the highest military command to General
Weygand because he had thought—and, at first, rightly—that these
appointments would do much to restore confidence.? Unfortunately
these two soldiers took the lead in advocating political as well as
military surrender. General Weygand had proposed on May 25 an
immediate consultation with Great Britain on the question of con-
tinuing the war. Marshal Pétain had supported his argument, but M.
Reynaud had refused to accept their proposal. Four days later—after
the Belgian surrender—General Weygand returned to the question.
During the night of May 29-30 Sir R. Campbell telegraphed that
M. Reynaud had read to him a letter from General Weygand to the
effect that the time might come—with a complete break-through on
the Somme-Aisne-Maginot line—when, notwithstanding her will to
do so, France might find herself unable to continue effectively the
struggle to defend herself. M. Reynaud told Sir R. Campbell that, as
long as he were in control, and there were troops left to fight, France
would fight on. On May 31 the Prime Minister, Mr. Attlee, and
General Dill® went to Paris for a meeting of the Supreme War
Council. At the end of the meeting—which was called for military
discussions—the Prime Minister stated that we intended to go on with

1The total number of British and French troops evacuated in nine days was 338,;56,
of whom nearly 200,000 were British.

? General Weygand himself had described the shock which followed the break-through
at Sedan as reminiscent of the grande peur of 1789.

3 General Dill succeeded General Ironside as C.I.G.S. on May 27, 1940.
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the war, if necessary, from the New World. He also spoke of the im-
portance of a close contact between Great Britain and France. Mr.
Attlee supported the Prime Minister’s statement and M. Reynaud
said that, if one country ‘went under’, the other must continue the
struggle.

Four days later, in a despatch on the political situation, Sir R.
Campbell thought that the French Government had given up the
original idea of a move to Touraine if they had to leave Paris, and
that they would go to Bordeaux. They would probably carry out this
plan, but the next stage was uncertain. MM. Reynaud and Mandel
maintained that France would never make terms, even if the Govern-
had to move to North Africa. M. Reynaud tended to qualify this
statement by adding ‘so long as I am in control.” Sir R. Campbell
feared that the forces inside and outside the Government favourable
to a composition with Germany might become too strong; he
regarded Laval and Flandin as the most dangerous figures. An
offer of a separate peace to France might soon be made. A refusal
would be less certain at Bordeaux, with the Government in confusion,
and the Germans sweeping across France to the Atlantic coast. The
chances of a move of the Government to North Africa or elsewhere
were not high, especially if the Germans offered lenient terms.

On June 5 Sir R. Campbell again wrote that he had not much
faith in the ability of the French to hold the Germans. He thought
London a more suitable place than North Africa for the French
Government; an offer to receive the Government there might be the
determining factor in a decision against a separate peace. Later in
the evening of June 5, Sir R. Campbell telegraphed that Marshal
Pétain, after having heard that we could not meet the insistent French
demand for twenty more fighter squadrons, had told M. Reynaud
that there was ‘nothing left but to make peace. If you do not want
to do it, you can hand over to me.’

Once again, therefore, this demand that the British Government
should use the whole of their fighter resources in the battle in France
became of the highest political as well as military importance. Sir
R. Campbell and General Spears! did their utmost to convince
M. Reynaud of the impossible position in which they were putting
the British Government. When he told Sir R. Campbell of Marshal

Pétain’s demand, M. Reynaud asked whether the British Govern-
ment fully realised how serious the position was. Sir R. Campbell
said that they were aware of the facts, and were giving as much help
as possible, but if they denuded the British Isles of the whole of their
air defences on the eve of an invasion, they would incur an ‘un-
forgivable responsibility’. Nevertheless in the afternoon of June 7

Major-General E. L. Spears had been sent by the Prime Minister to Paris in the last
week of May as his personal representative.
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M. Corbin made a personal appeal to Lord Halifax. He repeated
his view that there was a lack of co-ordination on the Allied side in
the whole conduct of the battle. The German method was to attack
one enemy at a time; therefore we ought to find where the greatest
risks lay and to concentrate our efforts in order to prepare for them.
M. Corbin thought that our hesitation was due to fear of air raids.
Lord Halifax answered that there was no question of any fear of air
raids. The point was that if Germany were able to destroy our air-
craft factories, the situation would be desperate for France as well as
for Great Britain.

The British Government had in fact increased their air assistance—
in spite of heavy losses—to the utmost limit short of the twenty-five
fighter squadrons which were the bare minimum essential to the
defence of the British Isles, but they were only too right in thinking
that air support could not save the French armies. The last phase of
the German attack had opened on June 5 and early on June g Rouen
had fallen. On this day the enemy also reached Vernon on the
Seine and Compiégne at the junction of the Oise and the Aisne.
Mussolini now decided that he could safely implement his decision
to enter the war, and indeed, that, if he waited any longer,
the Germans might not think it necessary to reward him for his
belligerency and might even—in their own German interests—protect
the French against Italian rapacity. On June g Ciano told Sir P.
Loraine that the Italian entry into the war would not take place on
June 4, but that it was imminent.! On June 7 Ciano said that the
change might come in the following week. He asked how Great
Britain could continue the war. Sir P. Loraine said that he would
put the question differently. We ‘had not got the habit of being
beaten in war; we had no intention of surrendering, and, if we did
not surrender, the war continued ipso _facto.”

Eleven days after the Italian entry into the war the Foreign Office
sent a circular telegram to all British Missions calling attention to an
answer to a parliamentary question on June 19. The answer was to
the effect that, in view of the unprovoked entry of Italy into the war
against us, we held ourselves entitled to reserve full liberty of action
in respect of any undertakings given by us in the past to the Italian
Government concerning the Mediterranean, North or East African
and Middle Eastern areas.

1 Sir P. Loraine had earlier telegraphed that on May 16 Mussolini had displayed to
Italian party leaders in the Trentino a map shewing Italian claims. These claims included
Nice, Savoy, Corsica, Tunis, Malta, Cyprus, a protectorate over Egypt, Syria, and Iraq,
and a joint Italo-Egyptian protectorate over the Sudan. Gibraltar was to be inter-
nationalised.

2 Sir P. Loraine explained why we should be able to continue the war. Ciano was silent
for a few moments. He then asked, ‘Is that what you really think?’ Sir P. Loraine noted
that the idea of a long war made Ciano ‘very thoughtful, and rather glum.” On receiving
the final declaration of war from Ciano on June 10 Sir P. Loraine made no comment.

H
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(i)
The French Government in Touraine and at Bordeaux : Mr. Churchill’s visits
to France on June 11—12 and June 13: M. Reynaud’s appeals to President
Roosevelt: French request for British acquiescence in an enquiry about the
conditions of a Franco-German armistice: first British reply of June 16 to the

French request: British offer of an Anglo-French union: resignation of
M. Reynaud : formation of a government by Marshal Pétain.

The French Government moved to Touraine on June 10. Sir R.
Campbell travelled by road during the night of June 10-11 to a
chateau at Cléré which had been allotted by the French authorities
to the British Embassy. The French plan of evacuation to Touraine
had been based on the assumption that heavy air attacks might
compel the removal of administrative departments from Paris. As a
protection against similar attacks in Touraine the departments were
scattered over a wide area; the Ministry of Foreign Affairs was at
Langeais, and the Ministry of Finance at Chinon; M. Reynaud
established himself at a chateau between Tours and Amboise, but
nothing had been done to provide special telephone arrange-
ments. On the morning of June 11 Sir R. Campbell reported that
he had seen M. Baudouin, Under-Secretary for Foreign Affairs,
and M. Charles-Roux.! Neither had heard any news since leaving
Paris. About 300 telegrams had reached the Post Office at Tours;
the cyphering clerks, after an all-night journey, were too tired to
deal with them. Sir R. Campbell came to the conclusion that the
‘wiser heads’ regarded the move to Touraine merely as a stage on
the road, and that the only question was whether the next move
would be to Bordeaux or to Brittany.

In the afternoon of June 11 Mr. Churchill, Mr. Eden—at this time
Secretary of State for War—and General Dill flew to General
Weygand’s headquarters and stayed there until June 12.2 The pur-
pose of the meeting was to discuss the military situation. In his
account of the meeting to the War Cabinet in the afternoon of
June 12 the Prime Minister said that M. Reynaud had told him that
Marshal Pétain had made up his mind that France would have to
ask for peace. The Prime Minister thought that M. Reynaud was
determined to fight on; Admiral Darlan had declared that he would
never surrender the French fleet to the enemy. In the last resort he
would order it to Canada. There was, however, a danger that
Admiral Darlan might be overruled by the politicians. The Prime

1 M. Charles-Roux, formerly French Ambassador at the Vatican, had succeeded
M. Léger as Secretary-General of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs when M. Reynaud
reorganised his Government on May 18.

2 For the Prime Minister’s account of this meeting, see Churchill II, 136-142.
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Minister had insisted that the French Government must consult us
before coming to any final decisions. M. Reynaud had agreed that
such consultation must take place, but the War Cabinet decided to
reinforce, through Sir R. Campbell, this all-important request. The
Foreign Office indeed was already much concerned over the question
of the French fleet. They thought that the Germans would ask for
the fleet and mercantile marine, and that it was doubtful whether the
French ‘would hand them over to us since to do so would be to
increase the severity of any armistice or peace terms. The French
would not consider the long-range view that in strengthening Great
Britain they would be increasing the chances of a British victory and
of their own restoration. They would not ask for an armistice until
they had lost all hope of ultimate victory. Sir R. Campbell, in answer
to a question on June 3 from the Foreign Office, also thought that
the Germans would demand the surrender of the fleet, and that the
French Government might give it up.

The Foreign Office suggested that Admiral Sir D. Pound, First
Sea Lord, Lord Hankey, and Sir A. Cadogan should meet to con-
sider the question. They met on June 7, and agreed that the Germans
were likely to ask for the fleet, and would continue to ‘batter’ the
French until they handed it over. It was most improbable that Admiral
Darlan, or any one else, would order the fleet to Great Britain or the
United States. Even ifthe fleet sailed to British waters, we should be in
theintolerable position of watching the continued devastation of French
towns from the air for which we should be regarded as responsible as
long as we held the fleet. On the other hand the humiliation of handing
over a fleet was so great that anaval commander would do his utmostto
avoid it. We should aim, therefore, at getting the fleet scuttled.!

On the morning of June 13 Sir R. Campbell called on M. Reynaud.
M. Reynaud—who had sent an appeal to President Roosevelt on
June 10 for an American promise of all assistance short of an expedi-
tionary force—now told Sir R. Campbell that he had decided to send
another message making it clear that the salvation of France, as he
described it, depended upon a declaration of war in the immediate
future by the United States. M. Reynaud had also telephoned to the
Prime Minister asking him to come to a meeting of the Supreme War
Council at Tours.

The Prime Minister had sent a personal message to Mr. Roosevelt

! In a memorandum—for which the Prime Minister asked on June 1 1—setting out the
‘considerations which arise and the demands we should make’ in the event of a French
collapse, the Foreign Office considered that, if the French Government took refuge out-
side France, there would be no difficulty about securing the transfer of the fleet to British
or French colonial ports. If, however, the French asked for an armistice, the Germans
would almost certainly demand the surrender of the fleet. The best course, therefore would
be for the fleet to be scuttled before a request was made for an armistice.
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after his return to London on June 12.1 He told the President of the
situation and asked him to do all he could to strengthen M.Reynaud.
He had said to the French that, whatever happened, we should go
on fighting: we thought that ‘Hitler could not win the war or the
mastery of the world until he had disposed of us, which has not been
found easy in the past, and which perhaps will not be found easy now.’
Before he left for Tours Mr. Churchill telegraphed to the President
that the French had again asked for a meeting and that this summons
meant that a crisis had arrived. Anything which Mr. Roosevelt could
say or do to help the French might ‘make the difference.” The Prime
Minister took with him to Tours Lord Halifax, Lord Beaverbrook
(Minister of Aircraft Production) and Sir A. Cadogan.2 As Mr.
Churchill had expected, the crisis had come. M. Reynaud sum-
marised to the British Ministers his message of June 10 to President
Roosevelt, and said that he proposed to send a further message ex-
plaining that ‘the last hour had come’, and that the fate of the Allied
cause lay in the hands of America. He would be unable to persuade
the French Government to carry on unless Mr. Roosevelt’s reply
contained a firm assurance of immediate aid. The French Govern-
ment could retreat elsewhere, but, if Hitler occupied the whole of
France, the population would besystematically corrupted,and ‘France
would cease to exist.” Hence the Council of Ministers had asked M.
Reynaud on June 12 to enquire what would be the attitude of Great
Britain if France had to apply for an armistice. He was aware of the
Anglo-French agreementnottomakeaseparate peace,?but France had
already sacrificed everything, and it would be a shock to French opin-
ion if Great Britain failed toconcede that France was physically unable
to carry on.

1 For the text of the main part of this message, see Churchill, IT, 158.
2 For a full account of this meeting, see Churchill, II, 158-62.

3 The British Government had been favourable to an Anglo-French declaration not to
conclude a separate armistice or peace treaty because they regarded such a declaration
as a means of countering German propagandist attempts to spread in France distrust
of British motives. A declaration of this kind, however, implied a previous agreement on
war aims. The French Government regarded an agreement on war aims as desirable
since they were afraid that opinion in Great Britain might not allow the British Govern-
ment to satisfy French demands for material guarantees against further German aggression.
On October 23, 1939, the French Government had suggested a study of the necessary
guarantees. The British Government, after consulting the Dominions, replied on
December 22 that they regarded any discussion of a territorial settlement as premature,
though they suggested that it would be desirable to encourage some form of closer co-
operation between the States of south-east and central Europe. Meanwhile Mr.
Chamberlain had raised the question of a declaration at the meeting of the Supreme War
Council pn December 19. After this meeting the Foreign Office prepared a draft text
binding the two Governments (i) not to conclude a separate peace, and (ii) to continue
the closest co-operation after the war. The text was approved at the meeting of the
Supreme War Council on March 28, and published at once. The relevant clauses ran:
[The British and French Governments] ‘mutually undertake that during the present war
they will neither negotiate nor conclude an armistice or treaty of peace except by mutual
agreement. They undertake not to discuss peace terms before reaching complete agree-
ment on the conditions necessary to ensure to each of them an effective and lasting
guarantee of their security.’
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The Prime Minister pointed out that the destruction which M.
Reynaud feared would come just as certainly if France were to
surrender since Hitler could not be trusted to keep any pledges. If
France stayed in the war, and if Germany failed to destroy England,
‘the whole hateful edifice of Nazidom would topple over. Given
immediate help from America, perhaps even a declaration of war,
victory was not so far off.” Mr. Churchill said that in no case would
Great Britain waste time in reproaches and recriminations but that
‘did not mean that we would consent to action contrary to’ the recent
Anglo-French agreement. The Prime Minister suggested that M.
Reynaud should send his message to President Roosevelt and that
they should await the answer. The Prime Minister would himself
support M. Reynaud’s message. M. Reynaud agreed with this course.
Mr. Churchill then referred to other factors in the situation. He said
that the war would continue, whatever the decision of the French,
and that the blockade would become increasingly effective. France,
under German occupation, could not hope to be spared ; there might
thus arise bitter antagonism between the French and English peoples.
M. Reynaud said that he viewed with horror the prospect that Great
Britain might inflict the immense suffering of an effective blockade
upon the French people. Even if the worst came, he hoped that Great
Britain would make some gesture which would obviate the risk of
antagonism between the two peoples.

After their return to London,! the British Ministers were given by
Mr. Kennedy the text of the President’s reply to M. Reynaud’s
message of June r1o. The President said that he was particularly
impressed by the French determination to continue to fight, and that
the United States Government was doing everything possible to make
available to the Allies the material so urgently required. The War
Cabinet, which met at ro.1r5 p.m., agreed that, although the
President had not said that the United States would declare
war, no Head of a State would be likely to send such a message
urging the French to prolong their sufferings unless he was certain
that his country was coming to their aid. On the other hand the
message might appear in a different light to the French who were
looking for something more definite. The War Cabinet therefore
thought that the Prime Minister should tell M. Reynaud of our
interpretation of the message, and that the British Government should
also send a message to the French Government emphasising the
solidarity and indissoluble union of ‘our two peoples and Empires.’2

1 Among the allegations made by the Government of Marshal Pétain in a statement
to the United States Government (see below, p. 77) was an assertion that the British
Ministers had refused an invitation to attend a French Council of Ministers. No such
invitation, in fact, had been given to them.

2 For the text of the Prime Minister’s message to M. Reynaud and of the declaration
(which was sent to M. Reynaud and also published in the press on June 14) see Churchill,
11, 164-5.
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The Prime Minister asked Mr. Kennedy whether the President
would allow the publication of his message. Mr. Kennedy, after
telephoning to the President, said that he (the President) was willing
to allow publication, but that Mr. Hull disagreed. It appeared also
that the President had heard that the meeting at Tours had been
very successful, and that he did not realise how critical the situation
was. The Prime Minister gave Mr. Kennedy a full account of the
meeting for communication to the President. Mr. Churchill also sent
a personal message to the President during the night of June 13-14
in which he told him that he could not exaggerate the critical
character of the Tours meeting.! Mr. Churchill urged the President
very strongly to allow the publication of his reply to M. Reynaud’s
message of June 1o0.

At 12.30 a.m. on June 14 Sir R. Campbell telegraphed that
German columns which had broken through at Evreux were moving
southwards and might reach Tours during the day. At 5.15 a.m. he
reported that the French Government were about to leave for
Bordeaux, and did not expect to stay there for more than a short
time. Sir R. Campbell thought that the political situation had become
worse during June 13, and that, after the British Ministers had left
Tours, rumours had begun to spread that Great Britain would
liberate France from her engagements. M. Mandel had advised Sir
R. Campbell and General Spears that the British Government should
make clear, in documents which would have to be placed before the
French Cabinet, that they did not intend to release the French
Government from their engagements. M. Mandel said that the
French Cabinet had spent half an hour in discussing the fate of the
French navy in the event of an armistice. The discussion had been
inconclusive, but the general opinion had been in favour of scuttling
the fleet if Mr. Roosevelt rejected M. Reynaud’s appeal. If a vote
had been taken, a majority would have favoured an armistice. At
4.22 p.m. on June 14 Sir R. Campbell was instructed to ask M.
Reynaud to help in denying the rumours that we had released the
French Government from their engagements to us.

The Prime Minister heard from Mr. Kennedy on June 14 that he
(Mr. Kennedy) had been told that President Roosevelt would not
allow the publication of his message to M. Reynaud. Mr. Kennedy
asked whether the Prime Minister would explain the position to
M. Reynaud. The Prime Minister refused, and spoke strongly of the
disastrous effect on French resistance of any sign that the President
was now holding back. On June 15 the Prime Minister told the War
Cabinet that Mr. Roosevelt had sent a personal telegram to him to
the effect that his message had not been intended to commit the
United States to military participation in the war. This could be

1 For the text of this message, see Churchill, II, 163—4.
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done only by Congress. Hence the President could not agree to the
publication of the message. With the approval of the War Cabinet
the Prime Minister replied on June 15 that M. Reynaud would be
disappointed at the decision. A declaration that, if necessary, the
United Stateswould enter the warmightsave France. Otherwise French
resistance mightcrumple withinafew days, and we should beleftalone.1

Sir R. Campbell reached Bordeaux at 7 p.m. on June 14. He found
that the accommodation provided for him was 50 km. from the city.
He therefore appealed to M. Mandel, who was able to secure him
some rooms in a hotel in Bordeaux. After dinner he went with
General Spears to see M. Reynaud in order to give him the full text
of the Prime Minister’s message.2 M. Reynaud had received only a
fragmentary version of Mr. Roosevelt’s answer to his appeal of
June 10, but was disappointed that it contained no promise of a
declaration of war. M. Reynaud seemed worn out. He said that he
was faced with the possibility that Marshal Pétain would resign. He
explained that when he had asked at Tours what would be the
attitude of the British Government on the event of a French surrender
he was speaking on behalf of the French Cabinet, and that his words
did not necessarily represent his own views. Sir R. Campbell was
afraid that most of M. Reynaud’s colleagues were working on him
in a defeatist sense, and that he was swaying ‘backwards and for-
wards.” Sir R. Campbell proposed to try once more on June 15 to
make it plain to the French Ministers—and especially to M. Baudouin
—that we would be unable to condone a breach of the agreement not
to conclude a separate peace.

The Foreign Office had answered at 2.45 p.m. on June 15 Sir R.
Campbell’s telegram asking for a clear statement, but the answer did
not reach him in time for use on this day.? Sir R. Campbell was
instructed that, whatever the military situation might be,* the British

1 For the text of this message, see Churchill, IT, pp. 166-7. See also below, p. 8o.

* He had telephoned the substance of the message before leaving Cléré. At the time of
his interview with M. Reynaud Sir R. Campbell had not received the telegram of 4.22 p.m.
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